Concordia University St. Paul DigitalCommons@CSP

CUP Ed.D. Dissertations

Concordia University Portland Graduate Research

3-1-2020

Exploring Teachers' Perspectives of the PBIS Program in Fourth and Fifth Grade Classrooms

Norma Ferguson Concordia University - Portland, sweetestsongbird@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.csp.edu/cup_commons_grad_edd

Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Ferguson, N. (2020). *Exploring Teachers' Perspectives of the PBIS Program in Fourth and Fifth Grade Classrooms* (Thesis, Concordia University, St. Paul). Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.csp.edu/cup_commons_grad_edd/450

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Concordia University Portland Graduate Research at DigitalCommons@CSP. It has been accepted for inclusion in CUP Ed.D. Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@CSP. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@csp.edu.

Concordia University - Portland

CU Commons

Ed.D. Dissertations

Graduate Theses & Dissertations

3-2020

Exploring Teachers' Perspectives of the PBIS Program in Fourth and Fifth Grade Classrooms

Norma Ferguson Concordia University - Portland

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.cu-portland.edu/edudissertations

Part of the Education Commons

CU Commons Citation

Ferguson, Norma, "Exploring Teachers' Perspectives of the PBIS Program in Fourth and Fifth Grade Classrooms" (2020). *Ed.D. Dissertations*. 441. https://commons.cu-portland.edu/edudissertations/441

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Theses & Dissertations at CU Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Ed.D. Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CU Commons. For more information, please contact libraryadmin@cu-portland.edu.

Concordia University-Portland

College of Education

Doctorate of Education Program

WE, THE UNDERSIGNED MEMBERS OF THE DISSERTATION COMMITTEE CERTIFY THAT WE HAVE READ AND APPROVE THE DISSERTATION OF

Norma Elaine Ferguson

CANDIDATE FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

Edward Kim, Ph.D., Faculty Chair Dissertation Committee Aaron Deris, Ph.D., Content Specialist John D'Aguanno, Ed.D., Content Reader Exploring Teachers' Perspectives of the PBIS Program in Fourth and Fifth Grade Classrooms

Norma Elaine Ferguson Concordia University–Portland College of Education

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the College of Education

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in

Transformational Leadership

Edward Kim, Ph.D., Faculty Chair Dissertation Committee

Aaron Deris, Ph.D., Content Specialist

John D'Aguanno, Ed.D., Content Reader

Concordia University–Portland

Abstract

The Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) program is an evidenced-based framework with over 20 years of research and 25 years in addressing student misbehavior in U.S. public schools. The program utilizes a systems-based approach where schools can proactively document data in helping to make decisions toward promoting positive student behavior. As the need for effective resources for classroom behavioral management increases, teachers need support to ensure there is an alternative recourse that can be employed to assist with managing student behavior. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. The primary research question that guided this study was: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms? The data collection instruments from 10 teacher participants were initial semistructured interviews, secondary semistructured interviews, and documents (artifacts). The inductive analysis model was used to analyze the collected data from the initial and secondary semistructured interviews. Typological analysis was used to analyze the documents collected in the study. The key findings revealed that teacher participants experienced limited, inconsistent, or no teacher training in the PBIS approach. The teacher participants understood the importance of using the PBIS approach or other educational resources to teach positive student behavior and to assist them in learning pedagogical approaches in behavior management.

Keywords: teachers' perspectives, social interactions, positive behavioral interactions, classroom environment, behavioral classroom management, teacher efficacy

ii

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to all educators who believe that it is important to have a well-structured behavioral classroom environment in order for students to receive new learning. Behavioral classroom management is more than a skill. It is an art form that only a few master.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family and friends who supported me during this educational process. My husband and pastor, Dr. Maxwell Ferguson, encouraged and prayed along with me for the success of this great accomplishment. Thank you for your untiring support and sacrifices made in order for me to see the fruition of this completed dissertation. It is your genuine love and support that helped to carry me through. I sincerely thank my three children, Norell, Nicholas, and Nelson who stood by their mother during the times when things needed to be done in the home. Thank you for working together as a family.

I would also like to acknowledge my faculty chair advisor, Dr. Edward Kim, and the committee members, Dr. Arran Deris, Dr. John D'Aguanno, and Dr. Tom Cavenaugh who provided feedback as well as guidance towards field work and throughout the latter part of the dissertation process. In addition, I would like to thank Alexandra Salas and especially Maureen Morasch, my writing editors and emotional supporters, for helping me to present well-written work.

Finally, I acknowledge and thank all the educational leaders who supported me through the dissertation process: Dr. Jacques Alexandre, Dr. Paul Brantley, Dr. Pamela Aerni, Dr. Laurie Midgette, and Dr. Sarah Brubaker. Many blessings to all of you for your support in this endeavor.

iv

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
List of Tables	xii
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Background, Context, History, and Conceptual Framework of the Problem	
Background, Context, and History	
Conceptual Framework: Constructivism	
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	
Research Question	
Rationale, Relevance, and Significance of the Study	
Rationale	
Relevance	
Significance	
Definition of Terms	
Assumptions, Delimitations, and Limitations	
Assumptions	
Delimitations	
Limitations	
Summary	
Chapter 2: Literature Review	

Table of Contents

Conceptual Framework: Constructivism	32
Constructivism in This Study	34
Review of Research Literature and Methodological Literature	36
Constructivist and Classroom Management Theorists on Human Behavior	36
Constructivism: Disposition of Student Learning in the Classroom	39
Positive Behavior: An Intervention Strategy (1960 to 1990) 4	1
PBIS Research in the Classroom Environment4	16
PBIS Professional Development and Training5	55
Review of Methodological Issues	50
Synthesis of Research Findings6	52
Critique of Previous Research	55
Summary6	59
Chapter 3: Methodology	71
Research Question	2
Purpose and Design of the Study7	13
Purpose7	13
Design7	'4
Research Population and Sampling Method7	15
Site and Population7	'5
Sampling Method and Size7	<i>'</i> 6
Sampling Process	6'
Instrumentation	7
First Semistructured Interviews7	7

	Follow-up Semistructured Interviews	77
	Documents (Artifacts)	78
	Data Collection	79
	First Semistructured Interviews	80
	Follow-Up Semistructured Interviews	81
	Documents (Artifacts)	81
	Identification of Attributes	82
	Data Analysis Procedures	83
	First Semistructured Interviews	85
	Follow-Up Semistructured Interviews	86
	Analysis of Documents (Artifacts)	86
	Limitations and Delimitations of the Research Design	87
	Limitations	87
	Delimitations	88
	Validation	89
	Expected Findings	90
	Ethical Issues	91
	Conflict of Interest	91
	Researcher's Position	92
	Ethical Issues in the Study	93
	Deductive Disclosure Risk	93
	Summary	94
Ch	apter 4: Data Analysis and Results	96

Description of the Sample	
Description of Participants	
Rose	
Sarah	
Andrea	
Kimberly	
Janet	
Brenda	
Phillip	100
Mary	100
Ivette	100
Millie	101
Research Methodology and Analysis	101
Data Collection	102
Initial Semistructured Interviews	102
Documents	104
Secondary Semistructured Interviews	105
Data Analysis	106
Initial Semistructured Interviews	106
Documents	108
Secondary Semistructured Interviews	108
Documents	110
Summary of Findings	111

Presentation of the Data and Results	113
Semistructured Interviews	
Documents	137
Summary	141
Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion	
Summary of the Results	
Discussion of the Results	
Discussion of the Results in Relation to the Literature	
Limitations	150
Implications of the Results for Practice, Policy, and Theory	
Practice	
Policy	
Constructivist Theory	
Recommendations for Further Research	158
Participants	
Observations	159
Videos	
Additional Recommendations	
Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A: Consent Form	
Appendix B: Consent Form Letter	
Appendix C: Interview Procedures	

Appendix D: Interview Protocol/Guide	186
Appendix E: Initial Semistructured Interview Questions	187
Appendix F: Secondary Semistructured Interview Questions	191
Appendix G: Document Request	193
Appendix H: Criteria for Selecting Teacher Participants	194
Appendix I: Recruitment Flyer	195
Appendix J: Inductive Analysis Steps	196
Appendix K: Interpretive Analysis Steps	197
Appendix L: Statement of Original Work	198

List of Tables

Table 1. Overview of Teacher Participants	
Table 2. Overview of Themes and Codes	
Table 3. Overview of Themes and Corresponding Documents	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Scholarly research on behavioral classroom management has been conducted since the 1960s and 1970s. Positive and negative strategies are used to establish a comfortable workspace for teachers in the classroom for productive ongoing student learning (Egeberg, McConney, & Price, 2016; PBIS, 2017; Rusk, 2016). Researchers and educators believe that classrooms should provide a welcoming environment where student learning is an engaging and ongoing process in a social and academic environment (Collins & Ryan, 2016; PBIS, 2017). The Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports ([PBIS], PBIS, 2017) approach originated in the U.S. school system during the 1990s to help address behavioral classroom concerns. The PBIS approach has experienced phenomenal growth over a span of 25 years in addressing student behavior in U.S. public schools (PBIS, 2017). The program has helped to improve school-wide behavioral issues at the K–12 grade levels and has been effective in accomplishing academic and social goals (Lane, Carter, Jenkins, Dwiggins, & Germer, 2015; PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002).

The PBIS program is now an integral component of public education and applied in many state schools (Noltemeyer, Petrasek, Stine, Palmer, Meehan, & Jordan, 2018). States have recognized many exemplar schools that have implemented PBIS with fidelity and have been successful (Noltemeyer et al., 2018). This study explores teachers' perspectives regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms.

Research on behavioral classroom management has been conducted to help teachers establish and maintain a positive environment for effective student learning (Collins & Ryan, 2016; PBIS, 2017; Rusk, 2016). A positive classroom environment is the goal many teachers strive to accomplish daily in their classrooms. However, this goal is not achieved in many classrooms. Unfortunately, there are times when student behavioral issues tend to arise in the classroom creating teacher concerns (Baker, Gentry, & Larmer, 2016; McDaniel, Kim, & Guyotte, 2017).

Some discomforts may be overcrowded classrooms, student talk back, and/or student-student rivalry (Shin & Ryan, 2017; Tyler, Burris, & Coleman, 2018). However, there are teachers who have created a positive classroom environment (Davis, 2017). Research explains why some educators find managing student behavior challenging while others do not (Abenavoli, Harris, Katz, Jennings, & Greenberg, 2014; Bailey, 2011; Dwyer, 2013).

Before a positive classroom environment can be created, it is important for teachers to first reflect on who they are and the attitude they bring into the classroom climate (Fallon, O'Keeffe, Gage, & Sugai, 2015). The mitigating factor is that classroom management is an area requiring teachers to have the mindset of wanting to create a positive classroom climate. A teachers' attitude towards the students in the classroom can help to determine the type of classroom environment that will be laid out or created from the first day of school (Fallon et al., 2015; Yasar, 2019).

Classroom disruptions can pose a daunting task for teachers. Therefore, classroom disruptions must be minimized in order to establish and maximize learning and a positive climate. Each day teachers display effective classroom management skills through instructional teaching and learning in the classroom environment regardless of how challenging it can be. How management is structured in the classroom is therefore essential. According to McDaniel et al., (2017), it is often a challenge for teachers to engage students in learning because of how management is structured and executed in the classroom (McDaniel et al., 2017). When behavioral classroom management is structured and executed effectively, teachers can use proactive strategies to de-escalate negative classroom dynamics and restrict unwanted student misbehaviors such as student back-talk, bullying, or student-to-student arguments in order to build and sustain a positive classroom climate (Banks, 2014).

Access to support from school administration, especially for first year teachers, can significantly help teachers maintain a positive attitude toward classroom management impacting

student behavior (Baker et al., 2016; McDaniel et al., 2017). Unfortunately, receiving adequate inclass support such as paraprofessionals who can assist with student behavior, is often limited based on school funding (Opoczynski, 2016). In addition, administrators tend to assume or conclude that teachers are able to manage student behavior while implementing the curriculum. As a result, teachers fend for themselves in a stressful classroom environment hoping for the best as it relates to managing student misbehavior (Fallon et al., 2015; Friedman, 2006; Karaj & Rapti, 2013).

Finally, professional development (PD) or training on managing student behavior is paramount in any school-wide system. Once training has been given, follow-up sessions with teachers who attended the PD sessions are encouraged to manage student behavior in order to determine the effectiveness of the training and to ascertain if additional assistance in the classroom might be needed (Abenavoli et al., 2014; Baker et al., 2016; Dwyer, 2013). Information gathered from the teachers to determine their perspectives about the discipline strategies presented will help to determine if teachers benefitted from the PD sessions and whether further training is needed. This study gave teachers the opportunity to share their perspectives about the PBIS approach and its effectiveness or lack thereof. Although research-based intervention classroom management strategies are available, many public school teachers continue to struggle to keep a well-structured classroom environment for learning (McDaniel et al., 2017; PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002).

Background, Context, History, and Conceptual Framework of the Problem Background, Context, and History

Horner, Sugai, and Anderson (2010), PBIS (2017), and Sugai and Horner (2002) suggest that establishing a positive behavioral classroom environment for productive student learning has been researched. A positive classroom environment is defined as a healthy learning environment that is created by teachers in the classroom where students can communicate, learn, and achieve their academic goals (Patel, 2018). In this type of environment, the teacher's skills, personalities, and educational abilities can create a safe space where students are valued, high expectations are encouraged, student behavior is established, and there is a positive teacher-student relation (Banks, 2014; Davis, 2017; Freeman et al., 2016; Hansen, 2014; Houchens et al., 2017).

Dwyer (2013) concluded that classroom climate initiatives can relate to and influence student learning. However, according to Berg and Aber (2015), Social and Character Development (SACD) programs did not directly improve academic outcomes, but instead show that intervention efforts can boost student social engagement through strong school climate leadership. The understanding from the conclusion of their research study is that having a strategic organizational plan that is attentive to students' individual experiences can also have a positive impact in the classroom (Berg & Aber, 2015). Therefore, discovering teacher perspectives on how a positive classroom climate is established using the PBIS approach can help provide a better understanding about how student behavior is managed and redirected toward the benefit of students' success. According to Dwyer (2013), having a positive classroom environment is the goal of many educators. Many of them endeavor to create and sustain a healthy climate for the benefit of academic achievement (Dwyer, 2013).

PBIS is a research-based approach that has a preventative framework to assist in establishing a positive school-wide climate (Bradshaw, Pas, Debnam, & Lindstrom, 2015; Simonsen, & Myers, 2015). This approach has helped to improve school-wide behavioral issues and has been effective in accomplishing academic and social goals (Collins & Ryan, 2016; PBIS, 2017; Sailor & Dunlap, 2010). In the United States, the PBIS framework has been implemented in over 1,800 schools (Swain-Bradway, Swoszowski, Boden, & Sprague, 2013).

A significant strategy of the PBIS approach is prevention. The school-wide system for student success is divided into two systems—academic systems (proactive, individualizing, high efficacy, etc.) and behavioral systems (preventative, small group intervention, procedures (Swain-

Bradway et al., 2013). This framework has tiered levels (Tiers I, II, and III) to assist with student behavior on different levels of severity. The Tier III level focuses on the individual at risk students (Horner et al., 2010; PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002). The multi-tiered behavioral support system is for all students. Even though most students follow school-wide expectations, not all of them are recognized for following the rules and expectations of the school system (Horner et al., 2010; McIntosh & Turri, 2014). Schools that have adopted the PBIS approach reward all students for their efforts, and see unacceptable behavior as an opportunity for re-teaching concepts and explaining consequences (Flannery et al., 2014; PBIS, 2017).

Schools that have used the PBIS program with fidelity have established positive behavioral school-wide ecosystems using data from their schools' annual behavior referral reports to restructure student behavioral management when necessary (Flannery, Fenning, Kato, & McIntosh, 2014; McIntosh & Turri, 2014). Referral report forms are written by teachers and staff members to provide data on student behavior that are submitted to the principal or administrator for analysis and school documentation. Student referral reports written-up by staff about student misbehavior have decreased in the more than 13,000 schools in the U.S. that use the PBIS program with fidelity (Flannery et al., 2014; McIntosh & Turri, 2014).

This study focused on a school district currently using the PBIS program to assist with managing student behavior. The school district is located in Virginia and is identified as HES to protect participant privacy. Adults in the district are typically in their mid-30s. Most of the population speaks English. Less than 15% of the general education classroom teachers in the district are in their first or second year of teaching.

Conceptual Framework: Constructivism

The conceptual framework is an argument that reflects the researcher's views about why the topic of interest was studied. Ravitch and Riggin (2017) stated, "a conceptual framework is an

argument about why the topic one wishes to study matters, and why the means proposed to study it are appropriate and rigorous" (p. 4). Behavioral classroom management in U.S. elementary schools is a topic of interest due to the pressing concerns about student behavior in the classroom setting impacting teacher efficacy and the overall environment (Stanton-Chapman, Walker, Voorhees, & Snell, 2016).

Constructivism is the conceptual framework that was utilized for this study. The constructivist theory comes from the fields of sociology and education and it postulates that knowledge is constructed based on personal environmental experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018; Dev, 2016; Stake, 1995). The theory posits that learning is a contextualized process where learners can construct knowledge and build on an understanding of the world around them based on their own interactions and lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Furthermore, all learners have a learning style that best suits their ability to construct new knowledge. By the way of this theory, this contextualized process of learning is tantamount to teaching and learning behavioral classroom strategies. Teachers and students can incorporate rules and classroom expectations to create and maintain a positive classroom environment for learning.

Teachers can employ the constructivist theory by combining preexisting knowledge with new knowledge toward behavior management strategies to promote a structured environment for learning (Stake, 1995). The PBIS approach is a behavioral management resource that supports the improvement of academic and social outcomes for learners (Horner & Sugai, 2015). When PBIS is understood and applied effectively, learners can construct new knowledge from their interpretation and belief of what is expected in the classroom setting. This approach can provide opportunities for active teaching and learning based on new knowledge that is constructed by teachers to improve student behavior (Stake, 1995). According to Piaget (1952), learners combine sensory experiences with existing knowledge in order to construct new knowledge for learning.

Furthermore, Stake (1995) indicates that learners construct knowledge through sensory experiences from external stimuli which provides interpretation and understanding. PBIS has external and intrinsic motives that can be combined with sensory experiences to correct student misbehavior. Children and adults can construct meaning from their understanding of life experiences based on what they interpret and believe in their world. Therefore, new knowledge can be acquired by learners through the combination of factual information, acquired skills from life experiences, and active engagement in centered learning (Piaget, 1952).

Teachers' beliefs or stance about the PBIS approach may limit their ability to maximize the benefits of the program. Those who choose not to implement the program with fidelity may stymie positive student outcomes. Constructivist theory suggests that if teachers actively use their new knowledge about behavior management via PBIS to adjust the ways they manage their classroom, then significant behavioral intervention progress can take place.

The PBIS approach may also be used by teachers to construct new knowledge for controlling student misbehavior. When applying the PBIS behavioral principles, it is possible that some teachers may continue to have a daunting task working with students who have significant behavioral challenges. However, teacher self-evaluation is an important tool along with active learning to construct new knowledge from classroom experiences to address the aforementioned challenges. This new knowledge can be used to construct a positive behavior model that may encourage and facilitate positive student conduct.

Constructivism can allow teacher-participants to utilize their own knowledge and then share distinct experiences of the effectiveness the PBIS approach has on student conduct. Teachers work in social settings, and each classroom environment has its unique culture. This uniqueness is due to the unique classroom relations between teacher and student personalities as well as the school's culture. Constructivism will focus on the school environment where teachers receive

knowledge, interpret student behavior, and expand their learning. This study will explore elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences using the PBIS approach to teach positive student behavior in fourth and fifth grade classrooms in an urban school district.

Statement of the Problem

The problem at HES¹, specifically, was not knowing what new understanding of classroom management was adopted by the teachers based on preexisting knowledge, professional training, and classroom implementation regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. Currently, the PBIS approach has been implemented into the HES system to address the problem of student misbehavior, but there was limited knowledge about teachers' perspectives regarding its effectiveness in elementary classrooms. Student misbehavior is a concern that has impacted engaged learning in the classroom setting. When learning is impacted negatively, academic goals in the classroom can be challenging to reach. This research topic was selected because establishing a positive behavioral classroom environment for engaged learning is a task many teachers find challenging (Baker et al., 2016; Garrett, 2014; McDaniel et al., 2017; Simonsen & Myers, 2015). Although research-based intervention strategies are available for teachers to use in the classroom setting, it was not clear why HES teachers continue to face challenges with student behavior.

Researched-based intervention methods are available to assist with behavioral classroom management concerns, yet elementary teachers continue to experience challenges in creating a positive environment for learning in the classroom setting (Baker et al.,2016; PBIS, 2017). Such discomfort in the work environment brings about stress, teacher burnout, and lack of engaged learning (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). Teachers are expected to facilitate instruction in the classroom setting to accomplish engaged learning. However, there are times when engaged student learning does not take place because of how behavioral classroom management is structured (PBIS, 2017;

¹ Pseudonym of school district to protect confidentiality

Simonsen & Myers, 2015). The PBIS framework was developed to reduce or eliminate poor student behavior and create a positive school climate (Houchens et al., 2017; PBIS, 2017; Spencer, 2015; Sugai et al., 2012). Research on the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade elementary classrooms based on teachers' perspectives was explored.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was to explore HES elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences of the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. There was a desire to do research on the PBIS approach on behavior management to understand teachers' management style(s) toward student behavior. A qualitative instrumental case study design was used to gain insight into this topic. An instrumental case study is the study of a case to provide insight from a person or a specific group into a phenomenon (Creswell, 2013). The data collection tools included digital recordings from semistructured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up semistructured interviews (member checking interviews), and analysis of artifacts (participants' journals) as the primary means of data collection. The research secured 10 teacher participants from fourth and fifth grade classes. It was important to have multiple perspectives using the PBIS approach so as to receive diverse views and develop a theme in the qualitative report (Creswell, 2013).

Behavioral classroom management and its impact on the classroom environment for effective student learning is a topic where researchers have shared their views (Baker et al., 2016; Simonsen & Myers, 2015). The benefit of this research will assist educational administrators in making informed decisions about the PBIS program when used with fourth and fifth grade students within the school district. Similarly, administrators, teachers, and students can also benefit from the research study. This qualitative case study explored the following research question about behavioral classroom management using the PBIS approach.

Research Question

The primary research question that guided this study on the exploration of teacher's perspectives about the PBIS approach was: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms?

Rationale, Relevance, and Significance of the Study

The PBIS approach is a behavioral program that was developed to help address classroom behavioral concerns as well as to help improve school-wide behavioral issues (Sailor & Dunlap, 2010; Sailor, Dunlap, Sugai, Horner, 2009). According to research, implementation of the PBIS approach in addressing student behavior in public schools is favorable with educators in numerous states in the U.S. (Noltemeyer et al., 2018). The PBIS program has addressed difficult behavioral issues by improving the behavior of children with the most challenging behaviors (PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002). In this study, elementary teachers at HES had the opportunity to express their perspectives on PBIS practices in their classrooms.

Rationale

Providing teachers with the opportunity to share their viewpoints about using the PBIS approach to assist in managing student behavior in the classroom supports the desire for continued improvement in student conduct. Shared viewpoints can be incorporated into best practices for continued training in classroom behavior management. Student behavior can impact student learning negatively overall causing teachers to experience stress and teacher burnout in the classroom setting (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). Therefore, student misbehavior was a topic that was addressed because it impacts student performance.

Academic student performance is important to a school system because it serves as a gauge to determine how to address deficiencies (Egeberg et al., 2016; Rusk, 2016). Academic success helps determine whether there is a need for certain professional development sessions. Academic

achievement helps to maintain passing scores for state standardized tests and to encourage teachers to remain in the teaching profession (Egeberg et al., 2016).

Relevance

This study will benefit many stakeholders such as paraprofessionals, educators, administrators, students, and parents who are a part of the school community. When teachers share their perspectives about a behavior reform strategy moving students towards exhibiting positive behavior, teachers' feedback is necessary for continued progress (Frey, Lingo, & Nelson, 2008; PBIS, 2017). HES teachers' perspectives about the PBIS approach in their classrooms will provide findings which can be a basis for staff development practices at HES and more broadly in U.S. public schools.

Significance

Previous researchers have not explored elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences of the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. In this study, teachers' perspectives and experiences were explored (Creswell, 2013). The results of the PBIS program have been successful in many public schools. However, there are limited resources on this topic based on the population and site of this study. The significance of this qualitative research study was to provide HES teachers the opportunity to share their perspectives regarding the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. This topic had not been researched based on the population and site for the study. The authentic exploration of new knowledge shared will provide educators with best practices for managing student misbehavior effectively.

The PBIS approach assists with managing student behavior to achieve engaged learning. As a behavior management classroom best practice, according to Kohn (2004, 2018), students must understand the reasoning behind praise and rewards for effective student behavior, if not, they may not show good conduct. This research contributed to the literature about strategies that

can guide informed decisions about how best to address school-wide topics on PBIS behavioral practices in fourth and fifth grade elementary classrooms. In this study, elementary teachers at HES had the opportunity to express their perspectives on PBIS practices in their classrooms and expand the stakeholders' understanding of the teachers' experiences using this program.

Definition of Terms

The following phrases are defined terms used in this study. The terms are defined for all readers to have a shared understanding of their meaning. The terms include:

Behavioral classroom management. More than managing student behavior, behavioral classroom management is creating a positive learning classroom environment where students establish self-discipline through character development (Davis, 2017; PBIS, 2017).

Classroom climate. A healthy learning environment that is created by teachers in the classroom where students can communicate, learn, and achieve their academic goals (Patel, 2018). In this study, classroom climate will also be referred to as either one of the following terms: ecosystem, environment, and space.

Classroom culture. Emphasis is placed on positive classroom climate where teachers use student support and classroom community to address matters or concerns (Davis, 2017).

Classroom management. Controlling the environment so that educational activities can take place and students excel in a positive classroom environment (PBIS, 2017).

Constructivism. Constructivism indicates that learning is based on experiences from the learner and guided in thought to develop new understanding (Stake, 1995).

Educators. In this study, educators are superintendent, central office administrators, principals, assistant principals, teachers, and paraprofessionals (Sharp, 2014).

Fidelity. The implementation of an intervention program (PBIS) according to its precision (PBIS, 2017).

HES. The school district in this study. To preserve confidentiality of the school, the acronym HES will be used to represent the school district in this study. The source for the online data provided from the district will be sited as 'HES, 2018.'

Knowledge. Information that is presented verbally, by text, or dramatized to a person in order to create understanding which is applied and validated through life experiences.

Management technique. A method used to achieve acceptable classroom behavior based on planned expectations in a positive learning environment (Davis, 2017)

Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS). An intervention program that addresses classroom behavioral concerns as well as school-wide behavioral issues (PBIS, 2017; Sailor & Dunlap, 2010; Sailor et al., 2009).

Positive learning environment. A safe and caring place where teachers and students have a working relationship while building a culture and community of learners (Davis, 2017).

Teachers' perspectives. A teachers' mindset of their own narrative of what is thought of and/or felt when dealing with behavioral classroom management experiences (Golombek & Johnson, 2017).

Assumptions, Delimitations, and Limitations

In this study, there were underlying aspects that were identified by me such as assumptions, delimitations, and limitations (Creswell, 2013). This section explored areas of possible weakness within the study. An assumption is a premise that I assume are true in the study without proof (Ellis & Levy, 2010). The limitations are indisputable truths which does not have any control over but must identify and report (Ellis & Levy, 2010). Finally, the delimitation deals with acknowledging the threat or risk of generalizing the results of the study (Ellis & Levy, 2010). These factors were identified in this study.

Assumptions

The elementary teacher participants were viewed as professional experts who provided information in their field of education. Their perspectives of the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade was seen as credible from life experiences and training at this educational level. I assumed that the teachers were honest because names will not be used in the study, and confidentiality was thereby assured. I also assumed that the teachers shared candidly their perspectives about the PBIS program in their school. The confidentiality created an atmosphere where the teachers answered questions without fear of repercussion for answers expressed.

I assumed that the responses given by the teacher participants during structured one-on-one interviews and follow-up interviews are PBIS management practices used in fourth and/or fifth grade classrooms. During the interviews, the participants focused on their personal challenges and successes using the PBIS approach. Other behavior management strategies are mentioned.

I assumed that all the teacher participants understood the interview questions as they were intended so that the data is valid. I allowed the interviewee to review the questions prior to beginning the interview session. After each question was asked by the interviewer, the teacher was given an opportunity to indicate if clarity was needed. If so, the question was clarified. Probing was also used to assist with clarifying teacher responses so as to establish a common understanding or theme in the study.

It was assumed that the teacher participants had a clear understanding of the PBIS program and were implementing it in their fourth and fifth grade classrooms. Each interviewee was provided with a hard copy of PBIS practices and protocol to assist with clarifying information about the program.

The information gathered from the case study provided a wealth of knowledge to the school district about how student behavior can be managed in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. It was assumed that the data would encourage educators to look at their strengths and weaknesses in

how they manage student behavior using the PBIS approach within the organization and it is hoped that would be made as it becomes necessary. As a result, the findings will help to assist and train teachers and staff members on how best to move forward in managing student behavior. This can be done during the continued annual professional development of the PBIS approach within the school district.

Delimitations

A delimitation of this study was that there was no discussion with the fourth and fifth grade teachers pertaining to the PBIS program prior the interviews. Terms associated with the PBIS program and its practices were provided through insightful description of behavior management used during the case study. Each participant had an opportunity to explain how he or she perceived their respective behavior management style worked in the classroom environment.

Another delimitation had to do with focusing on one school district in Virginia for the study. This type of setting provided an area for gathering data from elementary teachers about their personal views of the PBIS approach in the fourth and fifth grade classroom settings. I presumed that the teachers believed this study was done simply because of teacher concern pertaining to the PBIS student behavior referrals and how discipline was being handled within the district.

The district site and the samples were also selected as delimiters. The site was selected based on the demographics of the population. The number of participants were identified and chosen through purposeful sampling having had exposure to the PBIS program. This study provided a comprehensive view of the perspectives and experiences the elementary teachers faced teaching the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. The findings may not be transferable to other populations and states.

Limitations

A limitation to this study was that teachers may volunteer for the study yet have limited time to discuss or answer interview questions with clarity. Human fallibility is often a factor when collecting data for a qualitative case study (Yin, 2018). Therefore, because of time constraints, it was important for me to schedule time that was convenient for all teacher participants to ensure there was time for participants to elaborate and clarify responses.

The teacher participants were from the same school district. All participants had professional development about the PBIS program over the past three years. In addition, the 10 teacher participants, who were a part of this study, provided data about this topic that was limited based on their experiences with fourth and fifth grade students.

The information in this study was reflective of only the teacher participants in two elementary schools, not other fourth and fifth grade teachers in the school district. The sample size of 10 affords reasonable qualitative research saturation and was adequate to be represented in literature (Creswell, 2013). This number provided themes and analysis for the case study.

Summary

The dissertation proposal focused on the first three chapters of the complete dissertation. Chapter 1 provided information on the problem to be studied, the significance of the problem, and the conceptual framework with defining terms that was used in the study. In this instrumental qualitative case study research design, I explored elementary teachers' perspectives of the PBIS approach and experiences of the challenges and successes using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. The rationale for this study was grounded in the reality that there are general concerns in public schools about how best to manage student behavior. Such discomfort in the work environment can bring about stress, teacher burnout, and lack of engaged student learning (Karaj & Rapti, 2013).

The PBIS (PBIS, 2017) approach is an intervention program that aims to address classroom behavioral concerns and guide school-wide behavioral issues improvement. It has been effective in accomplishing academic and social goals (Sailor & Dunlap, 2010; Sailor et al., 2009; PBIS, 2017). The PBIS program continues to grow within schools in the U.S. on the K–12 educational levels. I explored and gathered information from elementary teachers in fourth and fifth grades using the PBIS program through structured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up interviews, and analysis documents (artifacts). I interviewed the teacher participants so as to better understand their challenges and successes using the PBIS approach as a means to addresses classroom behavioral concerns.

A literature review in Chapter 2 provides an overview of literature regarding the PBIS program, methodological issues, and the critique of previous research. The researcher provides research studies about the PBIS program and its impact on public education as it relates to student behavior. Creating a positive learning environment for engaged learning will help students excel in and outside the classroom setting (Davis, 2018; PBIS, 2017).

A literature review of behavioral classroom management practices used by elementary classroom teachers to create a positive environment was also addressed in Chapter 2. This chapter provides proof of relevant literature search on the topic that has been analyzed and synthesized. In Chapter 3, the justification for the qualitative case study design is discussed. It focuses on the methodology or the qualitative research design that was used to explain how the study conducted in order to gather data. Chapter 4 presents the results of the study from the collected data. This chapter also provides new knowledge for scholarly documentation as well as to answer the research questions that culminate the study. Chapter 5 discusses and explores further knowledge found from the study and possible suggestions for continued study on the topic. In light of the

opportunity teachers were given to share their perspectives about the PBIS behavioral management program, knowledge about this research-based intervention program was extended.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of the study was to explore teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms as it related to the disposition of student learning in the HES district. This literature review provides educational research about the PBIS program in U.S. schools and its effectiveness on student conduct. Behavioral classroom management is a topic that resonates with many educators (Rusk, 2016). The PBIS program provides action steps through a multi-tiered behavioral support system to help teachers address behavioral concerns in the classroom environment (Fallon et al., 2015). Behavioral classroom management in U.S. elementary schools is a topic of interest because there is a pressing concern of issues that arise in the classroom setting impacting the overall classroom environment and teacher efficacy due to student behavior (Stanton-Chapman et al., 2016).

For this literature review, research was collected through online database, including ERIC (ProQuest) and Education Database (ProQuest). The key search terms used included *teachers' perspectives, social interactions, positive behavioral interactions, classroom environment, behavioral classroom management,* and *teacher efficacy*. Exploration of these terms provided research information pertaining to public elementary school teachers who have interests with how best to establish effective classroom behavioral management (Baker et al., 2016; Simonsen & Myers, 2015). Through analyzing and synthesizing research articles, reports, books, and other documents, it became apparent that very little research is available about teachers' perspectives using the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grades even though the approach is employed in elementary school districts as well as in health institutions across the U.S. (Hansen, 2014; Reynolds, Grados, & Praglowski, 2018). Chapter 2 contains six sections: (a) conceptual framework, (b) review of research literature and methodological literature, (c) review of

methodological issues, (d) synthesis of research findings, (e) critique of previous research, and (f) Chapter 2 summary.

Conceptual Framework: Constructivism

Constructivism is a worldview theory, which indicates that learning is based on guided learner experiences that lead to the development of new understanding (Stake, 1995). Constructivism is not clearly defined (Powell & Kalina, 2009). This theory proposes that knowledge is subjective, and humans develop their perspectives or opinions on a topic based on personal perspectives and experiences that synthesize meaning. As a result, insights given can allow one to draw conclusions and agree about what is truth (Hatch, 2002). Therefore, constructivism can be structured according to the assumptions, expectations, beliefs, and theories that support the research of student behavior in elementary schools (Ravitch & Riggan, 2017). This study was grounded on the concepts of constructivism which suggests that cognition is a construct of human knowledge or perspectives based on real world experiences.

There are two different constructivist perspectives, social constructivism, and cognitive constructivism, however, both perspectives focus on constructivist learning in the classroom environment (Powell & Kalina, 2009). This case study incorporated the cognitive constructivist perspectives of Jean Piaget (Illeris, 2018; Powell & Kalina, 2009) and Bruner (1990), and also included the social constructivist perspective of Lev Vygotsky (1978) as discussed later in this study.

Piaget's approach on constructivism focuses on cognitive development where humans can construct their own knowledge while learning or experiencing the world around them (Powell & Kalina, 2009). Bruner's (1990) role of structure in learning also emphasizes the cognitive learning theory, which is similar to Piaget. Vygotsky's approach on constructivism approach is understood through the sociocultural learning theory that purports learning takes place through social

interaction (Palincsar, 1998);human cognitive development occurs with the guidance of others (Powell & Kalina, 2009). For example, in a social setting, knowledge ensues through interaction with other individuals in the community, at work, or where they live (Stake 1995).

Historically, behavioral management strategies have been integrated into classrooms to help curtail student misconduct (Canter, 1989; Jones, 1987; Jones & Jones, 1990, Khon, 2004). Today, teachers are facing new challenges of how best to incorporate behavioral management practices in the classroom environment to suit their own pedagogy (Baker et al., 2016; Garrett, 2014; Simonsen & Myers, 2015). Professional development sessions are scheduled and presented where teachers take charge of their learning. Teachers become as students, taking on a lead learner approach by trying to fit their content learning with pedagogical experience. It is therefore imperative for teachers to have some understanding of behavioral classroom management in order to teach the content they have learned to their students. In this study, constructivism was a fundamental foundation for learning and teaching positive student behavior using the PBIS approach.

The PBIS approach is a research-based behavioral intervention program (Bradshaw, Pas, Debnam, & Lindstrom, 2015; Simonsen, & Myers, 2015; PBIS, 2017). In the 1990s, this approach was adopted in U.S. schools to help address behavioral issues with the most challenging behaviors (Bradshaw et al., 2015; Simonsen, & Myers, 2015; PBIS, 2017). The PBIS program, which is grounded in behavioral theory, has been used in schools to assist in changing misbehavior to positively manage student behavior.

This behavioral theory (1938) emanated from the work of B. F. Skinner whose theory on learning dealt with human behavior (Ricko, 2018). The PBIS approach came from applied behavior analysis in a social setting also based on Skinner's theory on behaviorism (Ricko, 2018). The constructivist theory is the foundation that was used in this study. The understanding was that

the teachers in this study have developed a knowledge base on positive behavioral strategies and have used it to help teach positive behavior in the classroom setting using the PBIS approach. The knowledge about PBIS that teachers have constructed from professional trainings and classroom educational experiences in fourth and fifth grade classrooms was shared during the first semistructured interview and also the follow-up semistructured interview sessions. I explored the themes of elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences teaching positive student behavior based on a conceptual framework of constructivist learning.

Constructivism in This Study

Teachers work in an environment where they interact with students and staff daily. Given the various grade levels and diverse curricula of elementary education, teachers must meet the professional credentials required. In addition to the years of teaching experience represented among elementary educators, these teachers also bring varied educational and social backgrounds and viewpoints to the profession. Consequently, the professional training and experiences of these educators afford the opportunity to explore teachers' perspectives or knowledge on behavioral classroom management. In this study, constructivism provided the foundation for understanding how teachers' perspectives and experiences, using the PBIS program, impacts their behavioral practices toward teaching and learning.

The desire for teachers to teach in a positive climate increased the necessity for teachers to receive training on behavioral management, apply it in the classroom setting, and then share the learning experiences for beneficial reasons. As such, the constructivist approach supports the understanding that teachers learn from shared perspectives about the PBIS behavioral management strategies. Given the abstract nature of constructivism, each teacher's perspective can play a significant role in expanding awareness about how to effectively use the PBIS approach to assist with classroom management. Based on teachers preexisting knowledge and new knowledge

learned from PBIS professional development, teachers can share their perspectives about how the effectiveness of their PBIS classroom implementation has positively impact learning. Teachers were interviewed for their perspectives using the PBIS approach in order to widen the scope of other teachers' perspectives in the profession. Educators who read this study aggregate further knowledge of how to implement the PBIS approach in a more effective ways for their own behavioral practice and classroom situation.

Student behavior should be a barometer to help the teacher evaluate the effectiveness of the PBIS program. When implemented, the PBIS program can affect behavioral changes that will effectively impact positive teaching and learning. If student behavior is not changing while using the PBIS approach, then it may well be for the following reasons. The PBIS approach may not be effective if the teacher is not properly implementing the strategies and may need more training. Also, the teacher may need to reflect on his or her own role or attitude towards the program. In addition, the teacher can make the PBIS strategies more malleable to his or her situation through constructivism to get the desired outcome. How the students respond and how their learning is impacted can help the teacher determine how to manipulate and implement the PBIS approach effectively.

Chapter 2 explores elementary teachers' behavioral management practices to help address the following research question: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms? This guiding research question provided through literature the opportunity for the examination of behavioral practices employed by teachers using the PBIS approach. Constructivism was the framework for teachers assigning meaning to new knowledge that may contribute to teaching positive student behavior. The literature review discussed constructivist and classroom management theorists on human behavior from the 20th to the 21st century. The literature also highlighted information on PBIS professional

development (PD) or training programs needed for continued best practices which can benefit teachers and other educators (Collum, 2012; Frey et al., 2008; Postholm, 2013; Rew, 2013; Reynolds et al., 2018; Rusk, 2016; Sailor & Dunlap, 2010; Sailor et al., 2009; Sugai & Horner, 2010).

Review of Research Literature and Methodological Literature

Constructivist and Classroom Management Theorists on Human Behavior

Jean Piaget. Piaget (Illeris, 2018) focused on the study of child development. It was during the early 20th century when Piaget first developed his theory on constructivism, which later became known as cognitive development or cognitive constructivism (Miller, 1989). By the 1930's, Piaget contributed to the understanding of learning by indicating how individuals compound knowledge based on human development (Illeris, 2018; Powell & Kalina, 2009). Knowledge was acquired through four sequential stages of development: (a) sensorimotor stage (ages zero to two), (b) preoperational stage (ages two to seven), (c) concrete operational stage (ages seven to 11), and (d) formal operational stage (adolescence through adulthood) (Illeris, 2018; Miller, 1989). New learning is a part of human development that suggests different learning styles supported by change or reconstruction throughout the stages of development (Illeris, 2018; Miller, 1989). When the cognitive processes of development are combined with social setting, the construction of new knowledge takes place, especially during classroom interaction (Bozkurt, 2017).

Lev Vygotsky. Vygotsky's proposed a social constructivist theory which placed emphasis on logical learning as did Piaget. However, Vygotsky focused more on teacher-student interaction in a cultural and social setting (Powell & Kalina, 2009).Vygotsky's theory emphasizes how learning takes place through modeling, guiding, and explaining. According to Vygotsky, social interaction through participation in activities can internalize knowledge (Bozkurt, 2017; Vygotsky,

1978). When humans work collectively, it expands their intellectual capacity about the world around them.

Jerome Bruner. Bruner, an influential social psychologist known for being a part of the *cognitive revolution*, was born in 1915 in New York (Bruner, 1990). Bruner's constructivist theory focused on learning as an active process where humans construct new knowledge based upon present or past knowledge. In this manner, the learner has the ability to use cognitive structure or scaffolding to organize experiences that empower them to hypothesize, make decisions, and to transform information (Bruner, 1990).

Albert Bandura. Bandura, who was born in 1925, and originated his social cognitive theory research theory in the 1960s (Lefrancois, 2006). The social cognitive theory focuses on the developmental changes that occur during a person's lifespan. (Lefrancois, 2006). Over time, humans make behavioral adjustments based on existent lifelong developmental factors (Bandura, 1986). According to Bandura (1986), trying to change the development or psychological functioning of adults or even children is not wise nor is possible which is unlike to Piaget's theory. Bandura (1986) posited that understanding human development requires understanding differences in social practices. Substantial individual differences and capabilities reveal the diversity in people which is then characterized by certain types of behaviors exhibited (Bandura, 1986).

According to Bandura (1986), self-efficacy through human behavior is determined by believing that one has the capability of performing successful behaviors to attain specific goals in life. In order to reach the set goals, one must be motivated, acquire successes, and socialize in an environment of influence (Bandura, 1986). Bandura's (1989) social learning theory points out student self-efficacy though social media. This theory states the importance of social interaction, and its use among young people today through the interactive avenues of social media (Bandura, 1989). Deaton (2015) stated, when students are taught, social interaction should be a part of their

learning and class environment. Social learning provides stimuli (visual and auditory), attention, and student engagement, which are tools needed by teachers for effective instruction (Deaton, 2015). Cognitive, behavioral, and environmental factors are three components, which are a part of Bandura's social learning theory (1986). These factors focus on attention, memory, and motivation conducive to positive student management and engaged learning (Bandura, 1986).

Alfie Kohn. Alfie Kohn's (2004) theory on classroom management taps into students' curiosity and cooperation. Kohn's belief about classroom management focuses on how classrooms should function with students cooperating with each other and allowing their curiosity to encourage new learning (Kohn, 2004). Kohn (2004) stated, elementary teachers should allow students to explore topics of interest. When students are interested in what they learn and pursue their own interest, a positive learning environment can take place, and student conduct will improve (Kohn, 2004).

According to Kohn (2004), students should not receive rewards for positive behavior. Their actions in the classroom are contingent on receiving more rewards only to get a "goody" (Kohn, 2004). Students will exhibit good conduct as long as there is a reward (Kohn, 2004). Teachers should discuss with their students what makes a classroom a pleasant and smooth functioning environment, instead of conditioning the students with rewards.

Positive reinforcement is discouraged by Kohn (2004). Positive reinforcement will work, but only to a point. Kohn (2004) stated, positive reinforcement encourages students to want more positive reinforcements. Teachers should not provide positive reinforcements, but should discuss privately with the students their successes and weaknesses (Kohn, 2004). Students will exhibit good conduct without praise or rewards when they understand the reasoning behind positive or negative behavior (Kohn, 2018; 2004). Ultimately, students will behave appropriately and rewards or punishment should not be necessary. Theories on child development and educational practices

on behavioral classroom management have been explored to provide a greater understanding of a positive classroom environment.

Constructivism: Disposition of Student Learning in the Classroom

Classroom management is an action step many teachers understand they should do prior to imparting instruction (Egeberg et al., 2016; Rusk, 2016). Davis (2017) stated that teachers should have an understanding that the classroom is a complex space, which can provide a social, cultural, and relational environment for student learning (Davis, 2017). Establishing this type of learning environment can be challenging, yet an important task (Baker et al., 2016; Garrett, 2014; Simonsen & Myers, 2015).

Components of student learning dispositions are addressed in the philosophies of Piaget (Miller, 1989), Bruner (1990), and Vygotsky (Powell & Kalina, 2009). These theorists emphasize the importance of a teacher providing guidance by modeling and explaining information to their students about classroom behavior expectations. As a result, students can construct new knowledge about how to conduct themselves in the classroom setting based on their stages of development (Bozkurt, 2017; Bruner, 1990; Powell & Kalina, 2009). Establishing an environment for positive student behavior can be accomplished when teachers explain, model, and guide students into an understanding of how a welcoming and agreeable classroom environment is created and managed.

In order for students to exemplify positive student behavior in a constructivist setting, learning expected classroom behavior should occur when students are actively involved in the process. In a constructivist classroom, students can make meaning and knowledge when the teacher discusses and models expected behavior. For example, the teacher can demonstrate to students how to work and play in a safe manner, to listen when others are talking, and work quietly to avoid disturbing others. Through group discussions, the teacher can lead conversations about the importance of having trust and respect for others, a classroom of cultural acceptance, and good

teacher-student relations (Bruner, 1990; Davis, 2017; Marlowe & Page, 2005; Powell & Kalina, 2009).

Constructivism in the classroom setting can be used to transform student behavior (Bozkurt, 2017; Bruner, 1990; Powell & Kalina, 2009). Students can construct their own understanding of classroom expectations based on how knowledge or classroom instruction is presented by the teacher. Learning classroom rules and expectations enhance students' understanding about acceptable and unacceptable behaviors, and how each behavior has its own consequence. In this manner, students have a better understanding of consequences once they are applied in the classroom. As a result, students begin to construct their own meaning of classroom expectations based on behavioral experiences in their respective classroom environments. New learning allows students to adjust or conform to classroom standards of behavior. When new knowledge is gained, students will most likely comply to appropriate classroom behavior based upon their own individuality of self-awareness.

Teaching a student to follow the classroom rules and regulations establishes that classroom management is teacher and student directed (Davis, 2017). Creating an environment where teachers and students interact positively can influence student behavior (Davis, 2017). While teachers should hold students accountable for their actions and encourage them to learn self-control as a necessary tool for focusing in class, teachers also need to be active listeners. According to Davis (2017), in order for teachers to interact with students, they must first have a positive mindset. The classroom environment must be positive, focus must be on students' strengths, have knowledge of students' background or their diversity, and context of their lived experiences inside or outside the classroom setting (Davis, 2017). In addition, when teachers relate with students on a social level, they can fully understand the needs of students and their concerns in the classroom so that student learning can take place (Davis, 2017; Kendall, 2015; Manning &

Butcher, 2013).Social constructivism through classroom engagement can productively influence classroom management by allowing the student to analyze new information and self-correct behavior for positive behavioral growth (Powell & Kalina, 2009). Using effective management strategies by creating a positive environment can begin the process of addressing behavioral concern (PBIS, 2017).

Behavioral classroom management has been a topic of interest for many educators during the 20th century to the present. Behavioral classroom management is defined as having the ability to manage human or student behavior in order to instruct in a positive learning environment through character development (Davis, 2017; Kendall, 2015; PBIS, 2017). When effective behavioral classroom management strategies are in place, teachers experience less stress and can focus on building a positive classroom environment for learning (Karaj & Rapti, 2013; Ozorio, 2014).

Even though effective intervention programs are available to assist teachers with maintaining classroom order, establishing a positive classroom environment for engaged learning is a task educators still find challenging (Baker et al., 2016; Garrett, 2014; Simonsen & Myers, 2015). As a result, the evolution of classroom management theories and strategies aim to address how to positively shift student behavior (PBIS, 2017).

Positive Behavior: An Intervention Strategy (1960 to 1990)

In the early 1960s and 1970s classroom behavior management was accomplished through the use of positive and negative reinforcements to encourage the desired behavior (Egeberg et al., 2016). By the 1980s and 1990s, models were developed by Canter (1992) and Jones (Jones, 1987; Jones & Jones, 1990). Emphasis was placed on teachers using rewards and punishments based on classroom practices and expectations (Egeberg et al., 2016). However, in today's classrooms when teachers focus on student safety, academic support, and classroom management to create a positive

behavior environment so that adverse student behavior is curtailed (Egeberg et al., 2016). Egeberg et al. (2016) concludes that teachers are able to create a positive behavioral environment when they focus on the educational stimuli present in their educational setting, and redirect negative behaviors as needed to avoid excluding students from class (Egeberg et al., 2016; Lewis, Romi, Kate, & Roache, 2012).

By the 1980's, researchers studied classroom management and its practices in U.S. classroom (Brekelmans et al., 2011; Brok et al., 2004; Doyle, 1986; Reinke, Stormont, Herman, Wang, Newcomer, & King, 2014; Rusk, 2016). Postholm (2013) focused on classroom management through several article review studies. Doyle (1986) stated two purposes for classroom management. First, from a behaviorist perspective, the classroom is a place for establishing a quiet and calm environment for learning (Doyle, 1986). Second, classroom management helps in developing an environment for students' social and moral development (Doyle, 1986). Other research by Brekelmans et al. (2011) and Brok et al. (2004) indicated that when teachers have effective control over a class, students will attain higher achievements and will demonstrate a positive attitude towards the subject matter covered in the classroom.

In their qualitative study, Karaj and Rapti (2013) indicated that stress has been on the rise in the teaching profession since the early 1970s. A contributing factor has been pressure regarding schedules and time availability, lack of support from principals, and work overload resulting in teacher burnout (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). Furthermore, disruptive student behavior in the classroom setting has been one of the greatest contributing factors towards stress in teaching (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). The researchers also examined how the impact of disruptive student behavior in classrooms affected teachers' job stress when compared with various stress related studies experienced by teachers. Using the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient, the study showed that there were significant correlations of time pressure, workload, and relations with colleagues and with the

school principal. (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). Consequently, disruptive student behavior resulted just as impactful on teacher stress as other stress related experiences.

Lewis et al. (2012) stated in their qualitative study that behavior concerns in the classroom setting is one of the main reasons teachers feel disconcerted in the profession. Teachers used their own techniques to control misbehavior and promote student responsibility (Lewis et al., 2012). Students were excused from the classroom setting and allowed to reflect on the behavior. The goal is for the student to accept responsibility for their misbehavior and return to the class after having a follow-up conversation with the teacher (Lewis et al., 2012). A strength with this behavioral management method provides the opportunity for teachers to interact and possibly have a positive relationship with the students afterwards. Unfortunately, according to Friedman (2006), the greatest frustration that educators experienced was the inability to develop good relations with students, which could contribute to teacher burnout (Friedman, 2006; Karaj & Rapti, 2013).

How a teacher chooses to manage a class environment can help to determine student behavior, interest, concentration level, and attitudes towards their schoolwork. Coupled with job stress, a teacher's behavior towards students can determine student conduct and the overall classroom climate (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). It is understood that more research can be done on effective ways for preparing teachers to handle disruptive behaviors in the classroom environment (Lewis et al., 2012).

The PBIS framework. The PBIS framework is defined as a multi-tiered behavioral support system for all students (Fallon et al., 2015; McDaniel et al., 2017). This program identified and supported positive behaviors in the school environment (PBIS, 2017). Based on the Individuals with Disabilities Act (1997), the PBIS was authorized for individuals with disabilities, or students with behavior disorders (BD). However, researchers took this approach further and

applied it towards research studies and evaluation projects (Gresham, 1991; Sugai & Horner, 1999; Walker et al., 1996).

The PBIS program incorporates the constructivist theory by sharing employed effective behavioral intervention strategies for students who have behavioral concerns (PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002). Applied behavior analysis is the basis of PBIS in practice, and behavioral analysis is part of the constructivist framework (Horner & Sugai, 2015). Therefore, in this study, PBIS is used in the framework of constructivism. The constructivist theory can be applied to PBIS when exploring how teachers construct preexisting and new knowledge to learn. When there is new understanding about student behavior management and how best to implement it in the classroom setting, adjustments can be made by the teacher to improve student conduct. Constructivism helps to create a practical demonstration of employed analysis using the PBIS approach in the work environment of teachers (Horner & Sugai, 2015).

PBIS Tiered Levels are Tier I, II, and III with Tier III focused on individual at risk students (PBIS, 2017). Tier I, Universal or Primary Prevention, is designed to reduce problem behaviors school-wide. Approximately 80% of the student population in each school are not expected to move beyond Tier I (Fallon et al., 2015; McDaniel et al., 2017; PBIS, 2017). Tier II, Secondary Prevention, focuses on at-risk behavior. Specialized intervention takes place at this level. About 15% of students may struggle at this level (Fallon et al., 2015; McDaniel et al., 2017; PBIS, 2017). Tier III, Tertiary Prevention, focus on high-risk behavior. An individualized plan is created to address student behavior at this level. Typically, 5% or less of students may need intervention at this level (Fallon et al., 2017; PBIS, 2017).

Positive Behavior Support (PBS) reduces problem behaviors based on positive reinforcement in the classroom (Horner et al., 2010; Lewis & Sugai, 1999; Mayer, 1995; Sugai & Horner, 2002). Public schools in the U.S. have been moving more towards positive behavior

because negative punishment was not as effective. Using the constructivism theory in the classroom, teachers can explain and model the PBIS approach allowing students to analyze the information given and make adjustments in their behavior. Correspondingly, there has been improvement in disciplinary behavior, school climate, student bullying behavior, and academic achievement using the PBIS framework (Sugai & Simonsen, 2012).

The success of the PBIS program in many state schools have encouraged a widespread interest in its framework and behavioral practices (Lane et al., 2015; Noltemeyer et al., 2018; PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002). Educators are looking more closely at the successes of using the PBIS program in U.S. public schools to better understand how best to manage student behavior in classroom settings. The PBIS approach has a framework, which highlights research-based practices organized to support school-wide behavior (PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 2002, 2010). The approach incorporates behavioral expectations with clear rules to follow as well as definitions for violation of those rules (Sugai & Simonsen, 2012). The PBIS program has defining characteristics based on student outcomes. The program supports classroom routines, teaching reminders, active supervision, high praise, behavior intervention, academics, and social skills instruction (PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Simonsen, 2012).

Public schools in the U.S. made the decision to implement the School-wide Positive Behavior Support (SWPBS) approach (PBIS, 2017). A significant strategy of the PBIS approach as it relates to student behavior is prevention (PBIS, 2017). This approach is not an intervention, but considered a behavior reform strategy moving students towards exhibiting positive behavior on a regular basis in the school setting (Frey et al., 2008; PBIS, 2017). It is based on a behavioralecological perspective (PBIS, 2017) wherein unified discipline is key. In a school-wide discipline system, a statement of purpose, defined expectations, and encouraged expected behaviors help to

establish proactive behavioral routines for consistent school management and stability (Frey et al., 2008).

The school-wide system for student success is divided into two systems—academic systems (proactive, individualizing, high efficacy, etc.) and behavioral systems (preventative, small group intervention, procedures, etc.). Most students follow school-wide expectations, but not all are recognized for exhibiting positive behavior. Schools that have adopted the PBIS approach reward students for their efforts, provide consequences when needed, but also use the opportunity for re-teaching as a result of negative student behaviors (Banks, 2014; Betters-Bubon, Brunner, & Kansteiner, 2016; Fallon et al., 2015; Sugai & Horner, 2002, 2010). The PBIS program has been used in public schools each year to increase student learning for behavior and ultimately academic progress (Halliburton, 2015; Houchens et al., 2017; PBIS, 2017). The PBIS framework is structured to meet the needs of undesirable student behaviors in U.S. schools (Frey et al., 2008; Noltemeyer et al., 2018; Sugai & Horner, 2002, 2010; Sugai & Simonsen, 2012).

PBIS Research in the Classroom Environment

Establishing a safe controlled classroom environment for student learning is an educator's priority regardless of where or how they teach. A classroom environment without management and engagement can be perceived as a setting that may not facilitate learning. Ozorio (2014) stated that a well-managed classroom is a place where students are engaged and motivated to do their best, and learn. It is a place where students are encouraged to follow and adhere to classroom and school regulations.

Teacher-student interaction can be established in a social constructivist relational classroom environment to assist with student behavior (Abenavoli et al., 2014; Davis, 2017; Marlowe & Page, 2005; Vygotsky, 1978).The researchers, Abenavoli et al. (2014), examined how teachers' perspectives during the fall of the new school year to the spring term prognosticated

change in educators' self-reported efficacy with respect to student engagement, classroom management, and instructional practices. Teachers determined how they related to students based on their attitude in the classroom. An educator's mindset helps to determine well-being (Abenavoli et al., 2014). This study supports the PBIS approach, which promotes positive student-to-student and teacher-to-student interactions encouraging acceptable student behavior. Educators have reported that behaviors and needs of many students in U.S. public education have significantly changed (West, 2014). School districts find themselves needing new programs and curriculum that must address social, emotional, and behavioral needs of students (West, 2014). West (2014) and Blum and Libbey (2004) indicate that students do not have social-emotional competencies, and as a result, they do not progress well from elementary to middle school to high school. This lack of social-emotional competence has negatively affected the students' academic performance, behavior, and health (West, 2014). A positive behavioral climate is a place where respect and understanding for others help in leading the way towards academic success (West, 2014). When teachers have an understanding of the emotional feeling of their students, it can help them determine what strategies are effective to manitain a positive behavior environment (Kendall, 2015; West, 2014).

Educators recognize that students must have certain needs met that can be supported by an environment that is conducive for learning (Bergman, 2016; Ozorio, 2014). Building a positive classroom environment helps teachers address student needs and bring about student success. Ozorio (2014) states that when teachers have a positive disposition about their task coupled with a welcoming learning environment, academic success can be realized. A positive attitude creates a positive classroom environment (Ozorio, 2014). In addition, Ozorio's (2014) qualitative research supports teachers praising positive and productive student behaviors; when students are commended for positive behavior, they will most likely continue to engage in positive interactions

in order to receive continual praise (Ozorio, 2014). This reinforcement helps to build self-esteem among the children, which is important for student learning and development (Ozorio, 2014).

Culture. Classroom culture is a cognitive factor that applies to this study on behavioral classroom management through the holistic approach of the PBIS program. Classroom culture influences student behavior through high student support given by teachers (Betters-Bubon et al., 2016; Davis, 2017). The PBIS program provides social and emotional practices of behavior management with student diversity at all tier levels. Regardless of the students' ethnicity, Boesch (2014) indicated how professors and/or teachers play an important role in establishing either a positive or negative classroom environment. Having a discernment of cultural diversity or student background at the elementary, middle, high school, or even among students at the college level will assist with understanding student behavior and create a classroom culture where students can interact with teachers, and everyone is accepted and respected (Boesch, 2014; Davis, 2017).

Based on their qualitative study, Betters-Bubon et al. (2016) stated that cultural awareness and practices should be a part of the PBIS program. Such cognitive practices will help in reducing school discipline referrals and support an environment conducive to student learning. The case study examined how a school team incorporated cultural practices within the PBIS program to meet social and emotional needs of students. After five years, cultural practices were built into the school's PBIS intervention program, which improved student behavior (Betters-Bubon et al., 2016).

In 1954, the Supreme Court's ruling of *Brown v. Board of Education* equalized educational opportunities for all U.S. children regardless of their culture. A child's race, color, or national origin was not to be discriminated against (Skiba et al., 2011). However, disciplinary disproportion for African Americans increased from 1970 to 2002 (Skiba et al., 2011). In addition, in many U.S.

schools, students of color are often disciplined disproportionately based on their attendance in the student population (Skiba et al., 2011).

There are significant differences in the current literature regarding how the PBIS program has influenced the cultural norms and behaviors of students especially when comparing white students to students of color. A correlational research study was conducted at the State Department of Education in a Midwestern state using full-time PBIS consultants to assess students' achievement in reading and math (Reno, Friend, Caruthers, & Smith, 2017). Teachers' perceptions of the PBIS program was explored. The findings highlights that there was no statistically significant relationship between PBIS Tier II behavior and academic improvement (Reno et al., 2017). Yet the findings showed substantial percentage differences for male students, students of color, and students from high poverty being identified as needing Tier II by middle class White, female teachers (Reno et al., 2017). For school culture to support academic achievement for all students, educators must understand students' cultural norms and behaviors (Reno et al., 2017).

School discipline researchers have studied the ways in which the PBIS approach can assist in reducing racial disparities (Cregor, 2008; Skiba, Michael, Nardo, & Peterson, 2002; Skiba et al., 2011). There are disparities between discipline for White students and students of color. Studies show that Latinos are disciplined disproportionately as well Black students (Skiba et al., 2002; Skiba et al., 2011). African Americans and Latino students are generally eligible for special education instructional services yet are underrepresented for gifted and talented programs (Reno et al., 2017). When teacher referrals were examined prior to implementing PBIS, Black and Latino students were sent to the office for incidents that had no basis for an office referral. However, when teachers implemented the PBIS approach, the numbers decreased (Skiba et al., 2002, Skiba et al., 2011). There are still gaps in literature exploring ethnic disparities especially for

Hispanics/Latino students. The data pertaining to school discipline is limited and inconsistent (Skiba et al., 2002, Skiba et al., 2011).

Russell Skiba is the director of the Initiative on Equity and Opportunity at Indiana University. He stated, how PBIS has assisted in reducing school exclusion of certain students. Appropriate consequences fit the disciplinary incident. However, while school exclusion is reducing, Skiba still found that students of color were more likely to receive harsher punishments for similar misbehavior than their white peers in PBIS schools (Skiba et al., 2002, Skiba et al., 2011).

Skiba's et al. (2002) research team from The Equity Project of Indiana University examined discipline data from an urban school. It revealed that both white and black students received office discipline referrals (ODR's) for unacceptable behavior (Skiba et al., 2002). White students were sent to the office for "smoking, vandalism, or obscenities". Black students were sent to the office for "disrespect, excessive noise, threatening behavior, and loitering" (Toll, 2018, p. 19).

More than 7,000 schools nationwide have adopted the PBIS approach in order to improve student behavior (Cregor, 2008). Cregor visited three of those schools. Blossomwood and Lincoln Elementary schools both use the PBIS approach as a common language to control student behavior, and the students score well on state testing. The major difference between the two schools is the demographics (Cregor, 2008). Lincoln Elementary has about 80% of students receiving free or reduced lunch, 70% of those students are African Americans and 30% are White. Whereas Blossomwood Elementary has about 15% of the students who receive free lunch are African Americans, and about 81% of the students are White (Cregor, 2008). Despite the major difference in enrollment with students of color at each school, the teachers at Blossomwood and Lincoln Elementary Schools are proactive. Using the PBIS program, teachers address issues before

they become a major problem, and students continue improve socially and academically. Research has shown that the PBIS program works with all students helping to prevent student dropout and grade retention which is often associated with students of color (Cregor, 2008). The PBIS program has made a difference in changing some of the statistics pertaining to improvement in student behavior based on student of color.

Toll (2018) places emphasis on the fact that disparities among Black students have been a problem for decades preventing schools from achieving positive outcomes for all students. In research studies, it was revealed that Black elementary students received higher suspension rate for minor behavior and an increased risk for expulsion than their white counterparts. Studies also found that there was a high percentage of Black males placed in special education (Losen & Skiba, 2010; Skiba et al., 2011; Toll, 2018). Toll (2018) stated that the School-Wide Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (SW-PBIS) program has been able to assist in reducing disparities of high school students creating a larger percentage of student graduates. However, research studies show that elementary schools disproportional disparity rates have been overlooked (Toll, 2018). Toll's (2018) research dealt with investigating the SW-PBIS program as it relates to discipline disparity rates in elementary schools among Black students in a Florida district. The goal was to see what components of the SW-PBIS program was successful in helping to reduce disproportional disciplinary rates especially among Black elementary male students. The study involved 55 elementary schools and 20 of those schools had disproportionate discipline rates of Black students (Toll, 2018).

Findings showed that when early intervention of the SW-PBIS program is implemented, disparity rates among students of color are lowered. It was also noted that students misbehave when they are disengaged from the instructional lesson. When students are engaged, misbehavior decreases. Student should be taught acceptable school behavior and social skills in order to

succeed in the classroom. Findings in the Florida district also indicated that when teachers have knowledge of the SW-PBIS program and apply it with fidelity in the classroom setting, disproportionate discipline rates among students of color decrease (Toll, 2018). Establishing a classroom culture using a positive approach to student behavior is effective. The intervention of the SW-PBIS program has assisted with addressing and improving elementary and middle school student behaviors (Freeman et al., 2016).

The knowledge of constructing a classroom culture affords guidance to teachers and students about behavior expectations in classroom setting (Boesch, 2014). Educators are becoming aware of the need to have classroom culture as well as cultural awareness in the classroom setting. Culture awareness can create a positive classroom climate for teachers managing their classrooms for student learning (Abenavoli, Harris, Katz, Jennings, & Greenberg, 2014). Understanding student backgrounds and creating a classroom culture in the classroom setting matters. Having a knowledge of cultural culture in the classroom can determine the impact of a positive environment (Abenavoli et al., 2014; Boesch, 2014; Davis, 2017; Delano-Oriaran & Parks, 2015). It is important for teachers to understand the role classroom culture and diversity play in the classroom setting, and how it can influence a positive and successful behavioral classroom management environment.

In a qualitative case study, Rusk (2016) explored how cultural classroom management practices influence classroom disruptions. His PBIS related study explored behavioral management practices in a private school from Pre-K to Grade 8 in central Oregon. Rusk (2016) explored the differences in specific classroom management strategies between teachers who had high numbers of PBIS discipline referrals versus teachers who had low numbers. The phenomenon was to understand how the classroom management practices and classroom culture that the teachers developed influenced the management of the students (Rusk, 2016).

Rusk's (2016) findings indicated that a few teachers used traditional practices based on cultural discipline, while other teachers used a holistic behavior practices (Rusk, 2016). The holistic behavior practices consisted of positive behavior support approach, social-emotional feedback, class routines, PBIS intervention strategies, and a teacher-centered classroom environment to manage classroom disruptions (Rusk, 2016). There were many teachers who used traditional practices in the classroom to address classroom behaviors that centered on the use of teacher authority. According to Rusk (2016), the traditional approach had been seen as a weakness in classroom management. Other educators used a more progressive or holistic approach where students were active participants and problem solvers. The teachers were more facilitators who guided and fostered thinking, promoting a positive behavior practice approach (Rusk, 2016). Cultural practices were incorporated into the classroom environment strengthening classroom management while establishing a positive student behavior holistic approach.

Academic achievement. Quantitative studies of the PBIS program have provided a greater understanding of how the holistic approach towards student behavior and student constructing knowledge and meaning can bring about achievement (Collins& Ryan, 2016; Halliburton, 2015; Houchens et al., 2017; Marlowe & Page, 2005; Palincsar, 1998). Ryoo, Hong, Bart, Shin, and Bradshaw (2018) used the School-wide Positive Behavior Intervention Support (SW-PBIS) program to examine the longitudinal effect of elementary and middle school students who have behavioral problems and academic achievement growth. In the quasi–experimental design, the findings were inconclusive because of cross-sectional data. They did not find any significant statistical effects on student behavior or academic achievement among the educational levels of the students. As a result, there were questions raised about the effectiveness of the SW-PBIS when used with a scaled up statewide achievement test. Further research is needed to have a better understanding of the longevity effect of the SW-PBIS program (Ryoo et al., 2018).

Houchens et al. (2017) concludes that the PBIS program can reduce behavioral referrals and out-of-school suspensions improving the school's academic environment when implemented with fidelity (Houchens et al., 2017; McDaniel et al., 2017; Noltemeyer et al., 2018). The analysis of the study concluded that PBIS can also bring about improvement in teachers' perspectives of organizational health, which could possibly improve student learning. According to Houchens et al. (2017), research does not provide any existing documentation of whether or not the PBIS program contributes to student achievement. The Teaching, Empowering, Leading, and Learning (TELL) Kentucky survey was given to teachers at PBIS and non-PBIS schools. The survey was used to analyze teachers' perspectives of their working conditions between schools as well as among schools with different levels of PBIS implementation with fidelity or refinement. The study examined PBIS implementation at the schools and the outcome of students' test scores. Findings show there was no significant difference in academic achievement of the students between PBIS and non-PBIS schools. However, the analysis also revealed that academic outcomes were higher at high PBIS schools with fidelity and medium fidelity PBIS schools (Houchens et al., 2017).

While it is important for teachers to place emphasis on achievement goals in their classrooms, they vary on the level of emphasis. In their study, Shim, Keifer, and Wang (2013) focused on teachers who used the achievement goal orientation theory. Classroom mastery goal structure and the classroom performance goal structure were used. The classroom structure resulted in higher student performance (Shim et al., 2013). Emphasis was placed in the classroom setting on developing competence, mastery of learning, and personal progress. The results indicated that students who were in mastery goal focused classrooms were more motivated to achieve (Shim et al., 2013). They had high persistence, challenged themselves, applied effort, and used learning strategies based on need. This type of academic environment brought about low disruptive behavior and cheating in the classroom (Shim et al., 2013).

As presented in literature, McDaniel et al. (2017) presented a qualitative case study on the stakeholders' perspectives about the PBIS program from high-need schools who have had experience in implementing the PBIS program. McDaniel et al. (2017) wanted to have an understanding of how the PBIS program was perceived and implemented by the stakeholders. There was a purposeful selection for participants in the focus group, which was semistructured. It consisted of former employees who worked at the high-need schools, teachers from the K–12 grade level spectrum, school professionals, and administrators. Results from the high-need schools varied based on fidelity, grade level, buy-in, and the support of administrators. McDaniel et al. (2017) concluded that high-need schools require alternative discipline, which the PBIS program provided. Schools that implemented PBIS reported lowered rates of suspensions, special education referrals, and it improved the school's environment. It is also believed that the PBIS program could improve academic performance once it was executed effectively (McDaniel et al., 2017).

PBIS Professional Development and Training

The PBIS program highlights the importance of continuous professional development for teachers and those in leadership positions (Sugai & Horner, 2009). The PBIS model is a process for establishing school wide environments that are effective for accomplishing academic and social goals. The intervention approach supports continued positive behavior practices where teachers can monitor successes or challenges with the program. There is continuous progress monitoring while making decisions about classroom rules and procedures. Data is collected on a regular basis pertaining to student discipline referrals. The data is essential for several PBIS purposes in order to provide clarification and priority, match intervention practice, evaluate research-based practice with student responsiveness, practice fidelity, social and ecological validity, and implement efficiency, effectiveness, and relevance (Sugai & Simonsen, 2012).

In a quantitative study Stanton-Chapman et al. (2016) evaluated the effectiveness of the PBIS program, which consists of a Tier III model framework. This framework reduced student classroom behavior, in 10 Head Start (HS) classrooms, where behavior problems among children in preschool have been the teachers' main concern. The externalized behaviors are the ones most problematic (Snell, Berlin, Voorhees, Stanton-Chapman, & Hadden, 2012). Carter and Norman (2010) stated that evidence-based practices should be implemented at the early childhood educational level in order to address challenging behaviors. Individualized interventions programs are short-term and insufficient in teaching proper behavior and social skills to preschoolers. In addition, teachers lack the training to implement effectively research-based strategies to preschoolers (Carter & Norman, 2010). The PBIS Tier III support system met the needs of the preschoolers and was effective in connecting intervention methods to classroom practices (Carter & Norman, 2010; Stanton-Chapman et al., 2016). Workshops were provided for teacher and student training. Tier I classroom practices encouraged all preschoolers to focus on academic engagement through consultation. Tier II targeted preschoolers who needed intervention with social skills. Tier III interventions were individualized and required a behavior support plan (BSP) based on data from a functional behavior assessment (Dunlap et al., 2010). The PBIS implementation for Tier I was a four-week period, Tier II for 10 weeks, and Tier III for four weeks. Results indicated that the PBIS Tier III program improved the overall classroom quality (Dunlap et al., 2010). The preschoolers' social skills based on the Social Skills Rating System increased from the pre- to post-assessment, and problem behaviors decreased based on the Child Behavior (Dunlap et al., 2010; PBIS, 2017; Stanton-Chapman et al., 2016).

In a qualitative case study, Collins and Ryan (2016) used an A-B-A-B research reversal design. It was an experimental design that included an initial baseline phase, intervention phase, a withdrawal phase, and a reintroduction of the intervention phase (Barlow, Nock, & Hersen, 2009).

According to Collins and Ryan (2016), the implementation of the PBIS program was often executed in a holistic environment with emphasis on improving academics and social behaviors.

Collins and Ryan's study extended the PBIS program to school bus drivers. The goal was to reduce student behavior during the times when students were in transit to and from school each day with school bus drivers using PBIS strategies. The drivers received one hour of PBIS implementation training a week for eight weeks. The training consisted of acknowledging appropriate student behavior, using positive reinforcement to encourage positive behavior, providing clear expectations to students, understanding how to respond to negative behavior, using the ratio of 4 to 1 of positive to negative student interaction, understanding student perspectives, and making professional as well personal connections with the students. Following the training, small group meetings were held with the bus drivers to discuss progress and to develop new strategies as needed to address specific student behaviors on the bus. Based on the PBIS data results from this quantitative study, during the first intervention phase, the mean number of daily bus referrals were reduced from 0.9 to 0.2 referrals per day, and from 0.8 to zero during the second intervention phase. Overall, procedural fidelity for this study was 93.5%. The administration believes that the professional development for the drivers was the best part of the PBIS program (Collins & Ryan, 2016).

Another PBIS quantitative study was conducted in a youth psychiatric partial hospital program where there had been limited research in this area (Reynolds et al., 2018). The purpose was to examine if a modified version of the Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (M-PBIS) would reduce seclusion/restraint among the youth psychiatric patients. The study took about 26 months with a pre and post design. The PBIS program featured positive behavioral expectations, reinforcement of expectations, positive staff recognition, and full support from stakeholders. As a result, there was a decreased from 33.3% to 12.9% in medication for

agitation/aggression. The study concluded that M-PBIS is a natural intervention that can be used with in psychiatric partial hospitals services to reduce and/or eliminate seclusion/restraint among the youth psychiatric patients. Such an intervention can assist youth psychiatric patients greatly with improving mental health (Reynolds et al., 2018).

Fidelity. Successes of the PBIS approach is often accomplished when implemented with fidelity at the tier level(s) assigned within the school system. Implementation with fidelity in PBIS has three principles, which provides meaning (PBIS, 2017). Fidelity in PBIS is:

- Fairness—Each student must be treated the same with recognition and attention and rewarded for positive behavior in the same way.
- Reporting—A reporting system is used to determine how teachers are using the PBIS program to reward students as well as to report student conduct. It also allows teachers to determine their successes and challenges using the program by setting and meeting classroom management goals with their students in their classrooms. Accurate reporting helps to provide fidelity of the program.
- School Store—Staff and teachers are to make student rewards attainable and available (PBIS, 2017). Reward items should be provided in the school store for the student body as a motivator for students to achieve academic or social goals.

According to this literature review, when the PBIS program is implemented with fidelity, success of the program academically and socially are realized in U.S. public schools (Noltemeyer, et al., 2018). This review also has limited research on the challenges or barriers to the PBIS program. There is a gap in research on teachers' challenges with the PBIS program. Carter (2017) stated in his qualitative action research, there can be barriers when implementing PBIS: (a) inconsistent incentives necessary to encourage continued student rewards, (b) lack of effective yearly staff buy-in towards the PBIS approach through PD sessions which is necessary to sustain the fidelity of the

program, and (c) effective staff implementation of the PBIS program with fidelity (Carter, 2017). Schools that implement the PBIS with low fidelity can struggle with operational challenges within the program (PBIS, 2017).

Support. A supportive administration is necessary for all teachers implementing the PBIS program within the school system. Administrators have high expectations of teachers as it relates to classroom management. As a result, when challenges arise in the classroom setting, teachers question their capabilities and effectiveness in the profession, which in turn induces many of them to (Postholm, 2013). According to Postholm (2013), there has been much research on effective classroom management, but very little research on how teachers apply or use behavioral management practices in the classroom setting to assist with student learning. Unfortunately, many educators out of frustration with classroom disruptions choose to leave the profession because of ineffective management within the educational school system (Rusk, 2013).

The research of Rusk (2013) and Wong and Wong (2005) indicate that successful classroom teachers had an understanding that good class management takes place by creating an active learning environment in the classroom (Wong & Wong, 2005). Through his research study, Rusk (2013) concluded that using a holistic, PBIS approach towards classroom management by incorporating students' opinions and ideas during instructional lessons might reduce the number of classroom disruptions (PBIS, 2017; Rusk, 2013; Sailor & Dunlap, 2010; Sailor et al., 2009). Rusk (2013) and other researchers Clunies-Ross, Little, and Kienhuis, (2008) postulate that, when effective classroom management practices were identified, teachers' stress level were reduced, positive classroom culture for students were established (Schein, 2010), and having proactive discipline strategies amended the classroom environment (Partin, Robertson, Maggin, Oliver, & Wehby, 2010). The PBIS approach incorporates a social constructivist perspective on student learning by creating new meaning and knowledge of how best students can conduct their behavior

positively. Ongoing professional development and having a supportive administration team may help make a difference in behavioral classroom management.

Review of Methodological Issues

The literature review on behavioral classroom management to explore student behavior in the classroom environment focused on both qualitative, quantitative, and one mixed-methods research was also used in the studies presented. The researchers theorized as well as analyzed behavioral classroom management practice and its effectiveness in the classroom environment. The strengths and weakness of the research gathered will assist with setting the stage for justifying the method of this qualitative study.

Much of the literature in this review focused on qualitative case studies, which provided information on how the PBIS approach is used in U.S. schools to address disruptive student behavior (Berg & Aber, 2015; Collins & Ryan, 2016; Dwyer, 2013; Halliburton, 2015; Houchens et al., 2017; McDaniel et al., 2017; Rusk, 2016; Sugai & Simonsen, 2012; PBIS, 2017). These qualitative studies are exploratory in nature gaining insight from opinions, perspectives, and experiences of the participants. These studies provide a repository of sources through interviews and observations that illustrate positive outcomes from the implementation of the PBIS program. The review supports the use of the PBIS approach in many school-wide systems noting improvements in student behavior after intervention strategies were implemented (Banks, 2014; Betters-Bubon et al., 2016; Bradshaw et al., 2015; Collins & Ryan, 2016; Freeman et al., 2016; Halliburton, 2015).

It is important to note that qualitative studies have methodological limitations that can impact the findings on behavioral classroom management among fourth and fifth grade teachers using the PBIS approach. For example, these limitations include having a small sample size of 10, and identifying variable definitions, which are not easily measured requiring extensive time for

data collection in the field as well as data analysis for the effectiveness of the study (Creswell, 2013). In addition, qualitative studies are a form of social and human science where guidelines or procedures change based on information gathered from participants' perspectives. Therefore, participants' individual differences shared during interviews can complicate how the study is planned, executed, and judged once completed (Creswell, 2013).

There was limited literature on quantitative studies about the PBIS approach. Quantitative research allows the investigator to use claims to develop knowledge through inquiry through experiments, questionnaires, and surveys. Data is then collected on the predetermined instruments for statistical data and analysis (Creswell, 2003). A quantitative methodology would not completely capture the problem of teachers' perspectives using the PBIS approach in classrooms.

The mixed method approach to research is mixing qualitative and quantitative strategies when collecting and analyzing data in a single study (Creswell, 2003). Mixed methods consist of combining observations and interviews (qualitative) with surveys and/or questionnaires (quantitative) during data collection. Knowing that all methods have some limitations, using the mixed-method approach can help to neutralize bias and provide insight that can be gained at different levels during analysis (Creswell, 2003). Mixed-methods are used in research today, but not used often in social and human sciences (Creswell, 2003).

One study in this literature review dealt with a mixed-methods framework that accounts for lived experiences (Sieberer-Nagler, 2016). Sieberer-Nagler (2016) indicated how teachers shared their views on the importance of having a positive classroom climate through effective classroom-management and having positive teaching when relating to students (Sieberer-Nagler, 2016). Questionnaires, surveys, and classroom observations were also used in the study. Of the teachers surveyed from the American Federation of Teachers (AFT), 17% stated that they lost four or more hours of teaching during each week due to disruptive classroom behavior (Sieberer-Nagler, 2016).

Through observations as well as questionnaires, the study pointed out findings in classroom management practices, teachers' views on student behavior, the importance of praise to motivate students, and much more (Sieberer-Nagler, 2016). Using the mixed-method approach was informative and beneficial to an unbiased study. There were no studies found using a mixed methodology dealing with using the PBIS approach towards improved student behavior in the classroom setting.

Synthesis of Research Findings

Research has demonstrated that when teachers establish a well-structured classroom, student behavior is better managed, which may result in high student performance (Yi & Lee, 2017). Lewis et al. (2012) stated that behavior concerns in the classroom setting is one of the main reasons teachers feel disconcerted in the profession. The greatest frustration that educators experienced was the inability to develop good relations with students (Davis, 2017; Freeman et al., 2016; Friedman, 2006; Hansen, 2014; Houchens et al., 2017; Kagan, 2014). Establishing good relations with students, may allow teachers to experience less stress and teacher-burnout in the classroom (Friedman, 2006; Karaj & Rapti, 2013).

The components that justified this study were defining behavioral management using the PBIS approach, the impact the approach has on student behavior in elementary classrooms, and the importance of continued PBIS training and professional development for educators and community members (Reynolds et al., 2018; Stanton-Chapman et al., 2016; PBIS, 2017). Sources were combined or integrated the sources from the literature review to form a cohesive whole, which identified the patterns among subtopics (Machi & McEvoy, 2016). This process facilitated the discussion of strengths and weaknesses of sources, compared and contrasted methods, approaches, and findings of researchers (Machi & McEvoy, 2016).

The PBIS approach defines behavioral classroom management as a well-managed classroom environment through behavioral routines known as the behavioral law (McDaniel et al., 2017; Reynolds et al., 2018; PBIS, 2017). This is not a traditional approach. According to Rusk (2016), the traditional approach, where teachers were the authoritarians in their classrooms, was seen as a weakness in classroom management. The traditional approach in addressing student behavior was understood as a weakness in classroom management (Davis, 2017; Rusk, 2016). Rusk (2016) learned from his research on behavioral classroom management that teachers used traditional management practices to control behavior. The author stated that the traditional practices used in the classroom to address disruptive behaviors pointed out that teachers were the authority as well as the sources of information, and students were the passive absorbers of information (Rusk, 2016).

Researchers have discovered that some educators used a more progressive or holistic approach when defining behavioral classroom management (Collum, 2012; Kohn, 2018; Rusk, 2016; Sugai & Horner, 2010). The PBIS approach is a holistic approach where students are active participants and problem solvers in the classroom limiting student misbehavior (Kohn, 2018; Rusk, 2016; Sugai & Horner, 2010). Collum (2012) posited that the classroom environment is a place where everyone had some degree of knowledge, and no one was seen as all-knowing. The holistic approach suggested that students must exhibit the desire by establishing ownership and student conduct (Collum, 2012; Kohn, 2018).

A positive classroom climate promotes a holistic approach to learning as well as positively influenced teacher/student social relations while improving teacher efficacy, which can enhance job performance and teacher satisfaction (Postholm, 2013; Rew, 2013). Rew (2013) asserted that principals played an integral part in enhancing teacher efficacy by promoting instructional practices that were supportive in behavioral classroom management. In contrast, Postholm's

(2013) study from research articles contributed knowledge in the area of classroom management and showed that classroom management was more about the teacher understanding the classroom as a social system. As a result, teachers and students related in the classroom setting, this interaction positively impacted teacher efficacy. Therefore, a teacher's behavior in the classroom was just as important as a student's behavior.

The PBIS approach has impacted student behavior in elementary classrooms. Similarly, Frey et al. (2008) stated many schools in the U.S. (over 5,300) made the decision to implement a positive classroom climate approach into their educational system, known as the School-wide Positive Behavior Support (SWPBS) approach. According to the authors, this approach was considered a behavior reform strategy that moved students towards exhibiting positive behavior on a regular basis in the school setting. It was based on a behavioral-ecological perspective (Frey et al., 2008). Unified discipline is key so that students take charge of their learning. In a school-wide discipline system, a statement of purpose, defined expectations, and encouraged expected behaviors helped to establish proactive behavioral routines for consistent school management and stability (Collum, 2012; Frey et al., 2008). According to Sugai and Horner (2010), the establishment of a PBIS approach in schools, aided with the development of effective behavioral classroom management for effective student learning (Fallon et al., 2015; Sugai & Horner, 2010). In addition, Sugai and Horner (2010) have provided behavioral management classroom intervention strategies using the PBIS program in a school-wide setting for educators to improve student behavior and relieve teacher stress and challenges in the classroom environment (Karaj & Rapti, 2013; PBIS, 2017).

Professional development (PD) sessions on a positive classroom climate to improve student behavior are important and essential. There has been an understanding that teachers should have more professional development and training programs in order to support students with behavioral issues (Reinke et al., 2014). The PD sessions brought about better classroom management through coaching within the classroom management program (Reinke et al., 2014). Teachers received support in the classroom to implement universal practices that supported students with disruptive behavior (Reinke et al., 2014). As a result, there has been decreased rates of disruptive behavior in the classroom setting resulting in an increase of prosocial behavior (Reinke et al., 2014; Sugai & Horner, 2010).

Critique of Previous Research

The review uncovered studies of theories on classroom management, positive behavior classroom management, traditional practices vs. the holistic approach, and the importance of teacher training that can lead to improvement in overall classroom behavior (Banks, 2014; Betters-Bubon et al., 2016; Bradshaw et al., 2015; Collins et al., 2016; Frey et al., 2008; Hansen, 2014; Houchens et al., 2017; McDaniel et al., 2017). The review also provided clarity of research for educators to use positive classroom management strategies to improve the effectiveness of behavioral management. In contrast to the literature that supports a positive classroom environment, some research disputes the practice (Canter, 1992; Carter, 2017; Davis, 2017).

A quantitative study took place with preservice teachers and their educational beliefs about classroom management based on teacher interactions with students compared with other educators in other groups (Okut, 2014). Data analyses were made using descriptive statistics. However, the study did not determine if the beliefs held by the preservice teachers on classroom management were supportive of classroom management than other veteran educators. This study could have used a mixed-method approach using interviews, classroom observations, or group discussions to find out what beliefs preservice teachers have that may need to be altered or changed to improve student behavior in the classroom setting. Combined methods are lacking in classroom management research.

Ozorio (2014) examined how teachers used the understanding of social and emotional needs to develop a positive classroom environment instead of excluding students because of behavioral issues (Lewis et al., 2012; Ozorio, 2014). The case study methodology dealt with two teacher interviews. Open-ended questions were asked which related to the topic of meeting the social and emotional needs of students. In addition, the researcher observed 26 students in third and fourth grade classrooms and gathered data on students' and teachers' interactions (Ozorio, 2014). The data analysis used answers the six preselected open-ended questions, which were reviewed, compared and contrasted with observation notes. Afterwards, common themes were coded. This provided the researcher with similarities and differences of daily activities from the observations and the responses to the interview from the teachers (Ozorio, 2014). The researcher learned that teachers needed to focus on the positive angle of student behavior instead of the negatives. If there was disruptive behavior in the classroom, it was observed that teachers would take the student aside and start with a positive comment and end the conversation with a positive comment as well. According to Ozorio (2014), it was understood that positive behaviors and attitudes from teachers and students created a positive classroom environment. Therefore, a positive classroom environment fostered student learning while keeping the class in order (Ozorio, 2014). This study imparted knowledge for continued practices creating a positive environment to minimize student behavior. The study does not point out what practices can be used when positive attitudes from the teacher does not work. Other positive behavior management approaches (if any) could have been explored in the study and noted as an effective alternative.

In a qualitative case study, Rusk (2013) provided further clarity of successful classroom management practices by having a knowledge of the importance of student engagement in classroom instructional practices, and the role culture plays in managing classroom disruptions. His study explored management practices in a private school from Pre-K to Grade 8 in central

Oregon. The qualitative methodology of this study explored the differences in specific classroom management strategies between teachers who had high numbers of Positive Behavioral Interventions and Support (PBIS) discipline referrals versus teachers who had low numbers. The researcher observed six teachers during instruction time, and afterwards they were interviewed. The researcher collected and reviewed photographs of the classrooms, and analyzed the PBIS classroom discipline referral forms. To determine the influence classroom management strategies had on classroom disruptions, the researcher analyzed the interview responses, management practices, classroom photographs, and the number of PBIS classroom discipline referrals. Rusk (2013) learned from the data that teachers used traditional practices, social-emotional feedback, class routines, PBIS intervention strategies, and a teacher-centered class climate to manage classroom disruptions (Rusk, 2013).

There were many teachers who used traditional practices in the classroom to address classroom behaviors. These practices indicated that the teachers were the authority as well as the sources of information, and students were the passive absorbers of information. According to Rusk (2016), the traditional approach had been seen as a weakness in classroom management. However, other educators used a more progressive or holistic approach where students were active participants and problem solvers. The teachers were more facilitators who guided and fostered thinking, promoting a positive behavior practice approach (Rusk, 2016). A quantitative methodology would have also provided insight from the teachers about their perspectives on a holistic approach. Questionnaires could have provided additional data to determine if traditional practices were used more than holistic practices to manage student behavior.

Professional development and teacher training are essential parts of keeping up with best practices in the teaching profession. However, there are limited sessions on classroom management. Reinke et al. (2014) discussed the importance of scheduling professional

development sessions relating to student behavior. Teachers have experienced challenges providing instruction while trying to manage classroom behaviors. The researchers' study support the idea that teachers need to have more professional development programs in order to support students with behavioral issues. Classroom management through coaching within the universal classroom management program is vital (Reinke et al., 2014; Sugai & Horner, 2010). The qualitative study discussed how teachers received support in the classroom in order to implement universal practices that help to support students with disruptive behavior. Based on the study, there have been decreased rates of disruptive behavior in the classroom setting resulting in an increase of prosocial behavior (Reinke et al., 2014). However, a limitation is that further research could be done to discuss the perspectives of teachers after training for continued administrative support with improvement in student behavior. If included, teachers could have had the opportunity to share their viewpoints on the importance and need for continued effective behavioral classroom management training sessions to assist with student discipline. It is important to sustain intervention programs that improve student behavior. The analysis could benefit other teachers and administrators in helping to improve student behavior based on teachers' perspectives. Major weaknesses in the studies dealt with the limitation of findings associated with the PBIS approach directly impacting student behavior in classrooms based on teachers' perspectives of the program, and the future direction for sustaining effective implementation of PBIS intervention (Pinkelman, McIntosh, Rasplica, Berg, & Strickland-Cohen, 2015; Yeung et al., 2016).

In conclusion, high expectations and demands regarding student behavior and achieve rest on teachers. Educators must understand that they play a vital role in the education of students, and should put forth their best to educate students for academic success (Collum, 2012; Reinke et al., 2014; Postholm, 2013). According to Karaj and Rapti (2013), even though there has been a decrease in many classroom disruptions based on intervention strategies to assist with teacher

management, there are still concerns. The desire for a solution to student disruption in the classroom should be addressed because it has been the greatest cause for stress among teachers in the educational profession (Karaj & Rapti, 2013). Expected behaviors from a school wide proactive approach should be encouraged and practiced on a regular basis (Frey et al., 2008). The desire for behavioral routines for consistent school management and stability can still be argued (Frey et al., 2008).

Summary

In Chapter 2, the literature review focused on behavioral classroom management in the 20th and 21st century classrooms. The scholarly research presented, critically discusses the findings of researchers and theorists in the field of education who believe teacher and student behaviors have affected the classroom climate (Bandura, 1986; Collum, 2012; Postholm, 2013). The chapter provides information on behavioral classroom management while sustaining a positive environment for learning (Bandura, 1986; Deaton, 2015). In addition, the literature review contained research studies on behavioral classroom management practices using a positive approach (Collum, 2012; Ozorio, 2014; PBIS, 2017; Postholm, 2013; Rew, 2013). This review of literature provides information to support the idea that even though there are disruptive students, behavioral classroom management intervention strategies are available through professional development and teacher training programs that can be used by teachers to instruct positive behavior and develop a favorable classroom climate.

Teacher attitudes toward students, and how they create and sustain a productive and positive classroom environment can determine student behavior. Understanding how to create a comfortable environment for students to learn should be a daily task that teachers can seek to accomplish. It is important to have a clear understanding of the human mindset through positive

social interaction in the classroom setting (Bandura, 1986). In Chapter 3, the researcher will justify the research design and methodology that was used in the study.

Chapter 3: Methodology

A qualitative case study was the design selected to explore elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth- and fifth-grade classrooms. The teacher participants at a rural school district in Virginia, despite efforts with the PBIS intervention program, continued to experience challenges with student behavior. For data collection, semistructured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up semistructured interviews (member checking interviews), and analysis of artifacts (participants' journals) were utilized to provide a better understanding of how the PBIS approach is implemented in fourth- and fifth-grade classrooms.

The following qualitative methods were not chosen for this study. Grounded theory research is when an inquirer generates an abstract theory of a process or an action that might help to explain a practice (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995). This study does not explain an abstract theory about the PBIS approach or a certain aspect of its practice. Ethnography research focuses on the study of people and cultures in society or in their natural setting (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995). While these methods were used in studies from the literature review, they were not appropriate for the context of this study.

Using the exploratory method in this study, I utilized a qualitative case study. Case studies provide an analysis into a case, program, or an event consisting of more than one individual and should focus on the research question(s) (Creswell, 2013; Stake 1995). It is used as a tool to investigate, explore, or describe the lived experiences from human beings in context of the real world (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995; Yin, 2018). Qualitative research places emphasis on an indepth exploration of perspectives and experiences (Creswell, 2013). This study provided an understanding of the perspectives and experiences of elementary teachers who use the PBIS approach in a small school district to assist with managing student behavior. Qualitative case

studies help support best practices for teachers who strive to manage student behavior for effective teaching and learning in the classroom setting. The case study approach was used to gain insight of elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms.

PBIS is a behavioral management approach that many teachers use in the U.S. public school system to help establish classroom management. A case study design was an appropriate methodology for exploring this study. A qualitative researcher can use the case study design to explore and find issues or concerns about an existing problem that has not been researched (Creswell, 2013). This exploratory qualitative methodology of the interview and narrative process is flexible and will provide an opportunity for the participants to voice their perspectives and experiences about the PBIS approach explain their thinking and experiences using the PBIS approach (Creswell, 2013).

Chapter 3 consists of the following components: research question, the purpose and design of the study, research population, sampling method, instrumentation, data collection process, and identification of attributes. I discuss the data analysis procedures, limitations of the research design, validation procedures, expected findings, and ethical issues. The chapter concludes with ethical issues and a chapter summary. The components of this research methodology, design, and justification are explained in the chapter.

Research Question

The exploration of teacher's perspectives of the PBIS approach was conducted using one primary research question that guided the study. The research question that this research study explored was: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms?

Purpose and Design of the Study

Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore teachers' perspectives and experiences of the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms in a Virginia school district. This study has added knowledge to literature that is conceptual pertaining to the life experiences of the teacher participants who were interviewed. Elementary teachers are the individuals who have experiences related to this study. The teacher participants provided their own perspectives of the PBIS approach, and how its implementation contributed toward addressing student behavioral issues or concerns in the classroom (Baker et al., 2016; Davis, 2018; McDaniel et al., 2017). This case study provided information about the PBIS approach in context.

According to Dwyer (2013), an extensive amount of research has been examined on the topic of behavioral classroom management in books, articles, and media presentations. There are studies where researchers examine behavioral techniques or strategies used in the classroom setting (Curwin, 2013; Woolfolk Hoy, 2000). These studies are older and a timely reexamination might be in order. Hansen (2014) and Spencer (2015) point to more updated research on the PBIS intervention program and its implementation in classrooms.

Research has provided much attention to the PBIS program and its impact on behavioral management practices in classrooms, but little qualitative research is available on fourth and fifth grade teachers' perspectives of the program (Fallon et al., 2015; Hansen, 2014; Spencer, 2015; Sugai & Horner, 2010; PBIS, 2017). There is a need to extend previous knowledge about behavioral classroom management using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms to provide literature with an understanding of viewpoints of the approach on this educational level (Hansen, 2014; Spencer, 2015). The goal is for teachers to have a greater understanding, as a result of this study, about the PBIS approach that can impact current implementation. Findings will help

the district with PBIS implementation and provide recommendations for professional development, training, or some type of support system at both grade levels. By understanding teachers' perspectives of the PBIS approach, further insight will be discovered thus impacting overall student behavior at this level in a single school district.

Design

According to Creswell (2013), in this qualitative case study design, the researcher focuses on the views and/or perspectives of the teacher participants. This method was used to explore and understand the case of elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences in their educational roles using the PBIS approach to assist with student behavior (Stake, 1995). The case study design was selected in order for the researcher to do an in-depth analysis of this case involving the PBIS program with fourth- and fifth-grade teachers within a school district in Virginia (Merriam, 1998; Stake, 1995). Using a case study approach allowed the researcher to glean how individuals create meaning from their experiences using interviews and analyzing relevant documents (Creswell, 2013; Merriam, 1998; Stake, 1995). This study used semistructured interviews and artifacts to collect data to better understand teachers' perspectives using the PBIS approach. Interviews allowed the researcher to present a descriptive narrative explaining teacher viewpoints on the topic for a deeper understanding of perspectives and experiences from this educational institution.

This study used digital recordings from semistructured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up semistructured interviews, and analysis of documents. The interview process provided the researcher with insight about the problem. This process allowed the researcher to probe further during interviews for a clearer understanding of teachers' perspectives of how student behavior is managed in the classroom. Follow-up interviews generated a new set of questions for further analysis, which helped to identify the challenges and successes behavior in the classrooms. It is the research questions that drove the study. Artifacts, another source of data, was used as analysis

documents to assist with credibility, validity, and reliability (Creswell, 2013; Yin, 2009). In addition, structured interviews from fourth and fifth grade teachers helped to reveal best practices that are a part of the PBIS program relating to student behavior. Teachers who willingly expressed their perspectives about using the program provided additional educational insights about whether or not the practices of the PBIS approach were helping in improving student behavior on this educational level.

Research Population and Sampling Method

Site and Population

This case study took place at a rural public-school district located in the state of Virginia. The school district for this study is located within an hour of a major suburban city in Virginia. The district population consists of approximately 4,000 students with a high percentage qualifying for free or reduced lunches. Student diversity consists of African American, White, and Hispanic with half of the district population being African American. Based on student gender, the percentage is about 50/50. The school system has three elementary schools, one middle school, one learning center, and one high school. This research study was conducted at two elementary schools with a combined population of about 1,600 students from kindergarten to the fifth grade. General education classroom teachers who work for the school district have a Bachelor's or Master Degree and are state certified. This site and population of elementary school teachers were selected for this study because the school district uses the Positive Behavioral Intervention and Support (PBIS) approach to assist with student behavior and academic management during each school year. Elementary teachers from fourth and fifth grade classrooms within the district were invited to participate in this study (see Appendix I).

Sampling Method and Size

The researcher secured a letter of permission from the superintendent, which specified the parameters for researching the school district. The researcher also made a request, in writing, to the school district and received documented permission to conduct the study. This information was requested and made available to the researcher for state law protection. It was important to make known the nature of the case study to the district office, schools, teachers, and sponsors (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995). The authorized letter requested from the school district is included in the record (Stake, 1995; Creswell, 2007).

Sampling Process

The selection process for teacher participants focused on fourth and fifth grade teachers at both elementary schools as a source for purposeful sampling. (Creswell, 2007). This type of sampling focused, reduced, and simplified the interview process (Creswell, 2007). Purposeful sampling allowed the researcher to have specific subsections of teacher participants whose knowledge on the topic was required for an in-depth study (Marshall & Rossman, 2011).

The 10 participants were selected from a target population of 24 teachers from the two schools in the district. Each participant had some knowledge of the PBIS approach and had used it in their classrooms for at least one school year. A sample of 10 teachers for the interview sessions was deemed as an adequate sample size to potentially achieve saturation during data collection and to identify themes and answer the research question (Creswell, 2013). A detailed criteria for selecting teacher participants is available in Appendix H. Once the names of the participants were gathered, an email was sent out indicating when a meeting would convene. All participants, agreed to be a part of the study by signing the IRB Consent Form with the knowledge that they have protection rights through Concordia University. A letter of request (see Appendix B) with written permission is included in the record (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995).

Instrumentation

This qualitative research case study design utilized multiple forms of instrumentation. This research study consisted of three data sources: semistructured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up semistructured interviews, and analysis of documents. These instruments were used to triangulate the data and provide validity to the study (Cresswell, 2013; Stake, 1995).

First Semistructured Interviews

Qualitative research provides the opportunity for teachers to present valuable insights and experiences through the interview process. Interviews are generally used in case studies and can help with explanations for the "hows" and "whys" when participants reflect their perspectives (Yin, 2018). According to Merriam (2009), the interview process can be executed in the form of highly structured (intensive interview), semistructured (in-depth interview), or unstructured interview (Merriam, 2009; Yin, 2018). This researcher used semistructured interviews consisting of questions created in advance to guide the session, yet provided the option for further inquiry or probing when the opportunity was presented to explore unexpected topics that were not related to the scripted questions (Yin, 2018). Semistructured face-to-face interviews allowed participants to share their thoughts candidly about the PBIS approach—thoughts that are not directly observable (Creswell, 2013). The interview process provided the opportunity for participants to present valuable insights and experiences. They provided information based on their educational experiences with the PBIS program and its impact on student behavior in their classrooms. Interview protocol and interview questions are located in Appendix D.

Follow-up Semistructured Interviews

After the first interview, the I analyzed the data and then follow-up with more questions providing an in-depth study for validity. The researcher will meet with the teacher participants a second time. The second interviews or follow-up interviews (member checking) will be reviewed

in order to verify the accuracy of the teachers' first interview responses that were initially expressed. Clarification of interview responses will be addressed. According to Yin (2018), it is important for the researcher to rely on other sources of data that will provide insight for understanding, clarity, and validity. It is also a good opportunity to build rapport or friendly relations with the teacher participants (Yin, 2018).

The follow-up interview sessions will allow teachers to have an opportunity to reflect on answers given during the first interview session and subsequently provide clarification or additional information. It is possible that the responses to the interview questions may not be consistent. However, this session can provide an opportunity to probe further and follow the researcher's own line of inquiry to validate the study (Yin, 2018).

Documents (Artifacts)

In this study, documents (artifacts) was another form of instrumentation. Artifacts are insightful features, items, or materials the teacher participants developed and used in their environment (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995; Yin, 2018). They were gathered in a variety of forms (Creswell, 2103). Documents were used to assist with credibility, validity, and reliability (Creswell, 2013; Yin, 2018). I used and maintained artifacts as supporting evidence to justify the study. Collected artifacts from teachers for this study included classroom tickets, teaching charts, and teachers' notebook or journal. These were items that teachers made and/or used in the classroom, items deemed appropriate for the research study in that they assisted with managing student behavior. Artifacts were collected and stored to establish ongoing PBIS implementation in fourth and fifth grade classrooms for stable credibility to the case study. However, the teacher participant interviews were the main source of instrumentation for the study.

Data Collection

Data collection is an important part of qualitative research (Creswell, 2013). It is during the data collection process where I gather information systematically from the research site (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995). Yazan (2015) and Stake (1995) stated that a qualitative case study has three data collection techniques that are often used: interviews, observation, and analysis of documents. In this qualitative case study, there were three types of data collection: first semistructured interviews, follow-up semistructured interviews involving member checking for credibility, and triangulation by the analysis of documents (artifacts).

The data for this qualitative research was collected from elementary fourth and fifth grade teachers who were using the PBIS approach in their classrooms. The PBIS approach has been used in many classrooms to assist with behavior management and aligned well with this case study. The circumstances for this research allowed for what was currently happening in the classroom setting. According to Bernard (1995), there are four goals for qualitative research: exploration, description, comparison, and testing models. This study qualitative research was exploratory and collected data in multiple ways. In this case study, the tools were documents of analysis (artifacts) and two interviews.

Following Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, I informed the Superintendent of Schools. Afterwards, the two principals were also informed and contact was made to all the teacher participants to schedule a meeting to go over the research and provided the opportunity for questions to be asked about the study. During the first meeting, all participants received informed consent forms (see Appendix A). Interview appointments were arranged with participants who agreed to be a part of the case study; timing and locations were based on participants' preferences. In addition, to the collection of data through two sessions of interviews, each teacher participant was asked to share relevant documents for the case study.

The data collected reflected the emic-perspective of the participants. Yin (2010) states, "an emic perspective attempts to capture participants' indigenous meanings of real-world events" (p. 11). It is data that was collected from the perspectives of those in the culture being studied. In this case study, the scope of culture was based on a small group of individuals who share the common characteristic of using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms.

First Semistructured Interviews

During the first interview session, I met with the teacher participants to gain a deeper understanding of their experiences using the PBIS approach. All interviews were scheduled at the selected site to accommodate the participants, and one hour was reserved for each interview. (Kvale & Brinkmann, 2009). A list of the interview questions was presented prior to the interview session, this provided the participants the opportunity to reflect and consider their responses (Gibson & Brown, 2009). This process was essential in creating and maintaining a comfortable environment for the participants.

I asked each participant the initial interview questions (see Appendix E). The list of interview questions are in sections. Section A, the use of PBIS program in the classroom setting, lists questions that allow me to gain a better understanding of how the PBIS program has been implemented in the school district and executed in the classroom setting. Section B, the knowledge of PBIS Program for effectiveness, are questions that gave teachers an opportunity to share their year(s) of teaching experiences in the district using the PBIS approach or using other behavior management strategies to manage student behavior. Finally, Section C, teacher efficacy using the PBIS program, asked questions about working in an educational environment with diverse students and required time and dedication needed for the task. This section allowed the participants to provide additional insight into their experiences using the PBIS approach that were not uncovered by the previous questions.

During the interview sessions, while the participants shared their experiences using the PBIS approach, I recorded all interviews via a password-protected mobile recording device. The audio interview files were then uploaded to a private Google Drive account and downloaded to a password-protected external hard drive in order to secure multiple duplicates of the original content. Audio files were transcribed using the NVivo software's auto transcription process. The transcripts were then coded in NVivo using the NVivo coding methods. This process proved helpful in highlighting the voices of the participants' specific words or phrases in their interaction during the interview that could not be understood using other coding devices (Manning, 2017). Immediately following transcriptions on a password-protected external hard drive which was stored in a locked cabinet at my home office. These documents will be deleted 3 years after this study's completion.

Follow-Up Semistructured Interviews

The secondary semistructured interviews followed the same protocol as the initial interviews. Each interview accommodated the schedules of participants. The questions during the follow-up semistructured interviews allowed teachers to share how their experiences may have changed during the study. During the recorded interviews, the same data collection protocol was utilized from the first interview sessions and as well as the password-protected mobile device for voice recordings, in vivo coding, transcribing, and data analysis. The IRB policy specifies destroying recordings after saving it for 3 years. Collected information from the data sources helped to provide understanding and build coherence to the study.

Documents (Artifacts)

For this study, an attempt was made to collect multiple document sources that were used to assist with the PBIS program such as teacher journals, posters, charts, classroom reward tickets,

etc. In addition, I requested teacher-created documents. A reminder via email requesting the documents prior to the first interview was sent to remind participants to share the said documents. At the conclusion of the first interview, participants were informed that they could provide additional documents in the follow-up interview.

For the duration of the study, additional types of documents were collected between interview sessions. Attempts were made to collect other documents such as lesson plans, curriculum guides, rubrics, and other artifacts the participants deemed important to the case study. These documents were shared through the school district's mail as well as by email. At the initial interview, participants were informed that they should use a large inter-department mail envelope to send and receive district mail that was relevant to the study. Mail between school sites were delivered internally through the district and proved to be an effective way for participants to share documents with me.

Finally, I looked for school and district records specific to PBIS professional development, training, and or programs that were available through public domain. These documents were also available on the district website. In addition, I secured information from the PBIS district coordinator who was able to provide data relevant to the study.

Identification of Attributes

The attributes that guided this study were elementary teachers' usage of behavior management strategies in fourth and fifth grade classrooms, professional development in the PBIS program to aid fourth and fifth grade teachers in managing student behavior, and perspectives and experiences of teachers regarding the PBIS approach. The teacher participants used the PBIS approach as well as their own behavior management strategies to address student behaviors in the classroom setting. Using the PBIS approach to teach positive behavior was an option for some teachers because PBIS training was lacking. How effectively teachers instruct positive student

behavior in fourth and fifth grade classrooms was based on the training received to teach and monitor students' behavior. The purpose was to understand the behavioral strategies used to manage misbehavior as well as the type of training teachers received or were lacking in order to address student conduct.

The perspectives and experiences of fourth and fifth grade elementary teachers using the PBIS approach was the focus of this research. The teachers shared behavior management strategies used in the classroom to instruct positive student behavior. However, not all teachers used the PBIS approach to manage student behavior. The teachers expressed concerns about effective PBIS trainings and school leadership support. The participants interviewed were state certified and had at least one full year of teaching experience in the school district. Participants were encouraged to share detailed information about their perspectives and experiences with the PBIS program by being honest, straightforward, and outspoken. The attributes contributed to a greater understanding of teachers' point of view concerning effective instruction to bring about positive student behavior. This case study attempted to explore how elementary teachers were prepared to teach the PBIS approach as a behavioral student management intervention tool in fourth and fifth grade classrooms.

Data Analysis Procedures

In this qualitative study, three forms of data were collected as evidence for analysis. The sources were first structured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up interviews, and analysis documents. It was necessary to have evidence from multiple sources creating triangulation and a stable foundation for the case study. In qualitative research, I should not rely on just one form of data source (Creswell, 2013). The data analysis procedure included triangulation to analyze the data sources so as to find commonalities within the information gathered. Denzin (1978) and Patton (1999) identified four types of triangulation: (a) method triangulation, (b) investigator

triangulation, (c) theory triangulation, and (d) data source triangulation. In this study, data source triangulation involved the collection of data from different types of elementary teachers to gain multiple perspectives and validation of data (Carter, 2014; Denzin & Lincoln, 2000; Patton, 1999; Yin, 2009).

The data analysis process is a spiral interrelated process which continues cyclically and simultaneously throughout the research (Creswell, 2013). Qualitative research does not have firm guidelines (Creswell, 2013). There was a constant analysis of data taking place to identify patterns and themes from teacher interviews (Creswell, 2013; Hatch, 2002). The analytic circle engaged me in an ongoing process of data collection, which were then coded, organized, and stored in computer files or large databases.

I processed the transcripts from the interviews using the inductive analysis process in a five step-by-step manner. To begin, it was important for me to:

- 1. Read and reread carefully the transcripts to identify frames of analysis.
- Next, relevant pieces of the transcript were labeled according to differences or anything that I believed was important to the study by creating domains. This step was referred to as coding or indexing.
- Then, I decided which codes were important and supported by the data. This was followed by the creation of categories or themes for them by searching across domains. The categories can be of different types.
- 4. Afterwards, the categories were labeled with a heading by deciding which ones were important or relevant. A master outline of the categories was made expressing connectedness or a relationship in some form across the domains. The connection of information are the results of the study.

5. Finally, I decided if one category was more important than another, and summarized the results. (Creswell, 2013; Hatch, 2002)

First Semistructured Interviews

The interviewer guided the first semistructured interview process with conversation about the topic through a series of questions (see Appendix C). During the first structured interview process, teacher participant responses were transcribed from digital recordings. Teachers were able to express themselves candidly in a private setting about issues or concerns knowing their viewpoints would be confidential (Yin, 2016). To fully understand teachers' perspectives about the behavioral classroom management practices, structured open-ended interview questions were utilized and the time frame was for approximately an hour in a single sitting. According to Ravitch and Riggan (2017), using interviews with open-ended questions, I would be able to go beyond typical experiences and understand better the teachers' perspectives in their own words.

Tailored questions were asked during the initial semistructured interviews (see Appendix E) in order to collect data (words/texts) from the participants with different perspectives based on their management experiences in the classroom setting. It was necessary to gather as much data from the participants during the interview process while exploring the effectiveness of the PBIS practices used to manage student behavior in the classroom. The data analysis rendered key categories for coding this information. By focusing on key categories the case study helped with refining the validity of the data collected during the thematic analysis. I used strong interaction and collaboration among the teacher participants to assist with the analysis process. The narrative texts were analyzed for patterns and themes from the teacher interviews followed with thematic analysis for interpretation of the study (Creswell, 2013).

Follow-Up Semistructured Interviews

Follow-up interviews (member checking) guided the second interviews for this case study. The texts from the recordings were coded for similarities of information as well as themes that align with the research question. Inductive analysis was used to organize the data collected from a bottom up process building patterns, categories, and themes. The inductive process was used to get an understanding of the themes, and was mainly used during the follow-up interviews (member checking interviews) or second interviews to assist with the consistency of comprehensive themes.

Analysis of Documents (Artifacts)

Artifacts, which consists of participants' journals, lesson plans, curriculum guides, rubrics, and other artifacts used in the classroom to support the PBIS approach was another part of the data analysis process. Artifacts are classroom items or materials the teacher participants develop and used in their environment to aid with student behavior (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995; Yin, 2018). To support the data analysis acquired from the study, collected materials such as PBIS charts and other items were used to refine and link together a clear description of the theme understudy. The concepts and themes were then put together to build an explanation through the narrative process, which was then interpreted through theories presented in the theoretical framework (Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Stake, 1995; Yin, 2009).

Throughout this case study, procedures were organized in a clear, precise, and logical manner. Field notes from structured one-on-one interviews and follow-up interviews were written into descriptive narratives for coding and data analysis (Creswell, 2013). The narratives were analyzed through NVivo output, and the exact transcript has been provided with an experiential understanding of the teacher interview sessions (Creswell, 2013; Stake, 1995).

Limitations and Delimitations of the Research Design

It is important to note that there were limitations and delimitations that may restrict the case study. The limitations are indisputable truths that I did not have any control over but must be identified and reported (Ellis & Levy, 2010). The delimitations deal with me acknowledging the threat or risk of generalization of the results of the study (Ellis & Levy, 2010). Delimitations are characteristics that demonstrate the scope of the study. (Simon, 2013).

Limitations

Limitations must be acknowledged in a study help maintain reliability and validity. In this study the potential limitations are: (a) teachers may volunteer for the study yet have limited time to discuss or answer interview questions with clarity, (b) the teacher participants are from the same school district, and (c) all 10 participants in this study provided their own experiences with fourth and fifth grade students regarding the PBIS program. This study provides experiences from a group of teachers in a southeastern state of the Unites States.

Upon examining the research and comparing findings of teachers' perspectives on behavioral classroom management, there was limited research of how teachers view the importance of the PBIS approach, and how they use innovative strategies including the PBIS program to manage the classroom setting. Postholm (2013) points out in her article, that The Dutch researcher, Wubbels (2011) stated, there had been limited research on the teachers' perspectives on classroom management. It was important to find out how effective the PBIS program is working in this school district. Acquiring teachers' viewpoints about their systematic plan of action on behavioral classroom management has provided a wealth of information for administrators and teachers.

Delimitations

The delimitations arise from limitations in the study (Simon, 2013). Delimitations are boundaries that I created within the study. The delimitations for the study are: (a) teacher participants are from the two elementary schools, (b) have received some knowledge or training of the PBIS program, and (c) shared information from their perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach to validate the study. The experiences discussed during the interviews using the PBIS approach were based on the participants' own practice(s) of how student behavior was managed in the classroom setting. Teacher professionalism through classroom management helped to determine how well the PBIS approach was being used in fourth and fifth grade classrooms.

Another delimitation was the understanding of the study. The PBIS program is being evaluated based on teachers' perspectives and experiences using the PBIS approach in the fourth and fifth grade classroom environment. I concluded that the teachers believed this study was being done simply because teacher may have concerns pertaining to the PBIS student behavior referrals, and how discipline was being handled within the district. The PBIS program was often used in educational environments where student behavior was a major concern (PBIS, 2017; Sugai & Horner, 1999).

It was inferred that not all teachers in grades 4 and 5 wanted to participate in the study. As a result, the sample was small. Also, there could have been bias on how the interview questions were heard and understood by the teachers, which is why I first piloted the questions. It was important to note that there was no discussion with the teachers pertaining to the PBIS program prior to the interviews. I did not define any terms associated with the PBIS approach for the teachers. Each teacher participant had an opportunity to explain his or her perspectives and experiences with the PBIS program as to how it was working in the classroom environment.

Validation

According to Bloomberg and Volpe (2012) the qualitative study must be trustworthy. When qualitative research is trustworthy, then it is recognized as credible, dependable, confirmable, transferable, and authentic. To increase reliability and validity, it is important to note that the case study consisted of enough data from teacher interviews and artifacts to conclude the study. Credibility derives from sufficient research results that correctly reflect the study, and dependability refers to the stability of data (Creswell, 2013). Transferability specifies that the findings can be transferred to other contexts (Creswell, 2013; Yin, 2018). I transferred or generalized information from interviews of the teacher participants based on the information shared to provide meaning to the study during analysis. Authenticity refers to when I can plainly describe the teacher participants' experiences (Creswell, 2013; Yin 2018).

Credibility. When information is credible, it refers to believing that the data presented has truth in the findings. The validity of the study establishes credibility as to whether the results from the study reflects the supported data gathered. The strategies that were used to increase validity and credibility are data triangulation, the examinations from the interviews, member checking, and document (artifacts). During interviews, member checking took place on a regular basis to avoid too many inaccuracies in transcriptions. The process of member checking ensures that the participants' perspectives and experiences are accurate and transparent.

External validity strategies were limited in that teacher participants using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms represented a school district. Therefore, the conclusions of the study may not be valid to different populations of fourth and fifth grade teachers using the PBIS approach. However, a researcher may consider transferability if the teacher participants are similar in other school districts with like conditions. Generalizations and

transferability are limited to a case-by-case basis because of individual circumstances and uniqueness to the study.

Dependability. The understanding of dependability means that there is stability of the data presented over time even in different conditions. Reviewing the findings with other researchers for accuracy and meaning confirms the objective of the study. The dependability in this study consisted of the descriptive report(s) of the teachers' perspectives and experiences using the PBIS approach, triangulation of the first interviews, follow-up interviews, my position, and conclusions of the effectiveness of the PBIS program. My position was included to point out the seriousness in maintaining the highest ethical standards with integrity, which can help to justify accuracy and confirm the interpretation of findings (Yin, 2018).

Expected Findings

The expected findings in this case study showed several factors and conditions that influence behavioral classroom management using the PBIS approach. A few expected findings could be for a better understanding of the PBIS program used with fourth and fifth grade students. Through the first interviews and follow-up interview sessions, teacher participants potentially obtained a greater understanding of how best to interact with their peers, staff members, and with fourth and fifth grade students. The teachers may also have a greater understanding of the successes using the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms, and why there could be challenges with behavioral classroom management practices, techniques, or strategies used by the program to monitor and control student behavior.

The experiences shared by the teachers encompassed student behavioral concerns in the classroom setting. I provided an analysis of research data from the study to add insights to literature. Based on teachers' perspectives and experiences of the PBIS program, findings could help teachers consider student behavior management approaches. Further examination can promote

continued ongoing learning about the PBIS program as it relates to behavioral classroom management. When I am ready to report the findings of the qualitative data, it will be presented so that the stakeholders will understand the process and the results. (Stake, 1995).

Ethical Issues

Conducting this case study, I considered certain ethical issues to reduce questions of credibility. It was important for me and the teacher participants to take into consideration integrity as well as prejudices and/or biases. The tendency of bias shown by me could question the analysis of how the study was conducted. Reporting preliminary findings to a few colleagues helped to minimize bias (Yin, 2018). Colleagues offered alternative suggestions for data collection and this helped in diminishing bias (Yin, 2018). The interviewer also avoided bias by taking precautionary measures. In doing so, I ensured accuracy and professional competence in addressing the study as an investigator to find information that will benefit literature (Yin, 2018).

Conflict of Interest

This researcher is an educator who explored the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms with other educators for their perspectives on this management tool. Many of the teachers were not known personally by me. However, I do have professional associations with the district in this study. This case study design was for teachers to share their views about a positive behavior program designed to assist with behavioral classroom management to improve student learning. This research had no knowledge of the teachers' perspectives. All management strategies were known and practiced by each teacher in their own classroom environments.

Each year, the school district has a professional development session for their teachers. The goal is to improve student behavior with the hope of improving academics. Annual PBIS sessions suggested more information was to be presented to teachers based on the evaluation of student behavior in the district. This study only explored fourth and fifth grade classrooms to determine

how the PBIS approach professional development sessions have impacted the two grade levels. Therefore, there was no conflict of interest in this study.

Researcher's Position

According to Yin (2018), it is important for a case study researcher to devote serious effort towards maintaining the highest ethical standards while doing research and to finish the project with integrity (Yin, 2018). Such standards require having responsibility, honesty, avoiding deception, and falsifying information (Yin, 2018). Even though this was expected of me, teachers were not required to abide by these ethical standards during the study.

As an effective Christian leader it is important to have organization, communication, knowledge, and vision in accomplishing a vision. Teaching is a profession that is admired, and has the trait of leadership. Positive classroom management is the goal of many educators who believe in academic success (Rusk, 2016). Therefore, when teachers and administrators collaborate for the good of excellence in students, great things can be accomplished.

Deductive disclosure was prevented during this case study. It was important for the teacher participants' identity to remain unknown and protected. During each interview, the participants' privacy was preserved. Each teacher participant was assigned and identified according to letters of the alphabet. This information was shared with each participant before signing the IRB consent form to be a part of the study. Teacher names or other personal direct identifiers were not used. Instead, I assigned a letter of the alphabet to each of the 10 participants at the beginning of each interview session. Further in the study, the letters were changed to pseudonym names. In addition, a locked safe deposit box was used to keep collected artifacts and recoded data until the documents were no longer needed for the study. This process assured identity protection.

Privacy was established for all teachers involved in the research process to protect confidentiality. Trust was established and fostered with all parties in order to facilitate the research

success. Also, there was no personal or financial connection from me to others that would have created a conflict of interest. The researcher avoided any influence in the research. It was important that the researcher be herself/ himself. Stake (1995) stated seven role choices that researchers make during a case study: (a) how much to participate personally in the activity, possibly the interview; (b) how much to pose as an expert, and how much comprehension to reveal; (c) whether to be a neutral observer or an evaluative, critical analyst; (d) how much to try to serve the needs of anticipated readers; (e) how much to provide interpretations about the case; (f) how much to advocate a position; and (g) whether or not to tell it as a story (p. 103).

Ethical Issues in the Study

I secured a letter of approval from the superintendent authorizing the qualitative case study. The IRB Board at Concordia University provided the authorization to use teacher participants (human beings) in the study. The sample comprised of 10 elementary teachers from fourth and fifth grade who participated in the first interviews and follow-up interviews (member checking) sessions. The participants completed an informed consent form, which explained the guidelines of the study, the interview process, and the overall procedures of the case study.

Deductive Disclosure Risk

Deductive disclosure is when an individual's identity is compromised based on known unique personal characteristics of that person. The risk of deductive disclosure was of significant importance to this researcher. It was my responsibility to ensure that the privacy of all teacher participants was not disclosed. Therefore, several steps were taken to ensure that the risk of deductive disclosure was reduced or alleviated.

Each participant well-informed about the purpose of the study, what it was about, and how their responses to the interview questions would be used. All teacher participants were given the opportunity to remain confidential or not and a consent form was signed. The consent form is a

document allowing a participant to withdraw from the study for any reason. It is an ongoing process. It was up to my creative ability to find a population that would have certain nuances of teaching skills and educational performances in order to provide meaning and depth to the research.

I protected the participants' confidentiality by limiting the demographic information reported in this study and by using pseudonyms or codes to conceal identities. I also considered a request to the Superintendent of Schools to have an independent person read the case study report before the data was released to ensure that identities from the school district are not compromised. Privacy protection was vital to this study and were not compromised.

Summary

In summary, I used a qualitative research case study with thematic analysis to explore elementary teachers' perspectives of the PBIS approach and their experiences narrating the challenges and successes using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. Sugai and Horner's (2002) PBIS model and Bandura's social cognitive theory (1986) are two models that support the conceptual framework of this study. This framework creates a cohesive report of the behavioral practices around the PBIS approach.

Structured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up interviews or second interviews (member checking interviews), and analysis documents (artifacts-participants' journals) were the primary means of data collection. The transcripts were processed for an analysis of data through a five-step process for a summary results analysis report. I will present the report to stakeholders who will read and benefit from the research study. The necessary steps for conducting this research were conducting a literature review, establishing a theoretical and/or conceptual framework, selecting a research problem, developing research questions, and deciding on the participants to

conduct the research (Stake, 1995). These steps led to a strong, effective, and ethical study. I prepared for the collection and analysis of the data, which will be discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4: Data Analysis and Results

This case study was designed to explore teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms in a suburban school district. The study allowed for me to identify the experiences elementary teachers had implementing the PBIS approach to classroom management (PBIS, 2017). Ten elementary teachers participated in this study. They provided input about their teaching experiences using the PBIS approach through interviews and documents. This study addressed the research question: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms?

In this chapter, a complete description of each participant for the qualitative case study is presented as well as the research methodology. The description provides context into the participants' teaching backgrounds. Chapter 4 continued the study with the research methodology and analysis data. The data for the study was collected from Semistructured Interviews, Follow-up Semistructured Interviews, and documents. The data results are presented, and the chapter concludes with a summary of the findings.

Description of the Sample

In this qualitative case study, 10 elementary teachers from the HES were invited to participate. The PBIS approach is utilized in this school district. All participants have been exposed to the PBIS approach through staff meetings, staff or professional development, and/or district training sessions during the previous school year. The teacher participants are authorized to teach all subject areas at the elementary level. The total years of teaching experience by the participants ranged from one to 15 years.

Description of Participants

This section of the study provides a description of the teacher participants. The recruitment of participants at HES was done through flyers, emails, and individual outreach to elementary

teachers. There were 12 teachers licensed in grades K–6 who responded by emails, text messages by phone, or face-to-face communique. These avenues of communication were used to make sure there was a common understanding of willingness to participate and the requirements for the study. Of the 12 participants who showed interest in the study, 10 were randomly selected based on email responses. Table 1 presents an overview of the pseudonyms, the grade level taught, and number of years teaching experience. All participants are licensed to teach at the elementary level, K–6.

Table 1

Pseudonym	Current grade level	Years of teacher experience
Rose	5th	17
Sarah	5th	1
Andrea	5th	9 (*4)
Kimberly	5th	8 (*2)
Janet	4th	8 (*5)
Brenda	4th	1
Phillip	4th	1
Mary	4th	11 (*3)
Ivette	5th	12
Millie	5th	24 (*9)

Overview of Teacher Participants

(*) = Years Taught in School District

Rose

Rose has been teaching for 17 years. All 17 years have been at the elementary level in the same school district. This teacher has taught in third, fourth, and fifth grades. This participant also has a BS in Interdisciplinary Studies & Emotionally Disturbed, and a MA in Special Education. This classroom teacher's perspective is that behavior management is essential in the classroom. However, the PBIS approach is not emphasized in the classroom. Instead, other teacher-made

behavior management strategies are taught to the students. In addition, the resource, The First Day of School by Harry K. Wong is used and referred to as needed. Rules and expectations are created during the first days of school. Class choices determine consequences or infractions. A discipline chart is created by teacher and students, homework passes distributed, extra recess given, and teacher-student relations are emphasized in the classroom to manage student behavior. Rose also has the designation of mentor to new teachers as assigned by the administration.

Sarah

Sarah has been teaching for one year at the elementary level with student teaching experience at a private school. At the time of this study, Sarah was in the second year of teaching. This teacher has taught only fifth grade. The participant believes that classroom management benefits student learning, classroom structure, and student behavior in the classroom. The participant uses the PBIS approach in the classroom setting to reinforce positive behavior. She believes that the PBIS program works, if it is utilized well. For this educator, consistency with the program is important. Sarah has received some PBIS approach hand-outs through staff training PD sessions, but reported that the information received was not enough. As a result, this educator uses the resource, Whole Brain Teaching by Chris Biffle, to assist with classroom management strategies.

Andrea

Andrea has been teaching for nine years at the elementary level. This participant also has a MA in Elementary Education and has taught fourth and fifth grades. Andrea uses the PBIS approach in the classroom setting combined with the resource, Whole Brain Teaching by Chris Biffle. This teaching professional believes that all students should be acknowledged for their behaviors whether it is negative or positive. PBIS training has been received through staff development. However, the belief is that the PBIS approach would work better if there was more

consistency with the program throughout the school building. Reward incentives may or may not work depending on the student. Andrea created an intervention behavior plan with students who had challenging behaviors. It helped students reflect on their negative behaviors while trying to reach the daily set goal(s).

Kimberly

Kimberly has been teaching for eight years at the elementary level. This teacher has taught fifth and sixth grades. The teacher participant has used the PBIS approach in the classroom setting for the past three years. To address student conduct using the PBIS approach in the classroom, incentives/rewards are given in hopes of receiving the desired outcome. If not, parent(s) are contacted as needed and a behavior referral given to address matters. This teacher believes in using the PBIS approach and other strategies of her own to address student behavior. Using a positive STAR Chart helps with monitoring behavior.

Janet

Janet has been teaching for eight years and enjoys working with kids. The participant has been employed with the current district for the past five years. Janet uses the PBIS approach in the classroom setting to help students learn classroom routines and what to expect when positive behaviors are followed. This participant believes that classroom management is extremely important and children should be held responsible for their own behaviors. As a result, the interview focused more on how the teacher organized and implemented behavior management strategies learned from past educational experiences in the classroom setting.

Brenda

Brenda has been teaching for one year and has always wanted to work with kids. Family members are a part of the educational profession which created the attraction to become a full-time elementary teacher. The family members serve in Special Education and in Early Childhood

Education. This participant believes that using the PBIS approach can work well with all students regardless of culture or ethnicity. The perspective is that community involvement and love for the school environment can help to sustain positive student behavior for student success.

Phillip

Phillip has been teaching for one year. The decision to go into teaching was based on the desire to help children. This participant wants to be a shining light to all school age children. Based on PD sessions, Phillip uses the PBIS approach from the beginning of the school year to the end. The belief is that this approach helps to build a teacher-student relationship with emphasis on "big positives" which are known as connections in the classroom. Phillip is planning to teach for as long as possible or until retirement because the educational profession is seen as a life calling.

Mary

Mary has been teaching for 11 years at the elementary level. This teacher has taught third, fourth, and fifth grade students and believes that professional growth is essential to good teaching. The PBIS approach has been used in the classroom and consistency with rewards has been found to be essential to the program. Mary does not use any other classroom management strategy in the classroom. For this educator, consistency is key with all management strategies. This participant loves the process of learning. The desire for wanting to become a full-time teacher began as an English Student Learner (ESL) tutor. The belief is that building a relationship with each student is indispensable in order to get to know them well so that they can succeed regardless of student background.

Ivette

Ivette has been teaching for 12 years at the elementary level in the district. This participant was a social worker before joining the teaching profession. Ivette has taught fourth and fifth grade students. This participant has a knowledge of the PBIS approach, but does not use the PBIS approach in the classroom setting. The belief is that students today are privileged with teachers and administrators using the rewards approach to address student behavior which does not work with 5th graders. In addition, the participant believe that schools as they are currently constructed are setting students up for failure in society because a rewards approach is not the reality of life. This participant's love for teaching is waning, but will remain in the educational profession because it provides family stability.

Millie

Millie has been teaching for 24 years at the elementary level in the district. Prior, this participant also taught at the preschool level for about 15 years. Millie has some knowledge of the PBIS approach, but chooses not to incorporate the approach in the classroom. Instead, other teacher-made behavior classroom management strategies are used to address student behaviors. The perspective is when it comes to managing student behavior, the teacher must be direct and to the point while observing and monitoring student conduct.

Research Methodology and Analysis

In this intrinsic study, I utilized a qualitative case study design to explore and gain a deeper understanding of elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms (Stake, 1995). The case study was designed to describe the experiences and perspectives of elementary teachers who are implementing the PBIS approach within the context of real life (Yin, 2018). The research question that guided this research study was: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms? The data from this study comprised of responses from primary semistructured interviews, secondary semistructured interviews (Hatch, 2002), and artifacts collected from the individuals interviewed, the school, and from professional development training, staff meetings, as well as from classroom management materials.

Analyzing the semistructured interviews in this study, the inductive analysis model was used moving from specific data to a search for patterns and then themes (Hatch, 2002). The interview sessions were recorded digitally to assist with this process. Afterwards, teacher participants were given the opportunity to review interview transcriptions, the analysis report, and to ask questions for clarity in regards to the data collected. The participants did not find any need for revisions. Typological interpretive analysis was used to analyze the documents collected in the study (Hatch, 2002). All data collected were coded using the Nvivo software to assist with data analysis for identifying themes.

Data Collection

In this study, data was collected in three phases during an eight week period. First, I conducted semistructured interviews with the teacher participants by phone during a two-week period. Second, data from the interviews were analyzed along with the documents (artifacts) collected from the participants interviewed. Third, I conducted secondary semistructured interviews with the teacher participants by phone as a follow-up based on the analysis of the first round of interviews.

Initial Semistructured Interviews

I contacted the school's administration by email (see Appendix B) and received approval to do a study on the PBIS approach in two elementary schools within the district. Recruitment flyers, emails, and phone contacts assisted in identifying potential teacher candidates in fourth and fifth grades. There were 10 teachers selected from the recruitment process. All 10 teachers responded by phone, email, or in person that they would be interested in participating in the study. I forwarded the Concordia consent form (see Appendix A) to sign and email back, indicating their agreement to participate in the study. I received all signed consent forms. A signed copy was emailed to each participant for their records.

One week before conducting the interviews, I emailed the participants' initial interview questions so they had time to prepare and reflect on the questions. When dates and times were scheduled and confirmed, participants were contacted at the appropriate time for the initial interviews. All participants consented to having digital phone conference interviews and were informed that journal notes also would be taken during the sessions to assist with accurate documentation.

The initial interviews for this study was conducted over a two-week period because this allowed me to explore the teacher participants' perspectives and experiences in a thorough manner (Hatch, 2002). I collected interview data from the 10 teacher participants during an allotted 60-minute interview session. Each interview was conducted over the cellphone during a scheduled time and location where teachers were comfortable in their own personal spaces and candid in their responses.

I digitally recorded each interview. My cell phone was set on speaker so that the voice recorder could easily record each participants' responses. I also took notes in my own recording journal to assist with accuracy of responses by member checking, and to follow-up with questions which I added to the Interview Protocol/Guide and Questions section in Appendixes D and E. I asked each participant 18 questions. Questions 1 through 10 focused on use of PBIS program in the classroom setting. Questions 11 through 15 focused on knowledge of PBIS program or training for effective transition in the classroom setting. Questions 16 through 18 dealt with teacher efficacy using the PBIS program. Follow-up questions were asked as needed based on the responses.

After each interview, the recording was uploaded on my computer, and I transcribed them. I used Nvivo Transcriptions to transcribe all saved digital recordings. Each transcribed interview was then converted to a PDF document. The transcripts are saved documents on the computer. I

spent a couple days reading through the transcriptions and listening to each recorded interview a second time to ensure that the transcriptions were accurate. After completing the transcriptions, I shared the transcripts with the participants via email to confirm accuracy and to give the teacher participants an opportunity to make additions or corrections. Each participant responded that the transcriptions were accurate and no corrections were needed. Using the Nvivo software, each transcript was coded providing assistance with structuring secondary semistructured interview questions.

Documents

After the initial semistructured interviews, I asked each participant to share documents that assisted them with incorporating the PBIS approach in their classrooms. I requested by phone and email for documents that I thought would provide information on the steps the teachers used or were currently using to assist with instructing the PBIS approach to fourth and fifth grade students (see Appendix J). I requested behavior referral forms, School-Wide PBIS Expectation format, teacher journals, and printable reward incentives. The participants followed-up on my request via email and submitted documents in this manner throughout the study. The participants chose to scan and send files through their district email accounts. I also went to the district's website to collect information pertaining to the research question.

All participants provided me with documents. However, not all the documents requested were received. Therefore, documents were requested from the administration in order to gain a better understanding of the PBIS program. I also went to the district website in search of publicly available documents to collect that were related to the research question. I found documents and resources pertinent to PBIS expectations and behavior referral reports which were submitted for all the schools. The additional documents provided a clearer understanding of how the PBIS approach has been implemented in the district and supported the teachers' experiences using the approach.

Secondary Semistructured Interviews

Following the initial interviews, I analyzed the data by looking through all the transcripts. After analyzing the data, I noticed a two trends related to the PBIS reward practices in the classroom as well as consistent school-wide support of the program. I used these two trends to assist me in developing seven additional questions (see Appendix F) to ask each participant during the secondary semistructured interviews. The additional questions were created to support the information already collected, clarify and elaborate on the findings from the initial interviews, and to provide additional information from the first initial interview on teachers' perspectives and experiences of the PBIS program (Hatch, 2002; Yin, 2009).

Notes were taken in my writing journal to record impressions, gestures, and additional comments as the participants were speaking. The teachers elaborated further on the trends I noticed during my analysis of the initial semistructured interviews (Hatch, 2002; Yin, 2009). Questions 1 and 2 asked the participants to confirm their years of teaching experience, years of experience in the school district, and the credentials they hold. Question 3 asked the teachers to discuss how using the PBIS approach and/or their own classroom management strategies assist with effectively teaching student behavior based on student ethnicity or culture using the reward system. Question 4 dealt with teachers sharing their perspectives of how best to teach positive student behavior. Question 5 asked the participants to share their opinion of additional support that would benefit them in effectively addressing challenging student behaviors. Question 6 allowed the participants to address the importance of teachers, administrators, and parents understanding the implementation of the PBIS approach with fidelity. Question 7 encouraged the participants to share any additional information that was not included in the interview sessions.

The interview questions were prepared and shared with each participant prior to both the initial and secondary scheduled interviews. In this way, the teachers were able to prepare mentally

by reflecting on the questions and their possible responses. It also allowed for responses that were reflected upon and thought through. The secondary semistructured interviews occurred six weeks after the initial interviews. The interviews took two weeks. They were conducted over the cellphone with a digital recorder during a scheduled time and location by the participants. The secondary semistructured interviews lasted between 14 and 40 minutes. Following the completion of the interviews, I transcribed them on the Nvivo transcription, read through the transcripts, listened to the recordings, and made editing corrections on the transcripts to ensure accuracy. The transcripts were emailed to all teacher participants to confirm accuracy and to make clarifications. All participants confirmed that the transcripts were accurate.

Data Analysis

Steps for the inductive analysis procedure was used to analyze the collected data from the initial and secondary semistructured interviews (see Appendix J). Steps for the interpretive analysis (see Appendix K) was used in order to analyze the documents received from the teacher participants, the school, and the district website (Hatch, 2002). The collected documents included PBIS charts, School-Wide PBIS Expectation format, printable reward incentives, and public available documents related to teaching, and implementing the PBIS approach in the district.

Based on the data collected, I was able to categorize the information received and began the inductive analysis approach (Hatch, 2002). While condensing the varied data, I was able to establish clear links which identified patterns and frequent emergent themes. The following section will present the inductive steps to explain how the patterns and themes were inherent in the raw data collected (Thomas, 2006).

Initial Semistructured Interviews

Hatch's (2002) inductive analysis model was used to analyze the data collected from the initial semistructured interviews. I began with the reading of all transcriptions to get an idea of the

content the participants shared while checking for accuracy. Afterwards, I emailed the transcripts to the participants in order for them to check for any information that might be inaccurate or missing. The participants noted that there were no corrections needed to the transcripts. This allowed me to proceed with the data analysis. The transcripts were read again in order to identify frames of analysis that could be easily analyzed. Upon review, I was able to identify semantic relationships in the preliminary frames of analysis that lead to creating three domains: (a) experiences teaching PBIS, (b) motivation for teaching the PBIS approach based on in-service training, and (c) support from school administrators and parents. This was done while marking the entries in accordance with the frames of analysis that were related to the domains (Saldaña, 2016).

During the inductive analysis process by examining and comparing data, each domain was coded by assigning a color to text segments that had similar concepts, differences, or opinions which lead to patterns, relationships, and generalizations (Saldaña, 2016). It was necessary to reread the data while refining the three domains. This was done by keeping a record of where the patterns and relationship were found and to decide if the transcripts had examples to support the domains. First, I used "lumper" coding in order to create codes that focused on categorizing the data in a holistic manner (Saldaña, 2016). Using this method of coding, I identified 16 codes that were code related. While coding, I reread the transcripts and separated the relevant codes. Next, I analyzed each code and labeled them to a category to further reduce the data. The categories created were revised and refined to create specific categories. In this way, I was able to get the meaning or essence of the participants' text segments. Afterwards, I identified patterns and relationships within the data that were meaningful (Hatch, 2002). Finally, after reducing the collected data, one-sentence generalizations were created with support from selected data excerpts. The next step was to find emergent themes.

Documents

Documents from the initial semistructured interviews were collected and analyzed using Hatch's (2002) interpretive analysis model. Artifacts were received from participants, administrators, and the district's website. The items collected for analysis were word documents from teacher journals, PBIS PowerPoint pdf from in-service school training, positive behavior referral forms, classroom behavior posters, lists of reward incentives, pages from the school's website describing the PBIS program at each elementary school, School-Wide Expectations Matrix as Positive Behavior Intervention Supports documents from the district website, and transcripts from the participants.

The interpretive analysis approach began with collected documents. I identified impressions to be analyzed. After three or four readings of the documents, I identified four interpretive patterns. The four interpretations I identified included: (a) PBIS program description, (b) consistent documentation, (c) rewards and incentives, and (d) student behavior expectations. After identifying the interpretations, I assigned each interpretation a color and highlighted each document by its interpretation to identify the differences between the data of the collected documents. Each document was read by interpretation and the main ideas recorded on a summary sheet. Patterns, relationships, and themes were found within the interpretations from which a summary was written. Patterns were identified and coded using Saldaña's (2016) coding process. Then, I looked for data to support the patterns. I found relationships among the patterns, and then wrote one sentence generalizations based on the patterns. Afterwards, I selected excerpts from the data to support the generalizations.

Secondary Semistructured Interviews

To analyze the data collected from the secondary semistructured interviews, I continued to use Hatch's (2002) inductive analysis model. All transcripts were read for accuracy to have an

understanding of the content the teachers shared and to check for accuracy. Afterwards, the transcripts were emailed to each teacher participant to check for editorial corrections. The participants stated that there were no corrections needed to the transcripts. Then, I proceeded with the data analysis. The transcripts were read again to identify frames of analysis that could be analyzed. After further review, I was also able to identify semantic relationships in the frames of analysis that supported the three domains aforementioned: (a) experiences teaching PBIS, (b) motivation for teaching the PBIS approach based on in-service training, and (c) support from school administrators and parents. These semantic relationships were confirmed while marking the entries with the frames of analysis that were related to the domains (Saldaña, 2016).

Examining and comparing data during the inductive analysis process, each domain was coded by assigning a color to text segments with similar concepts, differences, or opinions leading to patterns, relationships, and generalizations (Saldaña, 2016). I reread the data while refining the three domains by keeping a record of where the patterns and relationship were found and confirming examples to support the domains. "Lumper" coding was used to create codes that focused on categorizing the data holistically (Saldaña, 2016). Using this method of coding, I confirmed the 16 codes that were code related, analyzed each code, and labeled them to a category. Upon reducing the collected data, one-sentence generalizations were created with support from selected data excerpts. The next step was to identify the emergent themes.

In this study, four themes filtered through overlapping categories. The emergent themes were: (a) overwhelming dissatisfaction with administrators' implementation of the PBIS approach with fidelity in the schools, (b), no training, or inadequate PBIS training has been offered to teachers especially as it relates to handling students with challenging misbehaviors, (c) the PBIS rewards given to manage student behavior at the Tier I level is relatively effective, but not effective at the Tier II and Tier III levels, and (d) more support from school officials and parents

are needed to assist teachers in managing student misbehavior when utilizing the PBIS approach in the classroom to meet the social and academic needs of fourth and fifth grade students.

I searched for additional evidence that supported the themes. The themes justified the patterns, relationships, and generalizations in the study. An outline was then created to identify all the relationships within the domains to assist with a written summary of the study.

Documents

Documents from the secondary semistructured interviews were collected and analyzed using Hatch's (2002) interpretive analysis model. Artifacts were received by email from teacher participants. The items collected for analysis were additional positive behavior school referral and conduct forms used as documentation of student conduct. These collected documents were added to the first set of collected documents and analyzed. Most of the requested documents in Appendix G were provided.

The interpretive analysis approach continued with the collected documents from the secondary semistructured interviews. I identified impressions to be analyzed. After three readings of the documents, I assigned each document interpretations, each interpretation a color code, and highlighted the document with its interpretation to identify the differences between collected data. The documents were read by interpretation and the main ideas recorded and included for a complete written summary of patterns, relationships, and themes. One sentence generalizations were written based on the patterns and selected excerpts were used from the data to support the generalizations.

Reducing the data process brought about three themes: (a) different approaches to classroom management, (b) consistent documentation of student behavior in the classroom, and (c) student expectations taught in an organized, caring, and supportive environment with teacher incentives. Reviewing the collected documents, I continued to search for evidence to support the

themes as well as evidence that did not support the themes. One-sentence generalizations were written to support each theme. Then, I created a flow chart to show the relationship between the themes and the written data examples that provided clear evidence to support the findings (Hatch, 2002).

Summary of Findings

Based on the findings, this study revealed that elementary teachers experience challenges to teaching and implementing the PBIS approach effectively to fourth and fifth grade students. Some of those challenges come from negative student behavior. However, significant challenges come from the school and district administration. It seems as though external barriers have prevented teachers from instructing and implementing effective management to their students. The teacher participants described their perspectives and experiences of their in-service PBIS training, the inconsistency with the behavior management program of the schools, and the school leadership support.

The educators shared their experiences of the in-service PBIS training. Although eight of the 10 elementary teachers indicated receiving in-service PBIS training within the district, one of the eight teacher participants who received PBIS training does not teach or use the program with their students. The teacher taught her own behavior management approach in the classroom setting. In addition, two of the 10 teacher participants have not received in-service PBIS training, but have been given informative materials about the PBIS approach. In addition, the two teacher participants who did not receive PBIS training do not teach or use the approach with their fourth and fifth grade students in the classroom. They are not comfortable with the reward incentives. The eight elementary teachers who have attended the in-service PBIS training shared how the information received is limited and does not address challenging student behavior in a timely and effective manner. The participants addressed how the in-service PBIS training provided more

paperwork for teachers to complete when addressing poor student conduct in the classroom. Teachers are instructed to address challenging behaviors using a management process that requires a school's strategic plan. This involves a few steps of continued written documentation to justify the removal of a student from class. Unacceptable student behavior must be written down and discussed with the misbehaving student two to three times before an office behavioral referral is written. The teacher must complete all required steps to correct student behavior before the principal or assistant principal is informed. The participants mentioned that each year professional growth opportunities are provided by the administration. However, more professional growth opportunities involving or relating to the PBIS approach should be provided specifically relating to behavior management strategies. In this way, positive student behavior management can be effectively taught, implemented, and managed in fourth and fifth grade classrooms and in the school district.

The participants shared their perspectives on the importance of consistency when addressing student behavior. The teachers stated that there is inconsistency with the implementation of the PBIS approach within the schools, impacting fidelity. The participants noted that the school administrators are not consistent with how behavior is handled. If a student is sent to the office for misconduct, most often the student will return to the classroom without an effective consequence for his actions. When a behavioral situation becomes unsafe for teachers and other students in the school, then administrators will execute a punishment such as in-school or out of school suspension. Administrators expect teachers to address challenging student behavior in the classroom. However, school officials do not provide the consistent support needed to assist the educator in alleviating the problem or change the student behavior. Inconsistency with immediate consequences for poor student conduct is severely lacking. Teachers also shared how they rely on each other through teamwork to assist with combating student behavior in a consistent

manner. Teamwork is executed through grade team meetings, through teachers observing other classroom teachers noting student behavior strategies that are effective, and through student "time out" where a student is placed in another classroom or grade to prevent continued in-classroom disruption.

The teacher participants also addressed school leadership support. According to the participants, more support from school administrators and parents is needed to manage student behavior. Teachers use their own creative strategies to combat the misconduct of students because of insufficient administrative PBIS training for teachers, misunderstandings of the PBIS approach, and student management disagreement with the PBIS approach. Of the documents collected, more than half of the data revealed information on teacher-made artifacts including behavior charts, graphs, and posters that teachers used to teach student behavior management. Teachers also noted that parents should provide support in the classroom and at home. If parents are also knowledgeable of the PBIS program, then there is a better home and school connection through collaboration with addressing student behavior. The teachers acknowledged trying to provide a positive learning environment through teacher-student relations. The strategy of establishing a teacher-student social interaction has assisted greatly in curbing unwanted behavior.

Despite challenges in curtailing student misbehavior, teacher participants felt empowered while teaching discipline, self-control, and responsibility to their students daily. The data received from the interviews and the collected documents revealed themes that were able to support the research question. The emergent themes will be discussed.

Presentation of the Data and Results

This study included data from two sets of semistructured interviews and collected documents. The inductive analysis steps were used for the initial semistructured interviews and the

secondary semistructured interviews (Hatch, 2002). The interpretive analysis steps were used for the collected documents.

Semistructured Interviews

Using Saldaña's (2016) reference to assist with coding during the analysis process, I was able to gain a better understanding of the data which revealed patterns and themes through the coding process. The data and analysis process resulted in 16 codes that emerged with four themes (see Table 2). In this section, the data and analysis of the findings are presented.

Table 2.

Overview of Themes and Codes

Theme number and developed theme	Code
Theme 1—There was dissatisfaction with administrators' implementation of the PBIS approach with fidelity in the elementary schools	Fidelity Leadership's understanding of PBIS Teachers' use of other behavior classroom management resources
Theme 2—No training, or inadequate PBIS training has been offered to teachers especially as it relates to handling students with challenging misbehaviors	More PBIS training is needed Monitoring student behaviors Use of PBIS sites
Theme 3—The PBIS rewards given to manage student behavior at the Tier I level is relatively effective, but not effective at the Tier II and Tier III levels	PBIS rewards Teacher incentives Ineffective behavior system Student culture Teacher-student relations PBIS documentation Parent support Teacher-to-teacher support
Theme 4—More support from school officials and parents are needed to assist teachers in teaching the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms in order to meet the social and academic needs of the students	School leadership and staff relations Recommendations to leadership with teacher support

Theme 1: Dissatisfaction with administrators' implementation of the PBIS approach with fidelity in the elementary schools.

The first theme focused on how teachers shared their perspectives towards the strong dissatisfaction with how administrators implemented the PBIS approach at the elementary schools in this study. The participants indicated that administrators are inconsistent with implementing the PBIS program. Administration must be consistent with what they say and do when correcting student behavior so that students understand that their misconduct is unacceptable. All of the participants agree that administrators need to receive effective professional PBIS training to establish fidelity in the program. The codes that support this theme are presented below.

Code 1: Fidelity. The implementation of the PBIS approach in the elementary school(s) lack fidelity. Based on the perspectives of teacher participants, administrators have not effectively implemented the PBIS approach school-side effectively. The rules and expectations of the PBIS program is outlined on each school's behavior expectation matrix. However, the concern is that students who demonstrate consistent positive behavior expectations are not rewarded or publicly recognized for their efforts in a timely fashion on a regular basis by the administration. Instead, emphasis is placed on students who misbehave. Therefore, Tier I students who follow the rules 75% to 80% of the time, only do so briefly. Then, Tier I students with repetitive disruptive behaviors are not given consequences immediately to abate misconduct. As a result, rewards and incentives are not effective tools to control student conduct, so teachers find the PBIS program ineffective at times.

Rose stated:

In the beginning before the district changed the name to Positive Behavior Intervention and Support (PBIS), the name was In-school Suspension (ISS). Just from the name alone there was respect. Now, they call it Positive Behavior Intervention and Support. That in itself gives a mixed message to a child. Because were so afraid to call it discipline, that it gives them an advantage because it is seen as positive behavior support. They don't even recognize that PBIS is a consequence. Now, it could be useful, but more so for K–2 because that's when you're instilling respect for the people in the building, respect for the routines in the building, and respect for the things that are in place in the building. By the time they get to grades three, four and five, if it has not been used properly, then it has lost its value. PBIS has a place, but I think we are so conditioned to not calling the misbehavior negative (or whatever), that it's all mixed because you're calling it positive behavior. So

the students say, "Oh I can do that." But they don't get it. We're not supposed to point out negative behaviors. So, students believe that they can do anything. Then, Ms. Brown (pseudonym for staff) is the only one in charge of the PBIS room, and I don't think it's a one person's job. When you really have it, so that it's something more than just you got kicked out of class, then you know that administration have to beef up what they do, and how they do it. They have to organize things better. It's important. They have to organize things better so that students understand that their actions are not acceptable.

Brenda was very passionate and reflective in responses. This educator mentioned that core values should be taught in schools by teachers and administrators. Moral values get lost between the expected positive behavior from the students and the rewards that are eventually given them for proper student conduct. There is no connection or meaning of value taught. Brenda stated, "I don't see the PBIS consequences preventing students from fighting. In fact, the students did not get consequences for their negative behavior. The system is broken."

Millie pointed out that the PBIS program is not working. Administration must be consistent with consequences. Millie stated, "The PBIS approach is not effective in our school and that is why it is not taught in my classroom". Sarah mentioned that the PBIS program at the school is 50/50. There is no consistency with the program. The administrator(s) are not properly executing the PBIS program effectively. Sarah stated, "I use my own behavior management. It is based on what is expected at the beginning of the year, and the routines are set. I don't teach or use the PBIS approach."

Code 2: Leadership's understanding of PBIS. Although administrators may have some knowledge of the PBIS program, the teacher participants commented on how administrators, school board, and even parents need PBIS training for a better execution of the program in the elementary schools. It is extremely important for administrators to be well versed with the PBIS

program in order to reinforce positive student behavior. In addition, parents should also have a good understanding of the PBIS program so that they can continue to reinforce positive behavior of their children at home which can help to solidify positive behavior at school.

In summary, Andrea stated:

Administrators need to be out in the trenches. In other words, they need to be out of their offices walking around the school building. There is no reason for them not to be seeing the behaviors and understanding the behaviors of the students. If they are well versed in the PBIS approach, then they should reinforce what is happening in the classroom. They do need to take a step out of their offices and see what's happening instead of going straight to a referral or calling a parent saying that, "I can't deal with this today." Sometimes they simply look the other way and tell the teacher to handle it which just reinforces the negative behavior they are getting. When positive behavior is not reinforced, they get something else. Then, it just explodes. They get negative reinforcement from the negative behavior, or positive reinforcement for negative behavior. So, it needs to be a full circle. Parents need to be well versed so that they have an understanding of what the schools are doing. They need to know why we are praising the positive. There are times when I say something great about a student based on the little milestones they have reached from the struggle. Parents just rolls their eyes because it's not an A or a B the student has achieved. Parents don't hear me praising their kid because they have worked so hard. Parents don't understand that. Students are deflated by their parents when they go home after they hear us praising and pushing them even when they take baby steps, and then the student thinks, well, I thought I did well, but I guess I did not.

Code 3: Teachers' use of other behavior classroom management resources. Three of the 10 teacher participants in this study have used the PBIS approach on a regular basis to assist

with teaching students positive behavior. The remaining seven teachers draw from other resources other than the PBIS approach to assist them with instruction on teaching and modeling acceptable behavior. Andrea uses growth mindset and self-monitoring to teach and model good student behavior. Mary uses the program, Time to Teach, which consists of strategies by Andre Wong from the First Week of School. When these strategies are taught at the beginning of the school year and reinforced, students learn and adopt to the new classroom management style environment which encourages positive student behavior and promotes student achievement. Other teachers use teacher-made behavior charts with lesson plans, Cass Dojo, and stress the importance of having the trust of students. Sarah uses the PBIS approach to reward students. However, the Whole Brain Teaching method is used mainly for teaching positive behavior. This particular method helps in establishing routines in the classroom, and allows the routines to build throughout the school year for effective management.

Sarah stated:

I use the Whole Brain Teaching method for classroom management. It has helped. It goes through the procedure for the whole brain teaching. There are about five steps that you introduce and teach at the beginning of school the first day. It talks about raising your hand to speak, or raise your hand to get permission to get out of your seat. So they follow these procedures from the beginning of school throughout the end of the school year. You also use hand motion as well as talking to reiterate content and things. So they get use to patterns of things, and they use the whole brain method to learn it. So, they're engaged. It makes it a lot better when you are instructing so that the students are totally engaged in

what you are teaching. The other students can be doing something else like drawing or coloring while you are providing instruction.

Theme 2: No training, or inadequate PBIS training has been offered to teachers especially as it relates to handling students with challenging misbehaviors.

In order to understand the need for PBIS training related to the positive behavior of students, there was a need to first understand to what extent the teacher participants received professional development training of the PBIS program. The teachers' knowledge of the PBIS program helps to determine if the participants were prepared to teach the PBIS approach to their students effectively. Seven out of 10 teachers indicated that there was inadequate PBIS training provided to them especially for students with challenging behaviors. Three out of 10 teachers stated that they did not receive PBIS training. All of the participants agreed that more PBIS training is needed for teachers and administrators in the district. The following codes discussed below support this theme.

Code 4: More PBIS training is needed. The PBIS approach is a program that requires teachers, administrators, and other school officials to receive ongoing professional development and training for the benefit of a positive school environment. PBIS training provides the opportunity for the program to be executed with fidelity. Teacher participants pointed out how there was not enough ongoing PBIS training in the school which encouraged teachers to use their own resources to teach positive student conduct. Rose, Sarah, and Andrea received materials about the program, but did not receive PBIS training. Rose stated, "I have never received training for PBIS. I didn't know about it until last year. I still call it In-School Suspension (ISS)." Phillip received no PBIS training, but is interested in receiving PBIS professional development. Millie, Janet, Brenda, Mary, Ivette, and Kimberly indicated that they received a little PBIS training, but ongoing training is needed, and the school should move forward in that direction. Kimberly stated,

"Even if it's an hour of training that can be given, telling teachers what to do and what type of awards are available, would be beneficial."

Sarah agreed and added:

There should be more PBIS training in our school especially for new teachers coming into the district. I didn't get any training. I remember maybe I had one session with papers given out to teachers, maybe, on this. So, I would say that there needs to be more widespread training, or anything to help and assist with student behavior. There definitely needs to be more training.

Code 5: Monitoring student behavior. It is important for teachers to monitor and document student behaviors. Three teacher participants in this study who do not teach the PBIS approach monitor student behavior based on teacher-made behavior charts, positive notes, and other teacher incentives such as extra recess. The other seven teacher participants who have a little understanding of the PBIS approach may use PBIS Red Card rewards for the school's red card store, PBIS Hedgie Dollars, positive referrals, and other rewards of their own creation in the classroom setting.

Rose stated:

I don't really use PBIS approach to monitor student behavior. The principal may give it to them, but very rarely do I write referrals or do PBIS. Most of my students will get referrals from having infractions on the bus or from a staff member in the cafeteria. For me, it is more of a choice and consequence system. At the beginning I let my kids know that every choice has a consequence, and I build that understanding from the beginning. I'm constantly consistent with it, and I don't react one way or the other. It is what it is. Whether it's a minor infraction or whether it's severe, consistency is the thing. So in my class it's a choice and consequence system, and I use those words. It's a choice or consequence. There

is no back and forth about it. Now, I'm not a teacher who call parents a lot. I don't use parent calls, and I don't use the referral card. I deal with the issue inside the classroom using the class. If a student did something in the classroom, I point out the effect it has on the class, and I ask them what do you guys think? There are times when I ask the student to give me their consequence. You have to decide what consequence you get. I recognize whether or not they can match the consequence to the infraction. But if they give a consequence that does not match like some wacky-dacky consequence when they know it does not "fit the crime", then I'll come in and give a proper consequence. After a while they learn to be honest and learn to choose consequences that match the infraction. Mary stated:

I tried to use the PBIS approach. I used red cards to assist with monitoring behavior. Our school had a store, and students can collect red cards for good student behavior. The cards added up to be used at the red card store. That's the main way that I used the PBIS reward system in our school to monitor student behavior. Those students who were motivated by the cards looked forward to having them. However, some of my other students didn't care. So, it works well for those who are motivated by it, and not for the ones who don't care. Some students were motivated by the red cards and some were not. Consistency is key to the PBIS program. There were times during the year when I was not consistent with using the red cards because of being busy or because I felt as though I was not getting much from the PBIS program. Looking back, regardless of what you choose to assist with student behavior, especially if it's PBIS, if you're not consistent, it's not going to work. Close to the end of December of that year, the red cards did not impact positive student behavior. I

stopped using the cards. They were no longer effective. I didn't see the need to continue to use them.

Code 6: Use of PBIS sites. All the teacher participants have not accessed PBIS information available online to assist them with teaching the approach to their students. The teachers would rather receive professional training on the program with effective implementation by the administrators. However, Rose, Millie, and Ivette do not use the PBIS approach even though they have some knowledge about it. Ivette shared that the program works well for the lower grades, Kindergarten to second grade, but does not work well for fourth and fifth grade students.

Ivette stated:

I am aware of the PBIS approach even though I do not execute it in my room. The school where I work have implemented them. My issue with the PBIS program in my opinion is, we shouldn't give rewards for what students are supposed to be doing. That's my philosophy. You are expected to do your work, and you are expected to behave. That's how I run my classroom. I am not comfortable with the reward system from the PBIS program. Students are expected to behave whether they receive a reward or not. Therefore, I have not accessed PBIS information online, nor will I do so. It does not work for my students, and I don't believe in it.

Theme 3: The PBIS rewards given to manage student behavior at the Tier I level is relatively effective, but not effective at the Tier II and Tier III levels.

The teacher participants discussed how the PBIS approach with reward incentives is more effective at the Tier I level. At this level, most students listen and follow school expectations with minimal resistance. When this is done, the students are rewarded for their efforts. All participants stated that at the Tier II and Tier III levels, the PBIS approach has not been effective. The rewards

and teacher incentives used in the program with students at these two levels have not transformed student misbehavior.

Code 7: PBIS rewards. Using the rewards system in the PBIS program to monitor behavior has been a challenge for the educators in this study who use it. The teachers expressed that they must be consistent with rewarding students for their efforts. If not, the impact of providing rewards may not be as effective to curtail student misbehavior.

Kimberly stated:

The PBIS rewards approach helps most of my students. However, some students it might help, but then it has to be adjusted because the students get tired of the same rewards. Within the school itself, the program works the same. For some students it works to improve behavior. For other students, it works at the beginning, and then it does not. It all boils down to consistency. How consistent we are makes a difference. I know sometimes that I may forget to give out rewards to the students. There are times when I may say to a student, I owe you this, or I owe you this ticket, but then I forget. So, that may hamper the PBIS rewards program a little bit. As a whole, I think it helps most of my students. I think it helps about 80%. You still have about 20% where it could go either way. As long as the program stays consistent, I believe it works. Some teachers think that the reward has to be candy or something that the students can eat or hold. I found out that giving other rewards can be just as effective. For example, I may give 10 minutes of free time, have a student pick a friend to sit with at lunch, and there are times when they can choose to eat lunch with me. I was surprised when several students preferred to have lunch with me or with another adult.

Sarah stated:

I would have to say that the PBIS approach working in the school district is half and half. I don't believe the PBIS approach is working in our school. There has not been enough consistency with the program for it to be completely effective to what it should be. I guess I would say, no. It's not working.

Code 8: Teacher incentives. Using teacher incentives to encourage positive behavior while teaching the PBIS approach to students is essential according to the perspectives of the teacher participants. The teachers used detention, timeout, and verbal reprimand in the classroom to control negative student behavior. However, the participants have also created and used positive incentives to encourage students to make smart choices as it relates to their conduct. A few positive incentives are Class Dojo, candy, positive behavior posters, charts, and extra recess to help teach and monitor positive student behavior in their classrooms.

Phillip stated:

Besides positive referrals, the thing that I do in my classroom to monitor behavior is to try to build connections. I do it a bit differently to where there are punishments and there are rewards, but I try to build often from the negative student behavior and make something positive out of it. In this way, the students can learn from the mistakes or the actions that they were doing. Some of the discipline consequences that I do for Tier I would be for the students to walk around the playground for recess or have silent lunch. These are consequences that can also be given when we are talking out in whole group or small group when we're not supposed to. For rewards, I would do parties, give treasure chest rewards, candy, positive red cards, and things like that. The big behaviors such as real fighting, not just a push, I would do behavior referrals or report to the principal or assistant principal. That's how I manage my classroom. There are little rewards and little punishments. The

big stuff I deal with, but I try to do everything in my classroom to manage student misbehavior as much as I possibly can.

Code 9: Ineffective behavior system. Monitoring student behavior can be challenging in any educational system. However, the teacher participants expressed their concerns of how they are not comfortable with the way in which school administrators manage student misbehavior using rewards especially at the Tier II and Tier III levels. The teacher participants expressed how the current reward system is not effective with student who have challenging behaviors. A behavior plan for a Tier III student is not always effective because there is inconsistency with expectations, and the students use this knowledge to their benefit. The students know the system. Ivette believes that the PBIS program works just a little better for the younger students in grades K–3 because are still learning the program. However, the PBIS approach does not work very well for students in fourth and fifth grade. In summary, some teacher participants believe that the program is more effective for the lower grades (K–2) rather than for third to fifth grade students.

Janet stated:

There is a major challenge with the PBIS program that I would like to point out. A challenge that I noticed with writing behavior referrals was that the kids knew exactly what to expect. If a student misbehaved, they knew the routine. The student knew that their parents would be called, and they would receive a behavior referral as a consequence. The student's thinking was they will get a referral and whatever consequence they get, they accept. There is no remorse for wrong doing because administrators do not follow-up with the student to encourage positive behavior in the future. Teachers are expected to do it. Inschool detention was used mostly by administration. Sometimes when the student(s) returned to class after the in-school suspension, they would return to the classroom and go right back into behaving poorly all over again. So, my challenges is that some of those kids

are clued to it, and they know exactly what to say or what to do. They already know the routine for their behavior. But on the other end, for those kids who are not prone to get into trouble a lot, when they get that referral, it was almost like, okay. I'm not going to do this again. It was kind of like, you have some of those kids that would test you, but they don't go that far. When they get a referral, it's like, okay. The student decides to pull back and stop misbehaving. So, those who get the referral on that end has learned to behave, and conclude that they will not misbehave again. On the other hand, the challenge of those kids who are prone to misbehave, they already know what to do or what to say. Another challenge is when incentives are given to fourth grade students for behaviors they should already do in the classroom, such as listening when the teacher is talking. I have an issue with giving incentives for behaviors they should be doing. Because I'm sitting there like, I'm rewarding someone for their bad behavior when they should be doing what is expected anyway in the classroom. So, that was another issue for me when first starting off with their behavior. The students know exactly what they are doing to get a reward. Then it's like okay, after they get the reward, they go back to the misbehavior they were doing before. The students believe that once they get the reward, that's it. So that is my challenge with the program based on the repeated behavior. Once a student gets a consequence, something needs to be done so that the same negative behavior is not going to happen again. Maybe take it a step farther. What can we do to prevent it from happening again? Because they already know what's going to take place, but where is that "Wow" factor? How can we really do this? This is the problem. That is my challenge with the program.

Code 10: Student culture. Teachers were asked about whether or not a students' background or culture played a part in how classroom management is taught in the classroom setting. All the teacher participants indicated that classroom expectations were taught to all

students in the same manner and adjustments in consequences were only made based on the severity of the negative behavior. Student culture or ethnicity was deemed to be a non-factor. However, one teacher's perspective expressed that contemporary culture pertaining to music or language can help to define an individual's lifestyle, and how they choose to behave.

Rose stated:

I've only taught in poverty stricken, African-American culture. I don't take into consideration the race or poverty stricken culture of a child. The poverty from a black student is different from the poverty of a white student as well as the affluent black and white students. The skin color or ethnicity of a child does not matter in my classroom. Just like the "Hip Hop" culture doesn't include color, nor the "R& B" culture. A student's culture or ethnicity has nothing to do with how I go about disciplining a student. I basically teach student behavior based on expectations in the classroom. A student's culture or race does not matter. However, a poverty stricken student is a culture in itself.

Code 11: Teacher–student relations. Each teacher participant believed that having teacher-student relations in the classroom helps to manage student conduct. The teachers pointed out that when students are comfortable speaking with their teachers, it opens up a new world of understanding for the teacher. All the teachers expressed the importance of having good student-teacher relations with their students. Keeping students engaged, focused, and being consistent with consequences for student misbehavior has helped to curb negative student behavior. When teachers understand their students and know certain things about them, it helps the teacher to better prepare to meet their social and academic goals.

Mary stated:

Relationships are really important to me. So at the beginning of the year I make sure that I spend a lot of time getting to know the students personally, as much as possible. So during

the school year, I can fall back on that to help with student behavior. I also use Class Dojo. That's a good way that I keep in touch with parents, and it has a point system within it. So, I would use it for positive points only. The student like receiving points that would not be taken away. I found out that Class Dojo was definitely a motivator for teaching positive students behavior as well, and it helped to keep me organized.

Phillip stated:

The PBIS is very effective in my classroom. The program is effective because I have a variety of behaviors in my room and around the school. I know that I have seen other grade levels use the program as well, and it seems as though it runs very well in the whole school. The big positive that I see is the connections that happens in the program. The kids understand what their mistakes were, and why they should do better to help build a positive classroom climate. They understand why you don't want them to do a certain thing, or why they shouldn't act in a certain way, and it helps to build your connection together with the students as a whole. The teacher is connected with the student. Relationships have formed that I have built with the students.

Rose stated:

If teachers feel that classroom management is a one stop shop, it's not. A teacher needs students in order for a class to run smoothly. It becomes an even exchange actually of respect and courtesy. I feel like in order to have good classroom management you have to have a relationship with the students. You have to be honest. You have to be consistent. You have to be transparent. I feel like literally they have to understand that every day is a new day because they are children. If it feels like you're going to hold a grudge against a student, or if a child feels that he can't do anything right after they have done something wrong, and you choose to hold a grudge against the child, that's not right. Trying to have

relations with the student is not going to work. A student needs to have a clean slate every day. It's important for a student to know that my teacher understands, and I can change today. If I can't change today, I can change tomorrow. So just understand that every day is a new day, but also establishing respect. Not just the kid has to respect the adult, but the adult has to respect the student, where they come from, and what they come to the classroom with. There are students who are bad even at home. But I don't understand why they are bad. I don't understand their situation at home. So, whatever happens at home, I can't tell them what to do or how to behave at home. Students behave the way they do at home because maybe they have to behave that way. But when they are at school, it's important for them to understand that they are in a safe place. I've learned not to denounce what they come to me with, or to make them feel bad. The way they communicate could be the way people communicate with them. They may have to be rude sometimes at home, but the understanding should be that it's not good to do it at school. So, establishing an understanding of mutual respect and where they come from is important. It's a balancing act. When I respect them, they should respect from me. Then a teacher-student relationship can be effective.

Code 12: PBIS documentation. PBIS behavior documentation is used to track student behavior. Keeping track of student conduct through rewards, office referrals, consequences, intervention, and parent contacts can help a school to run smoothly. There is a PBIS software tool, Data Tracking, used by the school district to help track student behavior.

The tracking of PBIS documentation of student misbehaviors through office behavior referrals is often challenging for teachers because of the frequency of misbehaviors in the classroom or in the school. According to the participants, it is hard to keep up with documentation that is filed away and not used until a certain amount has been written up for a student. Depending on the behavior, teachers pointed out that there is also a written process that teacher must follow before a student can be removed from the classroom to see an administrator. These procedures are seen as tedious and prolongs the follow-up time for a student to receive consequences for their behavior. This delay appears to encourage inappropriate and unacceptable behavior. However, all teacher participants believe that PBIS documentation requires too much paper work and is ineffective at their school.

Rose stated:

I think that they are trying to change with the times, and I understand that. But I don't think that the way they run it is effective. And I think it's because they are jumping through too many hoops to get to the consequence. So, if a child does something, in Tier I, you have to have a conversation with whoever . . . whatever the group or problem is. Then, in Tier II you've got to make sure you've had this conversation before you can do a write-up on this piece of paper. Then, in Tier III, you have to make sure that you have a conversation, write it up on another piece of paper, and then contact parents. So you're creating too many hoops to get to the consequence. By that time, the effectiveness is worn off. I understand that they are trying to change with the times, because everything in old-school does not apply to new-school. Positive choices has lost its effectiveness because you're doing too much. Teachers are documenting too much and it affecting their teaching and not improving student behavior.

Janet stated:

I try to follow the protocol when it comes to filling out behavior forms. There are conference forms to be completed with the student, ongoing documentation sheets to justify that you are talking with the student and monitoring their behavior, and documentation of phone calls to parents. In addition to that, I have to document three misconduct of the same

behavior. Then, I can write up a behavior referral form for an in-school suspension which has to be justified by an administrator before the child can serve the time. It's too much.

Code 13: Parent support. Parents are stake holders in the school system. It is important that they are aware of how their children are progressing in school on an academic and social level. However, communicating with parents about student(s) misbehavior can be a daunting task for teachers. As a result, parent contact by the teacher or administrator is often the final resort to help manage student behavior. All the participants shared that communicating with parents to solicit their support in the classroom setting is extremely important, yet can be challenging. Many parents work and are unable to give classroom support. Millie mentioned that it is extremely important for parents to give support and reinforce school expectations which can be done by talking to their child in a positive way. However, this can only be done when parents are aware of school procedures and involved in the school.

Andrea stated:

Parents need to be well versed, or have an understanding that we are using the PBIS approach to assist with managing student behavior. They need to know that this is what we are doing. They need to know why we are praising the positive. There are times when I say something great to parents about their kids based on the little milestones they have reached from the behavior struggle. Parents just rolls their eyes because it's not an A or a B that their child made on a test or report card. The parents don't hear me praising this kid because they have worked so hard. They don't understand that. And so it deflates the student when they go home after they hear us praising and pushing them at school (even if it's the baby steps they made). Then they go home and think, well, I thought I did well, but I guess I did not. Parents do not support the positive praises at home. Therefore, students

get mixed messages about expectations and return to school with the same negative behavior.

Code 14: Teacher-to-teacher support. Teachers are always in need of some type of classroom support when dealing with student behavior. According to all the teacher participants, the team-based approach is efficacious. They rely on each other for so many things when it comes to discipline especially when the support from administration is lacking. Kimberly mentioned that it is always good when a teacher gives support to another colleague. Grade team teachers also supported one another by sending students who misbehaved to each other classrooms for a time out period. Phillip indicated that his team of teachers would send boys and/or girls to his room, and ultimately the student(s) would have a better day. "We rely on one another as a team." Janet recalls assisting a colleagues in addressing a student issues in the hallway.

Janet stated:

I saw two girls having a little drama in the hallway. I addressed the matter, spoke with other students who saw the misbehavior, and wrote-up the two students. I eventually told the classroom teacher what had happened, and she thanked me. We need to look out for each other.

Millie stated:

The team-based approach is very good. The teachers look forward to it especially when they're having a hard day. The kids may bully each other, and they keep at it. Working collectively with my team of teachers is better. The team-based approach works better. Rose stated:

So the way I approach it, or my perspective is a little different. The team approach would be helpful. I think the team approach would be helpful to support the teachers that are not comfortable with disciplining kids, or those teachers that are not knowledgeable, or those teachers that just can't get it done right. Helping them out by having their students sit in my classroom is good, but another team approach may be better.

Theme 4: More support from school officials and parents are needed to assist teachers in managing student misbehavior when utilizing the PBIS approach in the classroom to meet the social and academic needs of fourth and fifth grade students.

To understand the need for more teacher support, I had to understand to what extend were they not currently given sufficient administrative support. There was a strong need for school officials, teachers, and parents to work together as one unit for the good of the students. The participants stated that unity was lacking and change was needed. The participants were willing to give recommendations to assist the administration with moving in a new direction when managing student misbehavior.

Code 15: School leadership and staff relations. The administration and teachers within the school district of this study have the same goal which is to address challenging student behaviors. How best to go about teaching and addressing student misconduct is where school leadership and staff relations differ. The participants pointed out that it is beneficial for the students when everyone, principals, teachers, and staff, are a part of a consistent well-structured discipline program. If the PBIS approach is to be effective, then effective training must be in place so that it can address all discipline concerns. Ongoing support from leadership is essential.

Millie stated:

It is important to have principal, assistant principal, and teachers on board. We need to know how to utilize the tools of the PBIS approach effectively by working together. Everybody needs to be on one accord. Also, the Parent-Teacher Organization (PTO) should assist with explaining to parents what the school expectations are so that they understand as well. If we need to make changes to manage our students better, then we should do so. I

also believe that incidents should be documented well before going to speak with parents. When the parents know what the expectations are, then they can reinforce it at home and help directly with the behaviors teachers see in the classroom.

Code 16: Recommendations to leadership with teacher support. The teacher participants provided suggestions or recommendations concerning how best to manage student behavior. The concern expressed is that there is a lack of consistency as it relates to behavior expectations. The PBIS expectations are written down, posted, and in place. However, the teaching and implementation of the expectations to the students in an effective manner needs improvement. Therefore, the teacher participants have made a few recommendations to leadership. All teacher participants believe that their recommendations will help with the support of PBIS implementation. Mary, Phillip, and Brenda believe that more classroom support is needed, additional school counselors are also needed to help deal with students who have physical aggression. All participants believe a cool-down space or area in the school should be provided where a human resource is available to speak with students. Additional suggestions were given to school officials, the school board, and parents.

Rose suggested:

The team-based approach that teachers use to help one another with student discipline, should also be for the students and not just for the teachers. The way I see it is when a child is expelled, they have to go before a disciplinary board, a team of teachers. I think the team approach would be effective if they use the team approach for the child. In other words, you have a disciplinary team of teachers that students have to go to and explain their wrong doing or actions to. So it's a matter of a team of educators or a team of teachers assisting with how to effectively discipline the child or to assist with the management of the child. If there is a discipline committee of teachers that the child has to go before, he knows he has to tell what he did wrong and tell why he did it, as opposed to writing these letters, which will make the student accountable before the board of teachers. Let the child answer to the team. The team approach would work, but how you use that team approach will determine how effective it is.

Andrea suggested:

It is extremely important for administrators to be well versed with the PBIS program to reinforce the behavior. Parents must also have a good understanding of the PBIS approach so that they can reinforce what teachers do at school. A handbook can be given out to parents and guardians. The school board must do their part by informing parents about how we can all work together to minimize student misbehavior. Everyone should do their part. Also, there are students who are going through a lot at home and they bring their family issues to school which can cause them to act out. I believe that mental health classes should be offered to students at school in order to help to deescalate behavioral issues. Students need to be reminded that they can be frustrated over a matter, but what matters is how they choose to handle the issue. Schools are missing mental health. They don't realize that students have so much to cope with.

Kimberly suggested:

Teachers and administrators are a team working together towards the same goal. Kids need to have reinforcement to help them when they misbehave. They also need reinforcement from their administrators, not just from the teachers. Repeated misbehavior acts are done because the child doesn't get it. Having each other backs and support is what we need. It's not working for the child when we do not support one another. The PBIS approach may not work with every single child. Therefore, we need to find something that works. Here is another suggestion, it would be good to have a cool-down spot in the school. The school

needs some place where the child could go for a minute and cool-down from his or her negative behavior for about 10–15 minutes or just to finish their work.

Documents

I used Hatch's (2002) interpretive analysis model to analyze the document data. The documents provided by the teacher participants included the School-Wide Expectations from the district website. These documents focused on each schools' expectations in all areas within the school setting. Documented on the Elementary School-Wide Expectations were directives for expected hallway, cafeteria, restroom, playground behavior, and other student behavior expectations. Parent brochures for these school-wide expectations were posted on the school's website. The teacher participants provided classroom documentations that were used to assist with teaching positive student behavior using the PBIS approach. Teachers also provided their own teacher-made posters that were used in establishing classroom expectations in the classroom setting. These teacher-made posters and charts were not a part of the PBIS program.

I read through and analyzed the received documents to identify the differences in the collected data. I created a matrix which helped to identify three themes. The themes were used to refer back to the data in order to find and justify the evidence. A comprehensive review of the data was completed. Examples were identified which helped to represent the findings. Table 3 provides specific interpretive information, emergent themes, and supporting data collected from the documents provided. The data and analysis process for collected document resulted in 23 codes that emerged with three themes (see Table 3). In this section, the data and analysis of the findings are presented.

Table 3.

Overview	of Themes and	Corresponding	Documents
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Emergent themes	Codes
Theme A – The schools provided School-Wide Expectations and Team Program K–5 School Discipline check list for its students and teachers.	Website: School-Wide Expectations "Be a HERO"-Honest, Exceptional, Responsible, Organized) Website: School- Wide Expectations Parent Brochure "Operation RED" (Responsible, Every, Day) Tier I, II, & III School Discipline Sheet
Theme B - School expectations are taught by teachers using the created lesson plans, forms, and posters in all areas of the school setting with additional teacher-made behavior charts.	 PBIS Lesson Plans RED Expectation Forms Bus- "Follow directions, report bullying" Arriving to School- "Walk quietly to assigned area, carry all belongings" Cafeteria Line- "Wait patiently, speak quietly and politely, memorize lunch number" Breakfast- "Take what you intend to eat, throw away all trash" Assembly- "Attentive listener, show appreciation by clapping" Restroom- "Respect the privacy of others, wash hands before leaving restroom" Lunch- "Eat own food, clean your area, speak quietly" Playground- "Take turns on equipment, include others when playing, report unsafe behavior" Nurse/Office/Guidance-Bring pass, wait patiently, follow directions" Hallway- "Walk quietly and directly to assigned area, follow safety patrol" PBIS Student Mission Statement Teacher-made posters/charts

(continued)

Emergent Themes	Codes
Theme C - PBIS rewards and teacher incentives are used to help teach, implement, and manage positive students' behavior.	 Students use PBIS RED Cards to purchase items at the RED Card Store. Students use PBIS Hedgie Dollars to purchase items at the Hedgie Store. Students are taught PBIS expectations where they earn rewards, teacher incentives, and learn that positive student behavior is always expected. Students receive weekly positive PBIS referrals from teachers. Teachers create their own class norms. Teacher-made positive behavior. Teachers give student incentives such as extra recess, lunch with the teacher or a friend, homework pass, or free time.

Note. Three interpretations: (a) program expectations of students, (b) program description of what is taught, and (c) program rewards and incentives for student management.

Theme A: The schools provide School-Wide Expectations for its students and

teachers. The first theme that emerged and identified from the documents was teaching the School-Wide Expectations. The administration and teachers created these expectations for their schools. Each school had their expectations posted on the district website. Teachers created lesson plans at the beginning of the school year to teach the expectations of student behavior. The School-Wide Expectation lessons were to place emphasis on how the students would conduct themselves throughout the school year in all areas of the school and to and from school on the school buses. The lessons included teachers modeling to students in the classroom and in other areas of the school how they should show positive behavior. Students who followed the PBIS expectations of the school would be rewarded for their efforts. Administration, teachers, staff, and parents were expected to reinforce these expectations as needed.

Theme B: School expectations are taught by teachers using created lesson plans and posters in all areas of the school setting with additional teacher-made behavior charts. The

documents for teaching the School-Wide PBIS expectations were displayed on posters or charts in classrooms and around the school buildings. Teachers placed emphasis on the importance of following the expectations daily. Other teacher-made charts and posters were also created by teachers. These teachers did not use the PBIS approach in their classrooms to teach school expectations and routines. Three teacher participants in this study taught the students their own classroom management routine. Four teacher participants taught the PBIS expectations at the beginning of the year and then stopped. These teachers saw inconsistencies in the program as it relates to their students and resorted to teaching their own method(s) of behavior classroom management. Three teacher participants used the School-Wide PBIS expectations approach throughout the year believing they had no other recourse. All the teacher participants want to be consistent with the expectations of student behavior.

Theme C: PBIS rewards and teacher incentives are used to help teach, implement, and manage positive students' behavior. PBIS rewards are created and used to encourage students to comply with the created School-Wide PBIS expectations. The PBIS school stores provide toys or prizes to students who have collected enough positive cards or dollars to purchase these items on a weekly basis. The teacher participants in this study believe more in rewarding students when they follow school directives, not rewarding them to follow school expectations. The teachers also believe that student take advantage of the PBIS program. They know what they are doing. The participants who do not use the PBIS program believe that students only behave to get the reward(s). After the reward is received, the students return to their misbehavior knowing that they will be offered more rewards to behave. So, the reward strategy to improve student behavior does not have a great effect on fourth and fifth grade students regardless of their ethnicity or culture.

Summary

In this chapter, I revisited the purpose of the study and the research question that lead to tackling this qualitative study. I included a description of each participant and their educational background in teaching. The methodology was presented in a clear step-by-step process of how the data was collected and analyzed. The data from the interview sessions were organized by emergent themes, and the codes used to identify the themes were based on evidence from the interviews of the participants. The data collected from the documents were organized by emergent themes, and excerpts from the documents listed were described and supported the themes. Findings of the study from elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms revealed that there has been limited, inconsistent, or no teacher training in the PBIS approach. As a result, the teacher participants have expressed their desire to share with administration suggestions of how best to address student conduct in a more professional and consistent manner. The documents collected suggested that the school tries to maintain high standards for their students. The teacher-made artifacts that were not related to the PBIS program showed that teachers are willing to help administration establish an effective behavior management program that is consistent and effective for their school.

This chapter presented the data and the results of the study. In Chapter 5, I provide my interpretation of the results. I discuss the results as it relates to the literature. Recommendations for further research of the effects of the PBIS approach in elementary schools is provided along with a conclusion.

Chapter 5: Discussion and Conclusion

The PBIS approach is a program that can significantly impact student behavior. Using the PBIS approach in a classroom setting requires teachers to have an understanding of the fundamental concepts related to behavioral student management. Students need to have the knowledge of how best to control and manage their behavior based on circumstances. In addition, students also need to learn self-discipline as well as how to problem solve issues or concerns through effective collaboration. In order to provide students with this knowledge, school staff need to incorporate a behavior management program to build students' confidence and self-esteem.

The teachers from HES district who participated in this study believe that administrators and teachers have the tools to help foster students' abilities in learning self-discipline. The purpose of this study was to understand the perspectives and experiences of elementary teachers teaching and using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. Data collected through two semistructured interviews provided insights from 10 elementary teachers who taught at two elementary schools within the HES district. The documents collected provided additional information into the teachers' perspectives and experiences of the PBIS approach as well as the teaching of other behavior management approaches and strategies.

Chapter 5 presents a summary and a discussion of the results based on the relation to the literature and the conceptual framework, constructivism, which guided this study. Key findings are presented in relation to the literature presented in Chapter 2. Limitations of the study are discussed as well as the implications of the results for practice, policy, and theory. Finally, the chapter presents recommendations for further research and the conclusion of the study.

Summary of the Results

For this study, the research literature provided background information on how public school teachers in the U.S. used the PBIS program to assist in teaching and managing student

conduct in order to educate pupils effectively. Teacher training in the PBIS approach is imperative for executing the program with fidelity. This study focused on understanding the effectiveness of the PBIS program at the HES district through teaching, managing, and implementing the approach for improvement in student behavior.

This study was guided by the central research question: What are teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms? This question was created to address the topic of behavioral classroom management using the PBIS intervention program. I utilized semistructured interviews to collect data from teacher participants who shared their perspectives and experiences teaching the PBIS approach in the classroom setting. The PBIS approach is a research-based behavioral intervention program (Bradshaw et al., 2015; Simonsen, & Myers, 2015; PBIS, 2017). The PBIS approach was adopted in the 1990s to assist U.S. schools to address behavioral issues with the most challenging behaviors (Bradshaw et al., 2015; Simonsen, & Myers, 2015; PBIS, 2017). The data revealed that for fourth and fifth grade elementary teachers, using the PBIS approach to teach positive student behavior in the classroom setting has been challenging and lacking in fidelity. The interviews provided descriptive information about the perspectives and experiences of the participants.

Teachers in the study experienced challenges to teaching the PBIS approach from students, administrators, and parents. Students presented challenges to teachers using the PBIS approach as a classroom management tool to assist with academic instruction. Positive classroom rewards and incentives were not effective for all three Tier level students. Based on teachers' experiences, most of the students, especially those at Tier Level II and Tier Level III, used the reward system to their own advantage. Administrators also presented challenges to teachers by requiring constant written documentation. Administrators required teachers to take care of classroom misbehaviors in their own classrooms using the action step of completing three written documentation forms of student

misconduct. Behavior documentation forms had to be completed by teachers prior to writing a student behavior referral. Based on the participants' experiences with administration, behavioral documentation was a challenge. In addition, parents were challenging as well. Many parents were not well-informed about the PBIS program within the schools. As a result of not understanding the PBIS approach and what it entailed, parental assistance for the program by speaking with their children at home to reinforce positive behavior was scarce.

The teacher participants applied many strategies in teaching the PBIS approach as well as other behavior classroom management resources. Teachers indicated the need of support from their colleagues and school officials in order to feel that they are effectively teaching the PBIS approach while developing their own competence to teach. Based on the 10 teacher participants, seven teachers are interested in an effective PBIS training for teachers and administrators to address student conduct, and three are not interested in the philosophy of PBIS program. All participants believed that the current process to address student misbehavior in the fourth and fifth grade classrooms has not been effective, and more knowledge or pedagogical perspectives on classroom management is needed.

The documents in the study revealed that the teacher participants are able to implement the PBIS approach as a part of their behavioral student management while students are matriculating. The teacher participants are committed to using PBIS teaching aids and documentations to teach the PBIS approach while using other behavioral classroom management strategies as a part of their instructional time to assist with student learning. Even though teachers feel overwhelmed, the use of classroom behavior documents and the time to teach positive behavior to all students is equitable. The participants believe that students should receive consistent valuable learning experiences which can positively impact their overall behavior.

Discussion of the Results

To answer the research question, I explored the perspectives and experiences of elementary teachers about teaching the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. The participants shared a wide range of perspectives related to using the PBIS approach and other classroom management strategies based on their experiences with student misbehavior. In the study, the teacher participants shared the following perspectives and recommendations:

- the school behavior management program lacks fidelity based on teacher dissatisfaction
- the school incentive program is ineffective especially for students with challenging behaviors
- more training is needed for teachers and administrators in student behavior management
- administrative support is needed in the classroom.

The participants shared their frustration with inconsistency of the PBIS program which lacked fidelity. The time taken to plan and teach PBIS expectations in the morning each day or as needed proved challenging and a waste of time because expectations were not reinforced with consequences in a timely manner. Instead of time allocated for teachers to model, review, and reinforce expectations with immediate student consequences if needed, teacher documentation of student behavior took precedence. Teachers were expected to have three consecutive documented conference sessions with a student about their behavior before a behavior referral could be written. Therefore, misbehaviors continued because it became overwhelmingly challenging for teachers to keep up with the paper work to document and manage student infractions on a daily basis without assistance while still teaching content or new curriculum. The participants' perspectives were administrators believed that when teachers complete misbehavior forms or referrals in the

classroom, it would help to alleviate or stop challenging behaviors. However, the time used to teach and model PBIS expectations was ineffective and lacked fidelity.

More PBIS training for teachers and administrators was needed. The participants expressed that school officials and teachers were not knowledgeable enough about the PBIS program. All teacher participants indicated that they were not well prepared as they should be to execute the PBIS approach effectively. Knowledge is power and can make a difference with how well a behavior program is implemented into a school district.

Teachers pointed out how the PBIS rewards system was ineffective especially for students at the Tier II and Tier III levels. The teachers experienced behavior challenges from students which at times were beyond their control. Students used the positive behavior reward system to receive prizes, gifts, or incentives from teachers for displaying positive behavior only to then change their behavior back to misconduct once rewards were received. Realizing this behavior strategy, the participants used other classroom management resources and strategies coupled with the PBIS approach which proved to be more effective when managing student misconduct especially at the Tier II and Tier III levels. As a result, teachers used their own classroom behavior strategies to address student misbehavior. Using rewards and incentives to assist with teaching the PBIS approach fourth and fifth grade classrooms to manage student behavior waned.

The participants stated that more administrative support to assist teachers in the classroom was needed. Reaching out to school administrators for classroom support was disappointing. The teachers suggested recommendations to help with the process. Most teachers felt they could increase and stabilize consistency in teaching positive student behavior using the PBIS approach if they had readily available support from administrators, school officials, and parents. All of the factors stated were teachers' perspectives and experiences teaching the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms with limited time, knowledge, and support.

Discussion of the Results in Relation to the Literature

The literature review related to teachers incorporating the PBIS approach as an effective behavior management program in the classroom setting. The PBIS approach in elementary schools is an emerging instructional behavioral program created to address and minimize student misbehavior. Participants in this study provided insight into the limited knowledge base of elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences teaching the PBIS approach. The available literature had limited research on elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. The review also had limited research on the challenges or barriers to the PBIS program which was experienced by the teachers in this study. According to Carter (2017), there can be barriers when implementing PBIS. The participants' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach will add to literature and provide insight for future research on this topic.

The literature revealed that helping teachers develop the necessary pedagogy for classroom management can be a complicated task. According to Davis (2007), teachers should have the understanding that the classroom is a complex space that can provide a relational environment for student learning. Establishing such an environment can be an important yet a challenging task (Baker et al., 2016; Garrett, 2014; Simonsen & Myers, 2015).

Participants understood the need to have an effective behavior management system in a learning environment. The literature stated how school districts find themselves needing new programs to address behavioral needs of students (West, 2014). The PBIS program was adopted by the HES district to manage student behavior in the classrooms and school-wide (SW-PBIS). The study supported the literature in four aspects: (a) the teachers are in need of effective in-service training to assist with instructing the PBIS approach with fidelity, (b) teachers are not receiving the training needed to instruct the PBIS approach effectively to students in fourth and fifth grades, (c)

teachers using the PBIS program, impacts their behavioral practices toward teaching and learning, and (d) teacher support from school leadership is foremost in helping to meet the social and academic needs of students.

According to Sugai and Horner (2009), the PBIS program stresses the importance of continuous professional development for teachers and those in leadership positions. Teachers are in need of effective in-service training to assist with instructing the PBIS approach with fidelity. When training is received, fidelity in the program is accomplished. Fidelity in PBIS is fairness for all students, reporting student conduct, and providing attainable rewards for positive student behavior. The participants expressed their dissatisfaction with the lack of PBIS training received by teachers and administrators. As a result, inconsistencies were found while the program was executed. The greatest concern was how teachers believed that students who misbehaved were not given consequences in a timely manner. Instead, more emphasis was placed on the process of at least three student documentation by teachers prior to the completion of one discipline referral. Teachers believed that the documentations that were required was excessive by administrators to the point where student consequences were eventually ineffective. Schools that have adopted the PBIS approach should reward students for their efforts, provide consequences as needed, and use the opportunity for re-teaching positive student behavior (Banks, 2014; Betters-Bubon et al., 2016; Fallon et al., 2015; Sugai & Horner, 2002; 2010). In addition, continuous progress monitoring of student behavior pertaining to classroom rules and procedures should be documented. Discipline referrals collected as data is essential for PBIS effectiveness, relevance, and fidelity (Sugai & Simonsen, 2012).

Teachers indicated that they are not receiving the training needed to instruct the PBIS approach effectively to students in fourth and fifth grades. Teacher training through professional development has been essential with best practices in the teaching profession. Researchers support the idea that teachers need to have more professional development programs to support students with behavioral issues. Behavioral classroom management through coaching within a school is vital (Reinke et al., 2014; Sugai & Horner, 2010).

Constructivism provided the foundation for teachers understanding of how their perspectives and experiences using the PBIS program impacted their behavioral practices toward learning and then teaching the PBIS approach their students. Constructivism indicates that learning is based on experiences from the learner and guided to new understanding (Stake, 1995). In this study, the teacher participants were able to use their prior learning experiences of classroom management or resource information to guide them into how best to instruct positive behavior to their students. The teachers concluded that more learning is needed through professional development for better implementation and consistency of the PBIS program.

Teachers indicated that receiving support from school leadership has been beneficial in helping to meet the social and academic needs of students. According to Reinke et al (2014), teachers who received support in the classroom from school officials supported students with disruptive behavior which decreased rates of misbehavior. Reinke et al (2014) stated further that the decreased in student misconduct resulted in an increase of prosocial behavior. Administrators who are supportive to their teachers will create an environment where they willing to work, give of their best, and not ultimately quit or leave the profession (Postholm, 2013; Rusk, 2013). The teacher participants discussed how more support from administrators and school officials is needed as it relates to managing effectively student discipline in the classrooms and in the school building.

Recommendations were suggested to administrators to begin the process for change and school improvement of student behavior. The participants recommended classroom support for students with challenging behaviors, providing a counseling cool-down space in the school building where students can express their concerns as well as control their physical aggression in a

safe and productive way. The elementary teachers considered their beliefs about teaching the PBIS approach as impactful on their pedagogy and the lives of their students.

Limitations

Limitations are constraints beyond a researcher's control that influence the outcome of the study (Hatch, 2002). Limitations and delimitations are weaknesses and conditions in the research that may affect the study (Creswell, 2017). This study provided the perspectives and experiences of a small sample of fourth and fifth grade teachers from two elementary schools in one school district. I identified five limitations of this study: (a) the study sample included 10 participants in a rural school district in Virginia, (b) the study design was a qualitative case study design which was limited by the interview questions asked and the documents shared with me by the participants, (c) the research method was limited to a qualitative case study, (d) the data collection depended on two semistructured interviews with collected documents from participants, and (e) time constraints were a limitation on the interview session of 60 minutes per session.

Implications of the Results for Practice, Policy, and Theory

The conceptual framework that guided this study was the constructivist theory of learning. The constructivist theory of learning allows individuals to use previous experiences to develop knowledge and new understanding (Creswell, 2013). The implications of the findings from this study can help to guide practice, policy, and theory. This section presents the relation to practice and policy and how it links to the current literature regarding the PBIS approach used for instruction. I will conclude this section with a presentation of the results relating to the conceptual framework in this study.

Practice

The school district in this study could implement practice recommendations in this section in order to build an effective school-wide PBIS program. Implementing practice recommendations

could support teachers, stakeholders, and ultimately impact student behavior. When a change in direction is needed in any organization, an easy transition is recommended rather than too many changes occurring within the same span of time. Focusing on recommendations can allow for an easier effective implementation of the PBIS program.

Professional development training. A gap in practice was explored and presented in the lack of effective professional development or in-service trainings from the participants in the learning and practice of the PBIS approach. Administrators in the HES district should make the PBIS approach a focus of instructional daily practice and create professional development sessions for teachers, office staff, and administrators. Teachers understand the importance of establishing and managing a well-structured learning environment. The best way to do so is to have a consistent behavior expectation policy that is executed by all stakeholders with fidelity. Administrators, teachers, and staff members must be trained to assist with accomplishing student behavioral expectations. Even though teachers understand the importance of effective behavioral classroom management using the PBIS program or other educational behavior resources, there were barriers that would have to be removed, such as lack of administrative support, lack of professional development, and lack of consistency in the behavioral program of the school. It is the responsibility of school leadership to schedule the necessary professional development sessions needed to bridge the gap between what teachers are knowledgeable about and the skills needed to effectively instruct students with challenging behaviors in the classroom setting.

The results of this study indicated that although the fourth and fifth grade elementary teachers received undergraduate and graduate degrees that would address the average student's classroom behavior, no preservice training addressed excessive student misbehavior. Therefore, school districts are left to provide teachers with the proper training in order to meet the behavioral needs of all students. Evidence-based professional development can prepare teachers with the

knowledge to support the behavioral practice of teaching positive student behavior to students in order to encourage learning. On designated professional development days, trainings can be offered.

Professional development for teachers, staff, and administrators can be provided in a wide range of options. Trainings can be conveyed from traditional models of learning. Professional learning networks can be received informally through digital sources outside of schools or districts though online platforms. To keep teachers informed, many options of professional development can be presented. Professional development opportunities can be advertised through flyers, online sites, webinars, YouTube, Twitter, other school districts, and possible off-campus locations for continued professional growth. Professional development provides the opportunity for customized learning so that teachers can receive the experiences needed. PBIS trainings should include resources in the areas of hands-on elements, possible digital software, and the ability to explore how the PBIS program works with schools who have experienced successes.

Generate a mindset for change. Teachers are educators who have the mindset to adopt new learning as a part of their profession. Concerns in the classroom setting is often shared with other colleagues or administrators so that changes can be made for improvement. Listening to teachers who share recommendations for change or improvement is important because they experience how well behavior expectations are working the classroom setting. Teaching the PBIS approach to fourth and fifth grade students is a learning experience that requires teachers to have some level of understanding in how best to execute the process as well as how best to make adjustments as needed based on students' responses. However, no one is expected for teachers to fully mastery the PBIS approach before it is taught to students. The goal is for teachers to teach, facilitate learning, and have the mindset to help solve disruptive student behavior regardless of how challenging the task. Administrators and teachers seeking knowledge continually of how best

to establish a positive learning environment with students would be a step towards problemsolving and the beginning of change. Ongoing learning is an asset to any program with a mindset for change and improvement.

Establish classroom community. Establishing a classroom environment for change requires having positive teacher-student relation (Banks, 2014; Davis, 2017; Freeman et al., 2016; Hansen, 2014; Houchens et al., 2017). Teachers should strive to encourage students to interact respectfully towards their peers and supervising adults. Teaching, modeling, and providing multiple learning opportunities for students to interact with others is paramount in building a safe and positive learning environment. Teachers should provide a classroom culture allowing all students to share their ideas as well as listen to others in a safe, inclusive, and comfortable environment knowing that classroom culture influences student behavior (Betters-Bubon et al., 2016; Davis, 2017). When teachers provide instructional knowledge for students to learn and model the required school behavior expectations, there should be a clear understanding that everyone ought to work together as a classroom community to build success.

Establish effective communication. It is important for school administrators to provide a clear vision of expected student behavior in classrooms and in the school system to all stakeholders. Having a good understanding of the PBIS approach and why it was selected by the school district for implementation in all schools to assist mainly in managing student behavior is necessary. When there is a consistent message of the PBIS program across the organization, it will ensure coherence and proper implementation. Administrators and teachers can help stakeholders to better understand their role in its implementation and how they can assist with the process. It should be articulated and understood that administrators and teachers are building their knowledge through professional development learning opportunities in order to provide a consistent and effective implementation of the PBIS program. Encouragement is of all stakeholders.

Establish teamwork among administrators and teachers. In the study, teacher participants expressed how they support each other through working together as a grade team to address student misbehaviors. However, the teachers discussed having strong dissatisfaction with administrators based on how the implementation of the PBIS approach was executed in the school and classroom environment. Administrators did not speak personally with teachers about behavioral concerns. Instead, many were told to handle classroom behavioral situations through written documentation that required an action-step process before behavior referrals could be written, sent to the office, and followed by consequences given to the students. Teachers were not comfortable with the lack of support given by administrators to address classroom disruptions.

According to Reinke et al (2014), it is important for teachers to receive support in the classroom to implement practices to handle disruptive behavior. Based on his study, there have been decreased rates of disruptive behavior in the classroom setting and an increase in prosocial behavior (Reinke et al., 2014). Continued administrative support especially after educational training would be helpful to any teacher experiencing challenges with student behavior. Teachers expressed how they wish to be united with their administrators when it comes to student behavior. The process would have to begin with teamwork with a united vision for the future of the school.

Build community awareness and support. Disseminating information in the community through flyers and dispatch school news websites to families electronically on the importance of the PBIS approach could help to inform and bring community awareness. This type of engagement may require time and effort to educate families and encourage them to reinforce taught behaviors to their children at home based on what has been learned at school. However, the benefits could be very productive. Parents tend to want what is best for their child and any support from the school system can only help. When schools and the community create a partnership for the growth and well-being of students, effective learning can take place. Placing emphasis on the PBIS approach

by building a connection through a school-community initiative awareness program will provide an opportunity to increase positive student behavior and student engagement.

Policy

The results of this case study based on the sample of 10 elementary teachers in fourth and fifth grade indicated a need to receive professional development related to instructing the PBIS approach. When looking at policy, it would be best for school leadership at HES to provide enrollment for in-service training to their administrators, teachers, and staff that would specifically address how to teach and implement the PBIS program with fidelity. The PBIS approach is a systems-based approach used in U.S. schools to address disruptive student behavior (Berg & Aber, 2015; Collins & Ryan, 2016; Dwyer, 2013; Halliburton, 2015;

Houchens et al., 2017; McDaniel et al., 2017; Rusk, 2016; Sugai & Simonsen, 2012; PBIS, 2017).

Provide preparation programs. There is a need to address attention to the gap between inadequate training related to the instruction of the PBIS approach. The teacher participants discussed improvement needs in the school. However, the most notable need was not having consistency throughout the school when teaching the approach to students. It would be in the school district best interest to look at the PBIS in-service training or preparation programs received by administrators and teachers at the beginning of the school term in relation to the execution of the PBIS approach throughout the entire school year. The district is responsible for monitoring educators' professional growth. If more knowledge and training in PBIS approach is needed in professional development sessions to teach the approach proficiently, then it would be wise to put aside funds to assist educators who are not adequately prepared.

In addition to the need to effectively train educators on a school-wide level, a change at the district level is also needed. Teacher participants discussed the need for administrators to leave their offices and walk around the schools on a regular basis to see how student behavior impacts

academic engagement. The PBIS program has its place in assisting with behavior management. However, administrators ought to have the vision to make adjustments as they see fit in their learning institutions when certain behavioral strategies are not effective for their school culture. When it comes to addressing student behavior, there are multiple strategies that can be effective depending on circumstances. Behavior policy can be adjusted to bring about the change needed for improvement within the program.

Designate funding to support the PBIS approach. Providing the needed financial support can help to address the consistency of the program for all students. Teacher participants mentioned how they use their own funds to provide gifts or prizes when rewards or incentives are used to assist with students displaying positive behavior. State funding for positive student behavior should be marked and allocated for professional development, positive behavior certificates, teacher support, instructional materials, and classroom rewards. The district can also seek out local agencies who provide educational funding which can aide in teacher training or who are willing to provide community support by helping teachers in the classroom. Providing support and guidance to educators can help to build teacher efficacy and longevity in the educational system.

Constructivist Theory

The results of this study suggests that elementary teachers build knowledge based on their experiences teaching the PBIS approach and other behavioral classroom management strategies. The participants experienced constructing meaning of their own learning and perspectives. The teachers were able to build their knowledge with an understanding of the PBIS approach through a combination of past experiences of behavioral classroom management, student interaction, and the current learning based on their own perspectives and lived experiences (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

The teachers combined their preexisting knowledge with instructional practices in training and professional development to promote a structured environment for learning (Stake, 1995).

The constructivist theory states that individuals desire to have an understanding of where they work and live (Creswell, 2013). Teachers and students learn from previous knowledge that they have gathered in life. This is a contextualized type of learning that is active rather than instructed. The participants constructed knowledge with other teachers during grade team meetings for lesson planning as well as collaboration on the effectiveness of teaching the PBIS approach (Ferguson-Patrick, 2018). The elementary teachers were able to construct new knowledge, beliefs, or perspectives as they prepared and taught the PBIS approach to their students. Experiencing limited support from administrators, teachers were able to build a comradery among themselves by supporting one another with behavioral classroom challenges. They engaged with other educators through collaborative discussions on how best to address student misconduct. The findings support the constructivist learning theory that effective discourse with other learners can build and form knowledge.

When discussing constructivism, the role of the learner is important. The experiences of the learner in understanding as well as comprehending new information are essential elements. Teacher participants have the key information and experiences regarding the PBIS approach. The knowledge received is implemented into instructional practices towards teaching behavior classroom management in the classroom. In the study, the teachers were asked to share their own perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach. As learners, the teachers as learners were able to build knowledge from their own perspectives. This included having new viewpoints or opinions about their school. As a result, the study indicated that teachers have an ongoing process of how to make meaning based on their own experiences and the limited training sessions of the PBIS program which supports the constructivist concept of learning. Each teacher's

perspective in the study can play a significant part in expanding the awareness of how best to execute the PBIS approach to assist with behavior classroom management.

The findings in this study suggested that the teacher participants did not receive professional development effective enough to impact a positive change in student behavior. Creating effective professional training opportunities required an evaluation on the existing behavior plan which was yet to be completed. In the study, teachers shared their thoughts of not having enough content knowledge about the PBIS approach. Therefore, it was reasonable to adopt other educational resources and incorporate them in lesson planning in order to teach behavior classroom expectations to the students. The teachers became active learners by discovering new knowledge and felt content that they were doing what they could under current circumstances within the school to positively impact student behavior.

Recommendations for Further Research

Qualitative research places emphasis on an in-depth exploration of perspectives and experiences of participants in the study (Creswell, 2013). Case studies provide an analysis into a case or program consisting of more than one individual and should focus on answering the research question(s) (Creswell, 2013; Stake 1995). Qualitative case studies have a large sample sizes that gather enough data to adequately describe the phenomenon (Creswell, 2013). Therefore, recommendations for further research includes expanding the number of participants, direct classroom observations, and video recordings.

Participants

This qualitative case study should be replicated by expanding the number of teacher participants from this district as well as including more public schools in Virginia who have adopted the PBIS program in their educational school system. This action could lead to a more detailed case study and add to the research regarding the PBIS approach. The study was limited to

10 teachers from fourth and fifth grades and most of the participants were females. The data collected may be more diverse if more male participants are included in future research studies. A larger sample would also provide reliable data that is more representative of the population. The shared perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program would help to reveal additional challenges teachers experience when teaching this approach. Increasing the scope of the study with a larger sample could lead to additional themes that were not revealed in this study and help to broaden the findings for a deeper analysis.

Observations

Direct classroom observations of elementary teachers teaching the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms should be included in further research to add to this study. Classroom observations can be added for further research which may provide a deeper understanding of how teachers used the PBIS approach in the classroom setting. To guide the data collection and provide accurate information of the elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences, a protocol for observations can be utilized. It is important for teachers to have good teacher-student relations in the classroom setting (Bruner, 1990; Davis, 2017; Marlowe & Page, 2005; Powell & Kalina, 2009). Teacher-student interaction established in a social constructivist relational classroom environment can assist with maintaining positive student behavior (Abenavoli et al., 2014; Davis, 2017; Marlowe & Page, 2005; Vygotsky, 1978). A deeper understanding of elementary teachers' experiences can be realized when observing the interactions between teachers and students during PBIS instruction (Creswell, 2013). Researchers would be able to get a clearer picture and have better understanding of how PBIS instruction can be executed effectively in the classroom environment with valuable data gained. Direct observations can be used for further research to find data that may not surface using only interviews (Hatch, 2002). Information that may be sensitive to

the participants could be revealed during an observational data session uncovering credible data to justify interview responses which would strengthen the study in future research (Hatch, 2002).

In this study, it is important to note that future researchers would need to consider that additional time would be required to include this form of data collection and analysis. The researcher would need to commit to scheduling observation sessions as well as observing the participants. Researchers would need to keep in mind that having observation sessions could bring about anxiety for some participants and create emotional changes in their responses. It is highly recommended that researchers create and maintain a comfortable environment for the participants during the process of an observational data session. In addition, even though it will require more time build a level of trust and commitment with the observation participants.

Videos

In this study, future researchers could also consider adopting an image-based approach towards this research. Video recordings would be a strong medium to add and capture collected data for a more detailed case study. Privacy is given to all participants involved in the research process to protect confidentiality. However, because of confidentiality concerns, video recordings have been limited in research even with technological improvements (Hatch, 2002). Video data can assist with collected field notes, member checking, and capture participants in the classroom setting. Video-based research can also provide researchers with the knowledge to juxtapose the participants' interview responses with the observable behaviors seen in the classroom. When direct observations are completed, the possibility exists for researchers to overlook certain actions during the observation. However, video recordings provide all the data available which allow researchers to have credible evidence to support their analysis.

The participants is this study were all knowledgeable on the use of technology and the benefit it provides in the teaching profession. Online videos were required by administrators for

teacher participants to view to assist with professional development growth. For future studies, having video recordings, researchers would have the ability to playback recordings for participants and discuss their thoughts in conjunction with interview responses providing additional data. Therefore, videotaping elementary teachers teaching the PBIS approach to their students could be used in research to share how teachers respond to the challenges they experience with student misbehavior in the classroom setting.

Additional Recommendations

To further expand this study, it may be beneficial for future researchers to take into consideration the suggestions and recommendations about leadership the elementary teacher participants shared. Three of the 10 participants did not teach the PBIS approach to their students. Instead, the teachers used their own educational resources to address student conduct. Future researchers could add teachers' perspectives and experiences to the field of research by adding the classroom behavior management resources that teachers find effective when teaching positive student behavior. The educational resources used by teachers could be aligned with the PBIS approach so that researchers can gain a better understanding of certain behavior classroom management resources that can support, reinforce, and strengthen the current PBIS program.

In this study, it was not disclosed as to whether or not the seven remaining participants who taught the PBIS approach in their classrooms were content in utilizing the program to monitor student behavior. Future researchers could have an in-depth study on how teachers perceive the PBIS program working in certain schools yet not very effective in others. Teachers should have a certain level of comfort and assurance when managing classroom behaviors. Therefore, it is wise to further research their pedagogical content knowledge of behavior classroom management in connection with the PBIS program.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to explore teachers' perspectives and experiences teaching the PBIS approach to fourth and fifth grade students in classrooms at two schools in the HES district. The PBIS approach is a research-based framework with over 20 years of research promoting positive behavior in youth and adults (Bradshaw et al., 2015; Simonsen, & Myers, 2015; PBIS, 2017). The key findings revealed that teacher participants experienced limited, inconsistent, or no teacher training in the PBIS approach. The participants described how they did not receive adequate support from administration to address challenging student misbehaviors in the classroom. The teachers discussed how teamwork executed through grade team meetings and observing how other veteran teachers handled classroom misconduct worked in helping new teachers to cope and manage student conduct.

In this chapter, I discussed the results of the case study with greater detail and in context of the findings with answers to the central research question of teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. I identified a number of emergent themes from the data that included teachers' perspectives and experiences of teaching the PBIS approach. The teachers discussed inconsistencies with the execution of the current PBIS program at their schools, the lack of administrative classroom support, an overwhelming documentation process that is ineffective, and a PBIS reward system that is not effective with many of their students.

In this study, the teachers also discussed their appreciation to their colleagues who are willing to assist them in handling student behavior in the classroom setting. The teachers were able to cope with student challenges when having time for discourse during team meetings. The teachers discussed the benefit of have colleagues in a work environment who provided assistance

on a professional level relating to student behavior. Working together as a team provided the coping mechanism that certain teachers needed and appreciated.

This dissertation addressed the limited research on exploring elementary teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms framed by constructivism. The findings and discussions in the study has contributed to current available research which can help guide future research studies. The methodology of this qualitative case study was designed to learn more about this group of elementary teachers who provided a rich, in-depth, detailed story of their perspectives and experiences.

References

Abenavoli, R. M., Harris, A. R., Katz, D. A., Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2014). Mindfulness promotes educators' efficacy in the classroom. *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*, SREE Spring 2014 Conference Abstract Template. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=classroom+climate&pr=on&ft=on&pg=2

 Baker, C., Gentry, J., & Larmer, W. (Summer 2016). A model for online support in classroom management: Perceptions of beginning teachers. *Administrative Issues Journal: Connecting Education, Practice, and Research, 6*(1), 22–37. doi: 10.5929/2016.6.1.3

Bailey, B. (2011). Managing emotional mayhem. Richmond, TX: Conscious Discipline.

Bandura, A. (1986). Social learning theory. Oxford, England: Prentice Hall.

- Banks, T. (2014). Creating positive learning environments: Antecedent strategies for managing the classroom environment & student behavior. *Creative Education*, 5, 519–524. Retrieved fromhttp://www.scirp.org/journal/ce http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ce.2014.57061
- Barlow, D. H., Nock, M. K. & Hersen, M. (2009). Single case experimental designs: Strategies for studying behavior change. (3rd ed.), Cambridge, MA: Pearson.

Beers, S. Z. (2011). Teaching 21st-century skills: Action tool. Alexandria, Virginia: ASCD.

- Betters-Bubon, J., Brunner, T., & Kansteiner, A. (2016). The role of the school counselor in creating and sustaining culturally responsive positive behavior intervention and supports programs. *The Professional Counselor*, 6(3), 263–277. Retrieved from http://tpcjournal.nbcc.org
- Berg, J. K., & Aber, J. L. (Spring 2015). The direct and moderating role of school interpersonal climate on children's academic outcomes in the context of whole-school, social-emotional learning programs. *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*. Retrieved from https://eric-ed-gov.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/?id=ED562524

Bergman, B. G. (2016). Assessing impacts of locally designed environmental education projects on students' environmental attitudes, awareness, and intention to act. *Environmental Education Research*, 22(4), 480–503. Retrieved fromhttps://eric.ed.gov/?q=Environmental+factors+for+learning&id=EJ1101629http://ww w.tandf.co.uk/journals

- Bernard, H. R. (1995). *Research methodology in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Walnut Creek, CA: Alta Mira Press.
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2012). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Blum, R. W., & Libbey, H. P. (2004). Executive Summary. Journal of School Health, 74(7), 231–232. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004.tb08278.x
- Boesch, B. (2014). The importance of the professor in college classroom climate for immigrant students. *College Quarterly*, *17*(4), 1–20. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/1662443575/

Bradshaw, C. P., Pas, E. T., Debnam, K. J., & Lindstrom, S. (2015). A focus on implementation of positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS) in high schools: Associations with bullying and other indicators of school disorder. *School Psychology Review*, 44(4), 480–498. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=A+Focus+on+Implementation+of+Positive+Behavioral+Intervention

s+and+Supports+%28PBIS%29+in+High+Schools%3A+Associations+with+Bullying+and +Other+Indicators+of+School+Disorder

Brekelmans, M., Brok, P., & Wubbles, T. (2011). Teacher control and affiliation: Do students and teachers agree? *Journal of Classroom Interaction*, 46(1), 17–26.

- Brok, P. D., Bergen, T., Stahl, R. J., & Brekelmans, M. (2004). Students' perceptions of teacher control behaviours. *Learning and Instruction*, 14(4), 425–443.
- Bruner, J. (1990). *Acts of meaning*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. Retrieved from http://www.infed.org/thinkers/bruner.htm
- Canter, L. (1989). Assertive discipline: More than names on the board and marbles in a jar. The *Phi Delta Kappan*, *71*(1), 57–61. Retrieved fromhttp://www.jstor.org/stable/20404058
- Carter, A. (2014). The implementation of social software in authentic literacy activities. *Inquiries Journal*, *6*(11), 1–4.
- Carter, C. E. (2017). A qualitative action research study of barriers to implementation of positive behavior intervention support in a metro-atlanta school district. *Educational Leadership*.
 Retrieved from http://cupdx.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/docview/1965515393?accountid=10248
- Carter, D. R., & Norman, R. K. (2010). Class-wide positive behavior support in preschool: Improving teacher implementation through consultation. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *38*(4), 279–288. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10643-010-0409-x
- Case, R. (1972). Piaget's theory of child development. *Orbit*, 3(4), 8–11. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ081931
- Clunies-Ross, P., Little, E., & Kienhuis, M. (2008). Self-reported and actual use of proactive and reactive classroom management strategies and their relationship with teacher stress and student behaviour. *Educational Psychology*, 28(6), 693–710. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410802206700
- Collins, J. C., & Ryan, J. B. (2016). Extension of positive behavioral interventions and supports from the school to the bus: A case study. *Journal of At-Risk Issues*, *19*(1), 29–33.

Collum, S. (2012). The impact of teacher attitudes and perceptions of direct instruction on student achievement in reading. Retrieved from https://doi.org/info:doi/

- Cregor, M. (2008). The building blocks of positive behavior. *Education Digest: Essential Readings Condensed for Quick Review*, 74(4), 31–35.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). *Research qualitative design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* (2nd ed.). Lincoln, NE: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design*. (3rd Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, J. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. (4th ed.). London, England: Sage Publications. Retrieved from www.scirp.org/reference/ReferencesPapers.aspx?
- Curwin, R. L. (2013). Affirmative classroom management: How do I develop effective rules and consequences in my school? Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Davis, J. R. (2017). From discipline to dynamic pedagogy: A reconceptualization of classroom management. *Berkeley Review of Education*, 6(2), 129–153.
- Deaton, S. (2015). Social learning theory in the age of social media: Implications for educational practitioners. *I-manager's Journal of Educational Technology*, *12*(1), 1–6. Retrieved fromhttps://eric.ed.gov/?q=Social+learning+theory+Bandura%2C+1986

Deductive Disclosure Risk. Retrieved from

https://www.icpsr.umich.edu/icpsrweb/content/DSDR/disclosure.html

Delano-Oriaran, O. O., & Parks, M. W. (2015). One Black, One White: Power, White Privilege,
& Creating Safe Spaces. *Multicultural Education*, 22(3–4), 15–19.

Denzin, N. K., Ed, & Lincoln, Y. S., Ed. (2000). Handbook of qualitative research (2nd ed.).

Sage Publications, Inc.

- Dev, M. (2016). Constructivist approach enhances the learning: A search of reality. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 7(25), 59–62.
- Doyle, W. (1986). *Classroom Organization and Management: Handbook of Research on Teaching*. (3rd ed., pp. 392–431). New York, NY: Macmillan.
- Dwyer, K. M. (2013). The influence of classroom management, administrative support, parental involvement, and economic factors of the retention of novice teachers (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3569723)
- Egeberg, H. M., McConney, A., & Price, A. (June 2016). Classroom management and national professional standards for teachers: A review of the literature on theory and practice. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *41*(7), Article 1, 1–18. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=teachers+perspectives+on+classroom+climate&pr=on&ft=on&id=EJ 1116396
- Ellis, T., & Levy, Y. (2010). A guide for novice researchers: Design and development research methods. *Research Gate, Nova Southeastern University*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228411189/download
- Fallon, L. M., O'Keeffe, B. V., Gage, N. A., & Sugai, G. (2015). Brief report: Assessing attitudes toward culturally and contextually relevant school-wide positive behavior support strategies. *Behavioral Disorders*, 40(4), 251–260.
- Fisher, M. A. (2008). Protecting confidentiality rights: The need for an ethical practice model. *American Psychologist*, 63(1), 1–13. Retrieved from http://www.CenterForEthicalPractice.org

Flannery, K. B., Fenning, P., Kato, M. M., & McIntosh, K. (2014). Effects of school-wide

positive behavioral interventions and supports and fidelity of implementation on problem behavior in high schools. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 29(2), 111–124. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000039

- Freeman, J., Simonsen, B., McCoach, D. B., Sugai, G., Lombardi, A., & Horner, R. (2016).
 Relationship between school-wide positive behavior interventions and supports and academic, attendance, and behavior outcomes in high schools. *SAGE*, *18*(1), 41–51.
 Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1098300715580992
- Frey, A. J., Lingo, A., & Nelson, M. (2008). Positive behavioral support: A call for leadership. *Children & Schools*, 30(1), 5–14.
- Friedman, I. A. (2006). Classroom management and teacher stress and burnout. In C. M. Evertson & C. S. Weinstein (Eds.), *The handbook of classroom management: Research, practice, and contemporary issues* (pp. 925–944). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Garrett, T. (2014). *Effective classroom management: The essentials*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Gibson, W. J., & Brown, A. (2009). Working with qualitative data. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Golombek, P. R., & Johnson, K. E. (2017). Re-conceptualizing teachers' narrative inquiry as professional development. *Issues in Teachers' Professional Development*, 19(2), 15–28.
 Retrieved from http://www.revistas.unal.edu.co/index.php/profile

Halliburton, A. (2015). A case study of the impact of PBIS at Smith elementary. *ProQuest LLC*,
Ed.D. Dissertation, Gardner-Webb University. Retrieved from
http://gateway.proquest.com/openurl?url_ver=Z39.882004&rft_val_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&res_dat=xri:pqm&rft_dat=xri:pqdiss:
10023670https://eric.ed.gov/?q=The+Impact+of+Positive+Behavior+Interventions+and+S

upports+on+Teachers%e2%80%99+Perceptions+of+Teaching+Conditions+and+Student+ Achievement+&id=ED567910

 Hansen, J. M. (2014). Relationship between teacher perception of positive behavior interventions support and the implementation process (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Southern Mississippi. Retrieved from http://aquila.usm.edu/dissertations

Hatch, J. A. (2002). Life history and narrative. Bristol, PA: Taylor & Francis

- Hatch, J. A. (2002). *Doing qualitative research in education settings*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Horner, R. H., & Sugai, G. (2015). School-wide PBIS: An example of applied behavior analysis implemented at a scale of social importance. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, 8(1), 80–85.
- Houchens, G. W., Zhang, J., Davis, K., Niu, C., Hee Chon, K., & Miller, S. (2017). The impact of positive behavior interventions and supports on teachers' perceptions of teaching conditions and student achievement. *Journal of Positive Behavior Intervention*, *19*(3), 168–179.
- Illeris, K. (Mar 2018). An overview of the history of learning theory. European Journal of Education, 53(1) 86–101. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/ejed.12265
- Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2009). The prosocial classroom: Teacher social and emotional competence in relation to student and classroom outcomes, *Review of Education Research*, 79(1), 491–525. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0034654308325693

Jones, F. H. (1987). Positive classroom discipline. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

Jones, V. F., & Jones, L. S. (1990). *Comprehensive classroom management: Motivating and managing students*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Kagan S. (2013). Kagan cooperative learning structures. San Clemente, CA: Kagan Publishing.

- Kagan S. (2014). *Classroom management theory*. Retrieved from https://classroommanagementtheory.weebly.com/spencer-kagan.html
- Kagan S. (2014). *Theoretical framework: It's all about engagement*. Retrieved fromhttps://spencerkagan.weebly.com/theoretical-framework.html

Karaj, S., & Rapti, E. (2013). Teacher job stress in Albania: Examining the role of students' classroom disruptive behavior and other factors in the school context. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 54. Retrieved from http://journals.indexcopernicus.com/abstract.php?icid=1055086

Kendall, L. K. (2015). Academic practices to gain and maintain student-teacher connectedness and classroom behavioral management, related to educator demographics (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 10030343)

Kohn, A. (2004). What does it mean to be well educated? Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

- Kohn, A. (2018). *Punished by rewards: The trouble with gold stars, incentive plans, A's, praise, and other bribes.* Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Kvale, S., & Brinkmann, S. (2009). *Interviews: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Lane, K. L., Carter, E. W., Jenkins, A., Dwiggins, L., & Germer, K. (2015). Supporting comprehensive, integrated, three-tiered models of prevention in schools administrators' perspectives. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 17(4), 209–222. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300715578916
- Lefrancois, G. R. (2006). *Theories of human learning: What the old woman said*. Alberta, Canada: Thomson Wadsworth.

- Lewis, R., Romi, S., Kate, Y., & Roache, J. (2012). Excluding students from classroom: Teacher techniques that promote student responsibility. *Teacher and Teacher Education*, 28(6), 870–878. http://dx.doi.org.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.03.009
- Losen, D. J., & Skiba, R. J. (2010). *Suspended education: Urban middle schools in crisis*. Retrieved from http://www.escholarship.org/uc/item/8fh0s5dv
- Machi, L. A., & McEvoy, B. T. (2016). *The literature review: Six steps to success* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Manning, J. (2017). In vivo coding. In Matthes, J. (Ed.), *The international encyclopedia of communication research methods*. New York, NY: Wiley-Blackwell. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1002/978111890173.iecrm0270
- Marlowe, B. A., & Page, M. L. (2005). *Creating and sustaining the constructivist classroom* (Rev. ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2011). Designing qualitative research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McDaniel, S. C., Kim, S., & Guyotte, K. (2017). Perceptions of implementing positive behavior interventions and supports in high-need school contexts through the voice of local stakeholders. *Journal of At-Risk Issues*. 20(2), 35–44. Retrieved from Downloads/EJ1175692.pdf
- McIntosh, K., & Turri, M. G. (2014). Positive behavior support: Sustainability and continuous regeneration. In C. R. Reynolds, K. J. Vannest & E. Fletcher-Janzen (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of special education: A reference for the education of children, adolescents, and adults with disabilities and other exceptional individuals* (4th ed., pp. 2061–2064). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Merriam, S. (1988). *Case study research in education: A qualitative approach*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Morgan, D. L. (1997). Focus groups as qualitative research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publishing.

- Noltemeyer, A., Petrasek, M., Stine, K., Palmer, K., Meehan, C., Jordan, E. (2018). Evaluating and celebrating PBIS success: Development and implementation of Ohio's PBIS recognition system. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, *34*(3), 215–241.
- Olson, W. (2004). Triangulation in social research: Qualitative and quantitative methods can really be mixed. In M. Holborn & M. Haralambos (Eds.), *Development in Sociology*. (pp. 1–30).
 Ormskirk, England: Causeway Press.
- Opoczynski, R. (2016). The creation of performance funding in Michigan: Partnerships, promotion, and points. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 24(122), 1–25. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=limited+funding+for+classroom+support&pr=on&ft=on&id=EJ1124 052ISSN 1068-2341
- Ozorio, K. (2014). Understanding social and emotional needs as an approach in developing a positive classroom environment (B.A. Thesis). Dominican University of California.
- Palincsar, A. S. (1998) Social constructivist perspectives on teaching and learning. Annual Review of Psychology, 49, 345–375.
- Partin, T. C. M., Robertson, R. E., Maggin, D. M., Oliver, R. M., & Wehby, J. H. (2010). Using teacher praise and opportunities to respond to promote appropriate student behavior. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 54(3), 172–178. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/10459880903493179
- Patel, N. K. (2018). Effect of integrated feedback on classroom climate of secondary school teachers. *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education*, 7(1), 65–71.
 Retrieved from

https://eric.ed.gov/?q=definition+of+classroom+environment+or+climate&pr=on&id=EJ11 74875

Patton, M. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

PBIS: Positive behavior for learning. (2017). Retrieved from

http://www.cms.k12.nc.us/cmsdepartments/PBIS/Pages/default.aspx

Piaget, J. (1952). The origins of intelligence in children. New York, NY: W. W. Norton.

- Pinkelman, S. E., McIntosh, K., Rasplica, C. K., Berg, T., & Strickland-Cohen, M. K. (2015). Perceived enablers and barriers related to sustainability of school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports. *Behavioral Disorders*, 40(3), 171–183. Retrieved fromhttps://eric.ed.gov/?q=Investigating+the+effects+of+schoolwide+positive+behavioral+interventions+and+supports&pr=on&ft=on&id=EJ1072245
- Postholm, M. B. (2013). Classroom management: What does research tell us? *European Educational Research Journal*, 2(3), 389–402. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/eric/docview
- Powell, K. C., & Kalina, C. J. (2009). Cognitive and social constructivism: Developing tools for an effective classroom. *Education*, *130*(2), 241–250.
- Ravitch, S. M., & Riggan, M. (2017). Reason & rigor: How conceptual frameworks guide research (2nd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publication.

Reinke, W. M., Stormont, M., Herman, K. C., Wang, Z., Newcomer, L., & King, K. (2014). Use of coaching and behavior support planning for students with disruptive behavior within a universal classroom management program. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, 22(2), 74–82. Retrieved from

http://journals.sagepub.com.cupdx.idm.oclc.org/doi/abs/10.1177/1063426613519820

- Reno, G. D., Friend, J., Caruthers, L., & Smith, D. (2017). Who's getting targeted for behavioral interventions? Exploring the connections between school culture, positive behavior support, and elementary student achievement. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 86(4), 423–438.
- Reynolds, E. K., Grados, M. A., & Praglowski, N. (2018). Implementation of modified positive behavioral interventions and supports in a youth psychiatric partial hospital program. Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1177/2516043518811758
- Rew, W. J. (2013). Instructional leadership practices and teacher efficacy beliefs: Cross-national evidence from TALIS (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3596572)
- Ricko, K. H. (2018). *Skinner's theory of operant conditioning as seen through positive behavior support*. Retrieved from www.bfskinner.org/home.htmlkristinhricko.weebly.com
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data*.(3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rusk, R. B. (2016). A case study of classroom management practices and the influence on classroom disruptions (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database.
 (UMI No. 10015230)
- Ryoo, J. H., Hong, S., Bart, W. M., Shin, J., Bradshaw, C. (2018). Investigating the effect of school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports on student learning and behavioral problems in elementary and middle schools. *Wiley Periodicals*, 55(6), 629–643.
 Retrieved from

https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22134

Saldaña, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Sailor, W., Dunlap, G., Sugai, G., & Horner, R. (Eds). (2009). *Handbook of positive behavior support*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Sailor, W., & Dunlap, G. (2010). *Handbook of positive behavior support*. Retrieved from https://www.aazea.com/book/handbook-of-positive-behavior-support/
- Sharp, L. A. (2014). Literacy in the digital age. *Language and Literacy Spectrum*. 24, 74–85. Retrieved from

https://eric.ed.gov/?q=define+educators&pr=on&ft=on&id=EJ1034912

- Shim, S. S., Kiefer, S. M., & Wang, C. (2013). Help-seeking amongst peers: The role of goal structure and peer climate. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *106*(4), 290–300.
- Shin, H., & Ryan, A. M. (2017). Friend influence on early adolescent disruptive behavior in the classroom: Teacher emotional support matters. *Developmental Psychology*, 53(1), 114– 125. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=types+of+student+disruptive+behaviors+in+the+classroom&pr=on&

id=EJ1124413

- Sieberer-Nagler, K. (2016). Effective classroom-management and positive teaching. *English Language Teaching*, 9(1), 163–172. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=quasi+research+methods+on+positive+behavior+management&pr=o n&ft=on&id=EJ1087130
- Simatwa, E. M. W. (2010). Piaget's theory of intellectual development and its implication for instructional management at pre-secondary school level. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 5(7), 366–371. Retrieved fromhttps://jeanpiaget.wikispaces.com/Published+Works
- Simon, M. K. (2011). *Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success*. Seattle, WA: Dissertation Success, LLC.

- Simonsen, B., & Myers, D. (2015). *Class wide positive behavior interventions and supports: A guide to proactive classroom management*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Skiba, R. J., Michael, R. S., Nardo, A. C., & Peterson, R. (2002). The color of discipline: Sources of racial and gender disproportionality in school punishment. *Urban Review*, *34*, 317–342.
- Skiba, R. J., Honer, R. H., Chung, C., Rausch, M. K., May, S. L., & Tobin, Tary (2011). Race is not neutral: A national investigation of African American and Latino disproportionality in school discipline. *School Psychology Review*, 40(1), 85–107.
- Skinner, B. F. (1938). *The behavior of organisms: An experimental analysis*. New York, NY: Appleton-Century.
- Skinner, B. F. (1953). Science and human behavior. New York, NY: Macmillan Company.
- Snell, M. E., Berlin, R. A., Voorhees, M. D., Stanton-Chapman, T. L., & Hadden, S. (2012). A survey of preschool staff concerning problem behavior and its prevention in head start classrooms. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 14(2), 98–17. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=preschool+(Snell%2c+Berlin%2c+Voorhees%2c+Stanton-Chapman%2c+%26+Hadden%2c+2012&id=EJ960180
- Spencer, J. P. (2015, October). Effect of positive behavioral interventions and supports on schoolwide discipline in a Title I intermediate school. *The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education*, 5(4), 18–27.

Stake, R. E. (1995). The art of case study research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Stanton-Chapman, T. L., Walker, V. L., Voorhees, M. D., Snell, M. E. (2016). The evaluation of a three-tier model of positive behavior interventions and supports for preschoolers in head start. *Remedial and Special Education*, 37(6), 333–344.
- Sugai, G., & Horner, R. H. (2002). The evolution of discipline practices: School-wide positive behavior supports. *Child and Family Behavior Therapy*, 24, 23–50. Retrieved from

https://education.uconn.edu/person/george-

sugai/#http://www.rtinetwork.org/learn/behavior-supports/schoolwidebehavior

- Sugai, G., & Horner, R. H. (2010). School-wide positive behavior support: Establishing a continuum of evidence based practices. *Journal of Evidence-based Practices for Schools*. *11*(1), 62–83. Retrieved from https://www.ocde.us/PBIS/Documents/Getting%20Started/PBIS_revisited_June19r_2012.p df
- Sugai, G., & Simonsen, B. (2012). Positive behavioral interventions and supports: History, defining features, and misconceptions. Center for PBIS & Center for Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports University of Connecticut Version. Retrieved from www.pbis.org/common/cms/files/pbisresources/PBIS.
- Swain-Bradway, J., Swoszowski, N. C., Boden, L. J., & Sprague, J. R. (2013). Voices from the field: Stakeholders perspectives on PBIS implementation in alternative educational settings. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *36*(3), 31–46. Retrieved from http://muse.jhu.edu/article/516901
- Thomas, D. (2006). A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 27(2), 237–246.
- Toll, A. (2018). The color of discipline: Reducing discipline disparities through the use of schoolwide discipline programs. (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 0837603)
- Tyler, K. M., Burris, J. L., & Coleman, S. T. (2018). Investigating the association between homeschool dissonance and disruptive classroom behaviors for urban middle school students. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 38(4), 530–553. Retrieved from

https://eric.ed.gov/?q=types+of+student+disruptive+behaviors+in+the+classroom&pr=on& id=EJ1172186

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind and society: The development of higher mental processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

West, M. L. (Dec. 2014). The growing need for social, emotional and behavioral skills programs in our nation's schools. Online Submission. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=meeting+behavioral+needs+for+a+positive+classroom+environment &id=ED551188"

- Wong, H. K., & Wong, Rosemary T. (2005). The first days of school: How to be an effective teacher ([Version 3].). Mountain View, CA: Harry K. Wong Publications.
- Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2000). Educational Psychology in Teacher Education. *Educational Psychologist*, 35(4), 257–270. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3504_04
- Wubbels, T. (2011). An international perspective on classroom management: What should prospective teachers learn? *Teaching Education: Classroom Management in Teacher Education*, 22(2), 113–131. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2011.567838
- Yasar, M. (2019). "It is not our fault; it is our professors' fault!" Preservice teachers' perspectives on their own experiences in teacher education classrooms. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 8(1), 141–156. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Teachers%27+Attitude+in+the+classroom&pr=on&ft=on&id=EJ12 03102
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134–152. Retrieved from

http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/2/

- Yeung, A. S., Craven, Rhonda, G., Mooney, M., Tracey, D., Barker, K., Power, A., Dobia, B., Chen, Z., Schofield, J., Whitefield, P., & Lewis, T. J. (2016). Positive Behavior Interventions: The Issue of Sustainability of Positive Effects. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28(1), 145–170. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?q=Carter%2c+C.E.+2018+A+qualitative+action+research+study+of+b arriers+to+impementation+of+positive+behavior+intervention&id=EJ1090953
- Yin, R. K. (2009). Case study research design and methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. (2nd ed.). New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Designs and methods*. Thousand Oaks,CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Appendix A: Consent Form

Research Study Title: Exploring Teachers' Perspectives of the Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports Program in Fourth and Fifth Grade Classrooms

Principal Investigator: Norma Ferguson Research Institution: Concordia University Faculty Advisor: Dr. Edward Kim

Purpose and what you will be doing:

The purpose of the study will be to explore teachers' perspectives of the PBIS approach as well as the challenges and successes using the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. A qualitative instrumental case study design will be used to gain insight into this phenomenon.

Teachers' experience with data for this research will follow a qualitative research case study design utilizing one-on-one teacher interviews, a focus group interview, and analysis of documents (artifacts).

Interviews –This study will use digital recordings from structured one-on-one teacher interviews, follow-up interviews (member checking interviews), and analysis documents (artifacts-participants' journals) as the primary means of data collection. To fully understand teachers' perspectives about behavioral classroom management practices, open-ended interview questions will be used during recorded sessions, and the responses will be transcribed. According to Ravitch and Riggan (2017), using interviews with open-ended questions, I will be able to go beyond typical experiences and understand better the teachers' perspectives in their own words. During data collection, letters of the alphabet will be assigned to each teacher for identification (Teacher A, B, C, etc.) to create a clear description of how each teacher will be identified before the interview without confidentiality compromised. Ensuring accuracy with data collection and striving for credibility and validity is of the essence (Yin, 2018). Interview questions will be piloted by me with non-participants to see what type of responses may be received during the interview sessions and whether or not they will answer the research questions.

The interviewer will guide the conversation about the topic through a series of questions. Teachers will be able to express themselves candidly in a private setting about issues or concerns knowing their viewpoints will be confidential (Yin, 2013). Focusing on key categories of the case study will help with refining the validity of the data collected during the thematic analysis. This form of data collection is a process recoding patterns or themes within data. The patterns are coded to establish the meaning of the patterns.

Artifacts are items the teacher participants develop and use in their environment to assist with behavioral classroom management (Creswell, 2013). Artifacts will be used as analysis documents to assist with credibility, validity, and reliability (Creswell, 2013; Yin, 2009). I will use and maintain artifacts as supporting evidence to justify the study. Collected artifacts from teachers for this study could be teacher tickets, teaching charts, videos, a teacher notebook, etc. Artifacts will be collected and stored to establish ongoing PBIS implementation in fourth and fifth grade classrooms for stable credibility to the case study.

We expect approximately 10 volunteers. No one will be paid to be in the study. We will begin enrollment on March 5, 2019 and end enrollment on March 29, 2019. Doing the following things should take less than three hours of your personal time.

To be in the study, you must be:

- 1. A general education teacher (Grades 4–5)
- 2. A teacher with a general education classroom for instruction

Each participant will:

- 1. Participate in a recorded interview
- 2. Provide artifacts or analysis documents
- 3. Provide information through interviews based on your perspectives in the general classroom setting of challenges and success of the PBIS approach.

Risks:

There are no risks to participating in this study other than providing your information. However, we will protect your information. Any personal information you provide will be coded so it cannot be linked to you. Any name or identifying information you give will be kept securely via electronic encryption or locked inside a safe. When we or any of our investigators look at the data, none of the data will have your name or identifying information. We will only use a secret code to analyze the data. We will not identify you in any publication or report. Your information will be kept private at all times and then all study documents will be destroyed 3 years after we conclude this study.

Benefits:

Information provided will help the literature as well as the school district have a better understanding of the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. Teachers could benefit from this study by having fewer class disruptions, experience a greater understanding of the effectiveness of their behavior management strategies, and understand the impact the strategies have in establishing a positive classroom setting.

Confidentiality:

The data collected in this study will not be distributed to any other agency and will be kept private and confidential. The only exception to this is if you tell us about abuse or neglect that makes us seriously concerned for your immediate health and safety.

Right to Withdraw:

Your participation is greatly appreciated, but we acknowledge that the questions we are asking are personal in nature. You are free at any point to choose not to engage with or stop the study. You may skip any questions you do not wish to answer. This study is not required and there is no penalty for not participating. If at any time you experience a negative emotion from answering the questions, we will stop asking you questions. However, please make contact if you wish to retract your data.

Contact Information:

You will receive a copy of this consent form. If you have questions you can talk to or write the principal investigator, Norma Ferguson at email [redacted]. If you want to talk with a participant

advocate other than the investigator, you can write or call the director of our institutional review board, Dr. OraLee Branch (email <u>obranch@cu-portland.edu</u> or call 503-493-6390).

Your Statement of Consent:

I have read the above information. I asked questions if I had them, and my questions were answered. I volunteer my consent for this study.

Participant Name	Date	
	2	DIA dUN
Participant Signature	Date	
Investigator Name	Date	
Investigator Signature	Date	CATLAND OREST
Investigator: Norma Ferguson c/o: Professor Dr. Edward Kim Concordia University–Portland 2811 NE Holman Street Portland, Oregon 97221	email: [redacted]	

Appendix B: Consent Form Letter

Permission for Research Study

Date: 7/30/18 Eastern Standard Time

I am a graduate student at Concordia University pursuing a doctorate in Educational Leadership. I am working on a case study regarding teachers' perspectives on the challenges and successes using the PBIS program in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. I am asking for your permission to use two of the elementary schools as sites for this study. My sample is very small. It consists of 10 teachers. It is important for me to receive your permission to use this school for my case study. The information gained will provide benefits to the school district. Thank you in advance for your consent.

Doctoral Candidate-Concordia University

cc: Principals of 2 Elementary Schools

Appendix C: Interview Procedures

- An observation protocol will be used. (60 to 90 minutes)
- Thank each participant for attending the interview session.
- State the purpose for the interview session and why each participant was selected.
- Emphasize the rules and confidentiality.
- Introduce the questions one at a time and provide adequate time for feedback.
- Ensure that the perspectives of each participant are expressed in an informal setting.
- All individuals will have an opportunity to answer questions fully before rebuttals.
- Record the session for accuracy as well as take notes.

(Dilshad & Latif, 2013; Yin, 2018)

*Note – Refreshments will be served. (Small talk only. Refrain from topic discussion during this time.)

Appendix D: Interview Protocol/Guide

Time-60 minutes

Time of Interview: Date: Place: Interviewer: Interviewee: Position of Interviewee: (Briefly describe the project) School Name:

Note-I will introduce self to each interviewee and ensure that the consent form is signed.

The purpose of this interview is to provide you with the opportunity to share your perspectives about the PBIS program in your school. The understanding is that the PBIS program was implemented in your school at the beginning of the 2008–2009 school year, and the program continues to the present school year. Please keep in mind that your identity will be kept confidential as the results are analyzed. The interview will be recorded in order to have an accurate record of your responses. Remember, there are no right or wrong answers to these questions. I have three areas for discussion. I may need to seek clarification from you before proceeding to the next question. I may also need to go back and receive clarity about a response stated earlier. Feel free to share your thoughts as candidly as you wish. Thanks again for being a volunteer. It is greatly appreciated. Let us begin.

Appendix E: Initial Semistructured Interview Questions

Participant Code:

Interview #

Section A—Use of PBIS Program in the Classroom Setting—The understanding is that the PBIS program has been implemented in your school district. I am interested in learning about how the program is executed in your classroom.

Questions:

- How does the PBIS program help you to manage student behavior in the classroom?
 - a. Probe for how the program works in other areas within the school
 - b. Probe for negative or positive student reactions to the program
- What are your reflective thoughts about the PBIS program in your classroom?
 - a. Probe for the challenges and successes of the PBIS program.
 - b. Probe grade team discussions about the program.
- Can you describe a time during the school year when PBIS practices worked well for you, in the classroom? What did you do?
- Can you describe a time during the school year when PBIS practices did not work well for you, in the classroom? What did you do?
- Can you talk about ways you monitor student behavior based on the PBIS approach?
 - a. Probe for student rewards
 - b. Probe to understand when referrals are written
 - c. Probe to discuss student reactions to discipline referrals
- How well do you relate to your students with disruptive conduct in class using PBIS reward practices?
 - a. Probe for change in student behavior or improving student outcome

b. Probe for teacher's compliance with student rewards

- What are your thoughts about how the PBIS program responds to the use of punishment or consequences (e.g., detention, timeout, verbal reprimands), especially for students with serious behavior problems?
- Are there other programs that you draw from or use in your classroom other than the PBIS program? If so, talk about the program(s) most often used.
- What PBIS behavioral management approaches are effective?
- Have you accessed PBIS materials and information online for classroom use?
 - a. Probe for online sites
 - b. Probe for site usage
 - c. Probe for continued learning online or with other sources

Section B-Knowledge of PBIS Program for Effectiveness-Your district has been engaged

with the implementation of the PBIS program for a few years now.

Questions:

- What are your thoughts about the PBIS program in your school and district?
 - a. Probe does the teacher believe the program is working
 - b. Probe for positive of negative changes using the PBIS program in the district
- How does your school get training in PBIS? How beneficial is the ongoing PBIS professional development(s)?
- How effective is the team-based leadership at your school? Are data-based decisions about student behavior made together as a team, or individually?
- In what ways has the PBIS program contributed to your professional growth?
 - a. Probe for factors that might be in the way for improving the program's success
 - b. Probe about PD sessions

• What work must be done at the school or district level using the PBIS program for students to reach proficiency standards as it relates to student behavior?

Section C-Teacher Efficacy Using the PBIS Program-Working in an educational

environment with diverse students is an experience that requires time and dedication.

- How long have you been teaching in the educational system?
 - a. Probe for years at current district
 - b. Probe for deciding on the teaching profession
- What are your thoughts about classroom management?
 - a. Probe for organizational skills
 - b. Probe for teacher-student relations
 - c. Probe for social interaction among students
 - d. Probe for consistency with classroom rules and fairness
- Do you perceive yourself to be in the teaching profession for the next five years or until retirement?
 - a. Probe teacher morale
 - b. Probe thinking on teacher retention and transferring

Reminders for the Interviewer:

- Differences and similarities of classroom management techniques using the PBIS approach between teachers will be noted to assist with a narrative write-up to make a distinction between the different teachers' management techniques stated during the interview.
- I will take field notes of how the teachers describe using the PBIS approach towards student behavior.

- Artifacts and teacher notes will be collected to establish ongoing PBIS practices in the classroom setting.
- Note: An interview protocol will assure confidentiality. Thank participants for their time (Creswell, 2013).

Appendix F: Secondary Semistructured Interview Questions

Participant Code:

Interview #

- 1. How long have you been teaching in the school district?
- 2. What supplement authorizations do you hold? (other credentials)
- 3. After analyzing all interviews, elementary teachers seem to face diverse and unique challenges with student behavior. Using the PBIS approach and/or your own classroom management strategies from resources, please talk about how you teach or would teach student behavior effectively based on student ethnicity or culture.
 - a. Probe for students who are often most challenging. (Is there a difference?)
 - b. Probe for whether or not the same students are most challenging. Why?
- 4. Based on the knowledge you have about the PBIS approach and/or behavior classroom management, how do you effectively teach, model, and implement classroom expectations for student success? (Provide specific details.)
 - a. Probe for a step-by-step approach.
 - b. Probe for teacher efficacy.
- 5. What additional support do you think would be most helpful for you to effectively address challenging student behaviors?

- 6. Teachers indicated needing to have administrators and district officials go through substantive PBIS training along with the teachers to help with a smoother transition of the approach in the classroom setting. How important is it for teachers, administrators, and possibly parents to explicitly understand (if any) the benefits for students to learn and adopt the PBIS approach into the school or classroom setting with fidelity? Talk more about why that would be important.
- 7. Is there anything else you would like to include that was not discussed in our two interviews?

Appendix G: Document Request

Thank you for your willingness to participate in this study exploring teachers' perspectives and experiences regarding the PBIS approach in fourth and fifth grade classrooms. As part of my study I need to collect documents from you that indicate to what extent you have been equipped to instruct all students using the PBIS approach. Any documents you are willing to share would be of great assistance to me. These documents need to reflect examples of how instructing the PBIS approach to students has been taught in your current setting. Below are examples of the document types I would like to collect, but are not limited to:

- PBIS Expectations
- Behavior Forms
- Behavior Referral Forms
- E-mail correspondence
- Teacher Journal, notes, comments, or recommendations for a student
- Rewards/Incentives
- PBIS documents/materials
- Written student reports
- Registration acknowledgements for attending a PBIS training or seminar
- Behavior Charts/Posters/Class Rules
- Personal self-improvement plans.

Appendix H: Criteria for Selecting Teacher Participants

Criteria for Selecting Teacher Participants:

- All participants must be general education fourth and fifth grade teachers.
- The teachers can be male or female.
- The teacher participants must be a part of the same school district.
- Ten teachers are needed for the study with a total population of 24 teachers to choose from in fourth and fifth grade classes from two schools (about 25%).
- Teachers must have at least a year's professional development training of the PBIS program.
- The selection process for teacher participants will be the entire general education population in fourth and fifth grades at both elementary schools. The first 10 teachers will be selected from this target population of teachers who are using or have used the PBIS approach in their classrooms for at least on school year.
- All interested participants must sign up individually online based on prior notice.
- If more volunteers are needed, I can ask participants to suggest other teachers who can participate. I can also contact other teachers who may be interested through online inquiry.
- If I have more volunteers than needed, a list with contact information should be kept in a secure place. They should be informed that their services would be used if a current participant drops out of the study.



Research Participants Needed

Participate in a research study about the PBIS program in your school district. Share your perspectives. All queries are confidential.

Eligibility Requirements:

- All participants must be general education fourth and/or fifth grade classroom teachers.
- The teachers can be male or female.
- The teacher participants must be a part of the same school district.
- Teachers must have at least a year's professional development training of the Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) program.

For more information, please contact:

Phone: Email:

Appendix J: Inductive Analysis Steps

- 1. Read the data from the transcriptions and identify the frames of analysis.
- 2. Create domains from the relationships within the frames of analysis.
- 3. Assign codes for the domains.
- 4. Reread the data to refine the domains.
- 5. Keep a record of relationships and patterns from the data to determine if the examples fit with the relationships in the domains.
- 6. Complete analysis within domains and identify the themes.
- 7. Create an outline to organize the relationships and patterns.
- 8. Select data to support your themes.

Appendix K: Interpretive Analysis Steps

- 1. Read data to have an understanding of the documents as a complete unit.
- 2. Review impressions recorded in research journals.
- 3. Read the data.
- 4. Identify and record impressions in research journals.
- 5. Study charts, posters, forms, PowerPoint, memos, and notes for prominent interpretations.
- 6. Reread data, color coding interpretations that are consistent.
- 7. Write a full summary.
- 8. Review interpretations with teacher participants for correctness.
- 9. Write a final summary of interpretations.

Appendix L: Statement of Original Work

The Concordia University Doctorate of Education Program is a collaborative community of scholar-practitioners, who seek to transform society by pursuing ethically-informed, rigorously-researched, inquiry-based projects that benefit professional, institutional, and local educational contexts. Each member of the community affirms throughout their program of study, adherence to the principles and standards outlined in the Concordia University Academic Integrity Policy. This policy states the following:

Statement of academic integrity.

As a member of the Concordia University community, I will neither engage in fraudulent or unauthorized behaviors in the presentation and completion of my work, nor will I provide unauthorized assistance to others.

Explanations:

What does "fraudulent" mean?

"Fraudulent" work is any material submitted for evaluation that is falsely or improperly presented as one's own. This includes, but is not limited to texts, graphics and other multi-media files appropriated from any source, including another individual, that are intentionally presented as all or part of a candidate's final work without full and complete documentation.

What is "unauthorized" assistance?

"Unauthorized assistance" refers to any support candidates solicit in the completion of their work, that has not been either explicitly specified as appropriate by the instructor, or any assistance that is understood in the class context as inappropriate. This can include, but is not limited to:

- Use of unauthorized notes or another's work during an online test
- Use of unauthorized notes or personal assistance in an online exam setting
- Inappropriate collaboration in preparation and/or completion of a project
- Unauthorized solicitation of professional resources for the completion of the work.

Statement of Original Work (Continued)

I attest that:

- 1. I have read, understood, and complied with all aspects of the Concordia University– Portland Academic Integrity Policy during the development and writing of this dissertation.
- 2. Where information and/or materials from outside sources has been used in the production of this dissertation, all information and/or materials from outside sources has been properly referenced and all permissions required for use of the information and/or materials have been obtained, in accordance with research standards outlined in the *Publication Manual of The American Psychological Association*.

Norma Ferguson		
Digital Signature		
Norma Ferguson		
Name (Typed)		
5/4/20		
Date		